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Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Report constitute "fodalaoking statements" within the meaning of the Pev&ecurities Litigatic
Reform Act of 1995. Such forwatldeoking statements involve known and unknown rigkssertainties and other factors which may caue
actual results, performance or achievements of &@lrarmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Companyb)be materially different from any future rest
performance, or achievements expressed or implesubh forwardeoking statements. The most significant of suditdies include, but a
not limited to, the Company’s ability to secure itiddal financing to fund continued product devetggnt and operations, the Company’
ability to enter into contractual arrangements wgthalified pharmaceutical partners to license, tlgvend commercialize the Compasy’
Aversion® (abuse deterrent) Technology and relgtestluct candidates, and the Companwbility to fulfill the U.S. Food and Dr
Administration’s (“FDA”) requirements for approvintpje Companys product candidates for commercial distributiortlie United State
including, without limitation, the adequacy of thesults of the laboratory and clinical studies ctatgal to date and the results of o
laboratory and clinical studies, to support FDA mappl of the Companyg product candidates, the adequacy of the develappregram fo
the Company’s product candidates, changes in regylaequirements, adverse safety findings relat;mthe Company product candidate
the risk that the FDA may not agree with the Conyparanalysis of its clinical studies and may evaluhte results of these studies
different methods or conclude that the resultshef $tudies are not statistically significant, dally meaningful or that there were hur
errors in the conduct or otherwise of the studidise, risk that further studies of the Company’sduat candidatesio not support FD
approval or commercially viable product labelingdahe uncertainties inherent in scientific reskadrug development, clinical trials and
regulatory approval process. Other importantdiecthat may also affect future results includd,dre not limited to: the Comparsyability
to attract and retain highly skilled personnel;atslity to secure and protect its patents, trad&mand proprietary rights; its ability to av
infringement of patents, trademarks and other petgmy rights or trade secrets of third partieigéition or regulatory action that could req!
the Company to pay significant damages or changenty it conducts its business; the Comparability to compete successfully aga
current and future competitors; its dependence tord-party suppliers of raw materials; its ability toceee U.S. Drug Enforceme
Administration ("DEA") quotas and source controlledbstances that constitute the active ingrediefitthe Companys products i
development; difficulties or delays in clinicalais for Company products or in the manufacture ofmany products; and other risks
uncertainties detailed in this Report. The Compiangt development stage and may not ever have mmupts or technologies that gene
revenue. When used in this Report, the words "edérh "project," "anticipate,
intended to identify forward-looking statements.

expect,” "intend;believe,” and similar expressions

PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. is a specialty pharoiza company engaged in research, developmentramdifacture of innovati
Aversion® (abuse deterrent) Technology and relagieatiuct candidates. Product candidates developéu Awersion® Technology an
containing opioid analgesic active ingredients iatended to effectively treat pain and also disaegerthe three most common methoc
pharmaceutical product misuse and abuse includihdgntravenous injection of dissolved tablets apsules, (i) nasal snorting of crus
tablets or capsules and (iii) intentional swallogviof excessive numbers of tablets or capsules. @¥yAablets, the Comparg/lead produ
candidate utilizing Aversion® Technology, is beideveloped pursuant to an active investigational dayg application (“IND”)on file with
the FDA. The development and intellectual propstatus of Aversion®Technology and OxyADF Tablets is described below.

The Company conducts internal research, developmahbratory, manufacturing and warehousing adatisitfor Aversio®
Technology at its Culver, Indiana facility. The @80 square foot facility is registered by the UD8ug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”
to perform research, development and manufactucertéin Schedule Il - V finished dosage form p@dun addition to internal capabiliti
and activities, the Company engages a number afreeutical product contract research organizaff®ROs”) with expertise in regulato
affairs, clinical trial design and monitoring, diial data management, biostatistics, medical wgijtiaboratory testing and related servi
Such CROs perform development services for OxyARBldts and other product candidates under thetatireof the Company.

The Company was historically engaged in developnoénmiovel manufacturing processes (the "Opioid Bgsis Technologies
intended for use in the commercial manufacture ertain bulk opioid active pharmaceutical ingredsenin early 2005, the Compe
announced the suspension of activities relatinthéoOpioid Synthesis Technologies pending the dep#A Administrator's determinatis
relating to the Compang’ pending application for registration to importrawic raw materials (the "Narcotic Raw Materialmplor!
Application”) filed with the DEA in early 2001. Itate 2006, the Company notified the DEA that it weigthdrawing the Narcotic Re
Materials Import Application and subsequently tt@m@any has discontinued all activities relatingh® Opioid Synthesis Technologies.
withdrawal of the Narcotic Raw Materials Import Aigation and the discontinuation of all activitieslating to the Opioid Synthe:
Technologies allow the Company to focus all ofriésources on developing and commercializing itsréie@® Technology and relat



product candidates.




The Company is a publicly traded New York corpanatiAs such, the Company files annual, quarterly emrent reports, pro:
statements and other information with the Securigied Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). These §liag available to the public over
internet at the SEC's web site at http://www.sec.gy@u may also read and copy any document weafilihe SEC's public reference roor
450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549 aB&call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for furtherrinfttion on the public reference room.

The Company's internet address is www.acuraphamm.¥de make available free of charge, with a lindmirour web site to ti
SEC’s website, our annual, quarterly and current repartd amendments to those reports, as soon asmabhs@racticable after v
electronically file such material with the SEC.dddition, you may request a copy of these filings{uding exhibits) at no cost by contac
us at Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 616 N. Northr€@&uite 120, Palatine, lllinois 60067, Attentidnvestor Relations.

Patents

As of the date of this Report, the Company has Ore . patent Notice of Allowance relating to its eksion® Technology. |
addition, as of the date of this Report, the Comphas two U.S. non-provisional patent publicatioose U.S. norprovisional pater
application, one U.S. provisional patent applicatiand two international patent publications pagdielating to its Aversio Technology
The Company also has seven U.S. issued patentsasnohe U.S. patent publication pending relatingst@pioid Synthesis Technologies.
of the date of this Report, the Company has rethaikeof the intellectual property and commercights to its Aversion®rechnology an
related product candidates and its Opioid SynthiEsthinologies.

Commercialization Strategy

To generate revenue the Company plans to enterdiev@lopment and commercialization agreements wfithtegically focuse
pharmaceutical company partners (the "Partnergljiging that such Partners license product candglatilizing Aversion®Technology an
further develop, register and commercialize mudtistrengths and packaging sizes of such produdidates. The Company expect:s
receive revenue in the form of milestone payments @ share of profits and/or royalty payments aeatifrom the Partners' future sale
products incorporating Aversion®echnology. As of the date of this Report, the Camypdid not have any executed collaborative agre&
with Partners, nor can there be any assurancéhta&ompany will successfully enter into such dmiative agreements in the future.

Aversior® (abuse deterrent) Technology

Aversion® @buse deterrent) Technology is applicable to imatedielease and extended release, orally admigistablets ar
capsules. Aversion®@echnology can be formulated into orally administetablets or capsules containing commonly utilizpbid active
pharmaceutical ingredients (such as oxycodone,depdione, hydromorphone, oxymorphone, morphine, inegddéramadol, propoxyphet
etc.), or other potentially abuseable drugs. Initamdto the opioid active ingredient, Aversion@chnology utilizes certain combinations
pharmaceutical product inactive excipients andvacingredients intended to discourage or determpheeutical product abuse. Avers®n
Technology does nattilize opioid antagonists such as naltrexone asdxone. Provided product candidates pursuedeirelopment pro\
successful in laboratory testing and clinical #jadf which no assurance can be given, the Compeligves that its Aversion@echnolog'
will discourage the three most common methods dbidpoharmaceutical product abuse, including (framenous injection of dissolv
tablets or capsules, (ii) nasal snorting of crusladtets or capsules and (iii) intentional swallogvof excessive numbers of tablets or caps

OxyADF Tablets, the Company’s lead product candidatcorporates Aversion@echnology with oxycodone HCI as the ac
analgesic ingredient in an immediate release tabtehded for oral administration. The Company bl@srance from the FDA for testi
OxyADF Tablets in a clinical trial program under active IND. The clinical development program isideed to evaluate the efficacy i
safety of OxyADF Tablets in opioid naive patientsl gatients with a history of opioid abuse. Ourlged demonstrate that, when prescri
and used appropriately by patients, OxyADF Tablei provide effective analgesia and a safety peofimilar to currently market
immediate release products containing oxycodone bi€lwithout our unique Aversion®@echnology. The status of the OxyADF Ta
development program is described below.




In addition to OxyADF Tablets, as of the date a§tReport we are engaged in the formulation devekg of additional immedia
release product candidates intended for oral adin@tion incorporating Aversion® Technologyincluding hydrocodone bitartrate w
acetaminophen tablets (marketed generically andtbgrs under the brand names Vicodin®, Lortab®, botet®), hydromorphone H(
tablets (marketed generically and by Abbott Lakmies under the brand name Dilaudid@d Oxycodone HCI with acetaminop!
(marketed generically and by others under the breamdes of Percocet®, Tylox®, Endocet ®, and Ro®geEach of these additional prod
candidates is in the formulation stage of develapmBlo assurance can be provided that such developefforts will lead to produ
candidates for which an IND or NDA submission te #DA will result or that we will have sufficienash reserves or sources of financin
fund the continued development of such product icktels. As of the date of this Report, we belidvat IOxyADF Tablets and the otl
product candidates targeted for development withr8ion® Technology can be produaszbnomically using a dry blend, direct compres
tablet manufacturing process.

To receive approval from the FDA for distributiomdasale in the U. S., the Compasiyproduct candidates will require
development, compilation, submission, filing andafi approval by the FDA of a new drug applicatiSNJA”). The FDA has provide
written guidance to the Company stating that OxyAD#blets are an appropriate product candidate bmsgssion as a 505(b)(2) NDA.
this stage there can be no assurance that anyedfampanys research and development efforts, including tfios®©xyADF Tablets, wil
lead to a 505(b)(2) NDA submission or that if NDébsiissions are made with the FDA, that any sucimssgions will be accepted for filii
or, if accepted for filing, approved by the FDA favmmercial distribution in the U.S..

U.S. Market for Opioid Analgesic Products Incorpaiag Aversion® Technology

Primary market research conducted by the Compadicates that U.S. based physicians perceive thatlyn®ne out of si
prescriptions for oxycodone and hydrocodone coirtginpioid analgesics may be abused. Such maesetarch also revealed that nearl
physicians questioned reported being the victinomibid prescription forgeries in the previous yeRhysicians believe that drug abu:
seeking opioid based prescriptions present a lagdlprofessional risk to their practices. In additithe results of a survey of over 1,
adults conducted by the market research firm ofuean, Ronca and Bucuvalas, Inc. and publishedO®62revealed that 37% of the
surveyed know someone personally who has abuseadidopainkillers. Of those reporting knowing someombo has abused opic
painkillers, 10% percent indicated that they peaflgnhad abused these products. Nearly 20% percktite abusers were identified
coworkers, with the balance identified as familymbers or acquaintances. The Company believes #wthicare providers are gener
unable to determine which, if any, of their pregtions for opioid analgesics will ultimately be ald by their patients or diverted for ak
by others. The uncertainty about which, if any,sprigtions for opioid analgesic products will beusbd or diverted implies that cert
segments of the U.S. market represent a major typty for products incorporating our Aversioff@chnology. The table below lists sev
commonly prescribed opioid analgesics in the U #ine subject to potential misuse or abuse.

Opioid Active Ingredients Frequently Prescribed Opioid Analgesics

(Generic Names) (Common Brand Names)

Oxycodone Percocet®, OxyContin®, Roxicet®, Tylox®, Endocet®
Hydrocodone Vicodin®, Lortab®, Lorcet®

Morphine Avinza®, Kadian®, MSContin®

Hydromorphone Dilaudid®

Codeine Tylenol® with Codeine

Tramadol Ultram®, Ultram® ER, Ultracet®

Propoxyphene Darvon®, Darvocet®

Based on market research data purchased by the &ymfpom IMS Health, for the 12 months ended SeptnB0, 200¢
approximately 227 million total prescriptions (bdsnand generics combined) were dispensed in thefar.8mmediate release and exten
release tablet and capsule forms of the opioidgasads listed above. Of these total dispensed ppéisas, approximately 13 million were 1
extended release products (usually administeredye8eto 24 hours) and 214 million were for immediaktlease products (usui
administered every 4 to 6 hours). Extended relpasducts are more commonly prescribed for religbaih for durations ranging from a f
weeks to several months or longer. Immediate relpasducts are more commonly prescribed for relfigfain for durations of generally ¢
than 30 days. According to data published in Théiddal Survey of on Drug Use and Health Reportués82, 2006 immediate relea:
opioid containing pain relievers are used non-maicapproximately ten-fold more often than extesdelease products. The Company’
primary market research suggests that OxyADF Tahigt be considered by healthcare providers far imsboth the immediate release
extended release market segments.




Recreational drug users, drug abusers and/or ditdipta typically obtain the opioid analgesics pradu(listed above) in tablet
capsule dosage forms and then crush, shear, gtiesy, dissolve and/or heat, extract or otherwisaipudate the product so that a signific
amount, or even the entire amount, of the abusedibig becomes available for rapid absorption bgdtign, and/or snorting, and/or ¢
swallowing excess numbers of tablets to achiev@gh”. Abuse of pharmaceutical products is a large andiigigpissue in American socie
and there is an urgent need for a new technologlystmurage and deter misuse and abuse of opiaigesic tablets and capsules. To adc
this need, the Company is developing Aversion® ¢eldeterrent) Technology and related product catekd

OxyADF Tablets Development Status

OxyADF (oxycodone HCl/niacin) Tablets, the Companigad product candidate with Aversion@(se deterrent) Technology, is
orally administered immediate release tablet cairigioxycodone HCI as its sole active analgesicddignt and a sub therapeutic amoul
niacin. The Company intends to file a 505(b)(2) NE2A OxyADF Tablets with an anticipated indicatifor treating moderate to moderai
severe pain. OxyADF Tablets are intended to effebtitreat moderate to moderately severe pain wdide discouraging or deterring
three most common methods of misuse and abusedingl|i) intravenous injection of dissolved tabletscapsules, (ii) nasal snorting
crushed tablets or capsules and (iii) intentiomalbwing of excessive numbers of tablets or cagsuDxyADF Tablets are being develo
pursuant to an active investigational new drug igppbn (“IND”) on file with the FDA. The FDA has provided writtguidance to tr
Company stating that OxyADF Tablets are an appav@rproduct candidate for submission as a 505(B[A and has confirmed in writir
to the Company that no additional toxicology stsdiee required prior to submission of such NDA.

OxyADF Tablets: Technical and Pre-Clinical Developrent and Regulatory Affairs Program
The technical and prelinical development program and regulatory strategd status for OxyADF Tablets are summarizedvis

At this stage, we can not provide any assurande-bA will not require additional prehinical studies not listed below, or revise theyBRF
Tablets regulatory requirements prior to their ataece for filing of a 505(b)(2) NDA submission fOxyADF Tablets.

Technical and Pre-Clinical Development Status

Formulation development Complete

Pilot bioequivalence study Complete

Pivotal oxycodone extraction study Complete (results summarized below)

Tablet stability for NDA submission Testing in process. 18 month real time data dematest stability acceptable
for NDA submission

Toxicology studies Not required per FDA written guidance to the Comyp

Regulatory Affairs Status

Investigational New Drug Application (IND) Active

End of Phase Il meeting with FDA Completed Q1-06

Factorial design clinical studies Not required per FDA written guidance to Compi

Strategy and concepts discussed with FDA. Writigeidance provided by
FDA to the Company

Regulatory submission for commercial distributiarthe OxyADF Tablets are eligible for submission as a(b)&) NDA per FDA
U.S. written guidance to Company

A single phase lll efficacy and safety trial is uggd per FDA written
guidance to Company

Product labeling

Phase Il pivotal clinical trial




Aversion® Technology: Intended to Deter 1.V. Injecton of Opioids Extracted from Dissolved Tablets

Prospective drug abusers or recreational drug usaysattempt to dissolve currently marketed oxyecmamntaining tablets in watt
alcohol, or other common solvents, filter the digsd solution, and then inject the resulting flindravenously to obtain euphoric effects
addition to its two active ingredients, OxyADF Tetsl also contains a unique combination of inadtigeedients. These "functional” inact
ingredients are commonly used pharmaceutical extipiwhich elicit no therapeutic effect but whicva specific northerapeutic function
If a person attempts to extract oxycodone from CR{fATablets using any generally available solvemt|uding water or alcohol, into
volume and form suitable for 1.V. injection, théoket converts into a viscous gel matrix and effedti traps the oxycodone HCI in the ¢
Based on controlled imitro experiments, the Company believes it is naggible, without extraordinary difficulty, to drathis viscous gt
through a needle into a syringe for I.V. injectiéMe believe that this gel forming feature will stabgtially discouragerospective 1.V. dru
abusers or recreational drug users from extraakygodone from an OxyADF Tablet. As described beltwe Company has comparibd
relative difficulty of extracting oxycodone from @XDF Tablets to several currently marketed oxycagoontaining products.

Pivotal Oxycodone Extraction Study The Company, in concert with a leading pharmacelteboratory CRO (thelLaboraton
CRQ"), completed a pivotal study to assess certain priggedf OxyADF using tablets from batches manufaatupy the Company at
Culver Facility at a scale of sufficient size tdfifithe FDA's requirements for a 505(b)(2) NDA lsmission.The Laboratory CRO w:
contracted to quantitatively and qualitatively measthe relative difficulty of extracting oxycodoh&Cl for purposes of intravenous (I.'
injection from various opioid tablet products. Tha&boratory CRO was provided with a list of ingredie (active and inactive) containec
each product, allotted up to 80 hours total timedmplete the evaluations and allowed to use arthodelogy desired to attempt to ext
oxycodone HCI from the tablets in a form suitalde KV. injection. Products tested were OxyADF Tetb] OxyContin®Tablets, 40m¢
generic oxycodone HCI Tablets, 5mg and Percocetfileta (oxycodone HCl/acetaminophen, 5mg/325mg) set forth in the table belo
results were reported as (i) percent of drug eteédii) time to extract drug and (iii) difficultip extract drug on a scale oflD; 1 being eas
and 10 being extremely difficult. OxyContin® anchgeic oxycodone HCI tablets resulted in 71-92% deutgacted in 36 minutes and we
rated 1-2 in relative difficulty. Percocef®blets resulted in 75% oxycodone HCI extractetiinminutes (with vacuum assisted filtration)
was rated 3-4 in relative difficulty. OxyADF Tabdetesulted in a “tracedf oxycodone HCI extracted in 355 minutes and vedsed 10 il
relative difficulty. The Company intends to utililee data and results from this pivotal laboratmydy in its 505(b)(2) NDA submission
OxyADF Tablets to the FDA.

Summary Results of OxyADF Tablets Pivotal Laboratoy
Oxycodone Extraction Study (described above)

Product Tested, Approximate laboratory time Difficulty Rating
Oxycodone HCI Strength required to produce a form Extraction Scheme 1=Easyto
and Product Supplier suitable for intravenous injectis and Yield 10 = Difficult
OxyContin® Tablets 3 steps
1x 40mg tablet 3 minutes p 1
~92% Yield
Purdue Pharma
Oxycodone HCI Tablets . 3 Steps
8 x 5mg tablets, 6 minutes ~71% Vield 2
Mallinckrodt 0
gir(;(r):ett;;lzltzts <10 minutes 3 Steps 3.4
9 with vacuum assisted filtratio ~75% Yield
Endo Labs
é)iy:n?l: t-gzlbe! tests 355 minutes 23 Steps 10
g with no success ~0% Yield

Acura Pharmaceuticals
Aversion® Technology: Intended to Deter Nasal Snoing

In addition to potential intravenous or oral abys®spective drug abusers may easily crush or grimcently marketed oxycodone-
containing tablet or capsule products. The crugimdder may then be nasally snorted and the oxyeilotthe powder is absorbed thro
the lining of the nasal passages often resulting impid onset of euphoric effects. OxyADF Tableéve three mechanisms intende
discourage nasal snorting. First, OxyADF Tabletsfarmulated with a functional excipient intendedriduce mild burning and irritation
the nasal passages if the tablets are crushedhaengrospective drug abuser attempts to snort thehed tablets. Second, when Oxy#
Tablets are crushed and snorted, the Company expleetmoisture in the nasal passages will formsaotis gel with the crushed tal
powder, trapping the oxycodone in the gel and floeeereducing the amount of oxycodone availablbgabsorbed through the lining of
nasal passages. Third, the Company expects thatisheus gel formed in the nasal passages willlrésua sticky mass producing



unpleasant sensation in the nasal passages ofrtlspeative abuser. Therefore, the Company expeaattnpal nasal abusers
OxyADF Tablets to experience burning and irritatminthe nasal passages, a lower level of oxycodmadable for nasal absorption an
physically unpleasant gelatinous mass to form enrthsal passages. The Company has evaluated #miglofor reducing nasal absorpt

using a standard imitro experimental process. As discussed below,Gbepany intends to further evaluate OxyADF Talblasal abus
characteristics in laboratory, animal, and phadical studies.




Aversion® Technology: Intended to Deter SwallowingExcess Quantities of Tablets

OxyADF Tablets contain two active ingredients. &cle tablet, kycodone HCl is included to provide analgesic éfeand niacin i
included as a second active ingredient in atbeabapeutic amount. We believe that Healthcareigess, (including physicians, nurses,
pharmacists) generally understand and recognizenthain, when administered orally in immediatesesde tablets in amounts exceedin
several fold the amount in each OxyADF Tablet, mayse a combination of unpleasant symptoms, inotudiarmth or flushing, itchin
sweating and/or chills, headache and a generahfeef discomfort. In addition, it is generally mgnized that niacin has a well establis
safety profile in long term administration at dofmsexceeding the amounts in each OxyADF TabldteMVOxyADF Tablets are administe
at the anticipated recommended maximum dose obl2taevery 6 hours it is intended that legitimpsén patients will receive effecti
analgesic effects and not be aware of the potegfiietts of niacin. However, when a person swallewsess quantities of OxyADF Tablet:
is intended that they will experience an unpleasambination of symptoms, including warmth or flirgl) itching, sweating and/or chil
headache and a general feeling of discomfort. Hxisected that these dysphoric symptoms will begiproximately 15 minutes after
excess dose is swallowed and selolve approximately 90 minutes later. The Compdwgs not expect that the undesirable niacin &
will be “fool-proof” in discouraging swallowing erssive numbers of OxyADF Tablets. However, we grdte that inclusion of niacin |
OxyADF Tablets and other Aversion®chnology product candidates will deter, to aaartiegree, legitimate pain patients or potentiag
abusers from swallowing excess quantities of OxyAlzblets. We anticipatihat most potential drug abusers or recreational disers wi
seek alternative opioid analgesic products thagaresrally much easier to abuse than OxyADF Tabdeid do not have the potential to ce
these undesirable niacin effects. As describedvhelbe Company has evaluated the effects of niacithree phase Il clinical studies
subjects with and without a history of opioid ahuse

Expectations for OxyADF Tablets Product Labeling

In the U.S., every product approved for commerz#ion pursuant to an NDA must be marketed in atmwore with its FD,
approved indications and associated product lappelihe FDA has provided written guidance to the @any stating that an indication
abuse deterrence must be supported by data fronatlequate and wetlentrolled clinical trials. The Company does ndemd to seek ¢
indication for abuse deterrence for OxyADF Tablétstead, the Company is seeking an indicationdayADF Tablets for treatment
moderate to moderately severe pain. The FDA has @isvided written guidance to the Company statimaf language regarding ab
deterrence, which is supported by rigorous, sdierdata, may be placed into appropriate sectidrie@OxyADF Tablet product label. In tl
regard, the Company intends to seek FDA approvidrgjuage in the OxyADF Tablet product label désng the physical characteristics
the product and likely results if attempts are middissolve tablets in solvents for intravenoysdtion, and/or snort crushed tablets, ar
swallow excessive numbers of tablets. The Compatig\ues this product labeling strategy will provialeiable promotional platform for t
commercialization of OxyADF Tablets and other protdeandidates utilizing Aversion®echnology. At this stage there can be no assus
that the Company's product labeling strategy foyADX Tablets will be successful or that FDA apprdveroduct labeling, if any, w
provide a viable commercialization platform.




OxyADF Tablets Clinical Development Program: Compléed and Planned Clinical Studies
The clinical development program for OxyADF Tablédssummarized below. At this stage, the Compamnea provide an
assurance that FDA will not require additional ida studies prior to their acceptance for filinigao505(b)(2) NDA submission for OxyAL
Tablets.
OxyADF Tablets Clinical Development Program

Clinical Study

Number Clinical Study Description Status
Phase |
AP-ADF-101 Evaluate optimal amount per tablet of niacin Final study report complete
AP-ADF-104 Phase | : Bioequivalence to non Aversion® Technplegference Final study rgport Fomplete. OxyADF .
. tablets are bioequivalent to reference lis
Listed Drug
drug
AP-ADF-106 . Received FDA written guidance for
Evaluate effects of nasal snorting .
protocol design
AP-ADF-108 Single dose pharmacokinetics Received FDA written guidance for
(dose linearity and food effect) protocol design
AP-ADF-109 Multi-dose pharmacokinetics (dose linearity) Received FDA written guidance for
protocol design
AP-ADF-110 Single dose pharmacokinetics and bioavailabilityq&red if there is  Received initial FDA written guidance for
not dose linearity protocol design
Phase Il
AP-ADF-102 Subject enrollment complete. Principal
Relative likeability in subjects with a history @pioid abuse Investigator's report and data analysis
complete. Final study report in progress
AP-ADF-103 Repeat dose safety and tolerability study in norsoéjects Final study report complete
AP-ADF-107 Subject enrollment complete. Summary
Niacin dos-response for safety and tolerability in normaljsats study report and preliminary data analysis
complete. Final study report in progress
Phase llI
AP-ADF-105 Received FDA written guidance for
Pivotal efficacy and safety protocol design. Special Protocol

Assessment requested.
Summary of OxyADF Tablets Phase Il Study Designs,t&us and Results

Study AP-ADF-102: This study is titled, "A Phase Il Single-Centernamized, Doubldélind Study in Subjects with a History
Opioid Abuse to Evaluate the DoBesponse for Flushing and Safety and Tolerabilityarying Doses of Niacin in Combination with 40
of an Opioid vs. 40mg of an Opioid Alone ." Thedstwbjectives were 1) to determine the dose respéorsniacininduced flushing in ma
and female healthy, adult volunteers with a histafrgpioid abuse when niacin is administered in bimation with 40 mg oxycodone HCI;
to evaluate the safety and tolerability of niariduced flushing following varying niacin dosescdombination with 40 mg oxycodone HCI
subjects with a history of opioid abuse; 3) to ¢onfthe appropriate strength of niacin to use infarersion® Technology formulation «
oxycodone HCI; 4) to determine whether the flushimipced by niacin is of sufficient intensity toteleabuse in a population of subjects
a history of opioid abuse; and 5) to evaluate fifeceof food on niacirinduced flushing when niacin is administered in bamtion with 4(



mg oxycodone HCI.

This study was a single-center, double-blind, ramided, placebo-controlled, fivyeeriod crossover study conducted on an inpz
basis with 5 cohorts of 5 subjects each. Twentg-fiubjects (three female and twehiys male) were admitted for the study. One malgex
completed the first drug condition but thereafté@hdrew from the study stating personal reasonsglated to the study. Twenfgur subject
received a single dose of study drug every 48 himur8 days. Each subject was randomized to a dasiquence that included doses of ni
(0, 240, 480, and 600 mg) administered in comhamatvith 40 mg oxycodone HCI while the subjects wiasted on Days 1, 3, 5, and 7.
Day 9, a dose of 600 mg niacin in combination withmg oxycodone HCI was administered followingandardized higliat breakfast. Eac
dosing day, vital sign measures and subjectivebatdvioral effects were assessed before dosingtadd, 1, 1.5, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 12 h
after dosing. Vital signs included systolic andstidic blood pressure, heart rate, oral temperadunc respiratory rate. Subjective char
were measured by subject response to a Drug R&imestionnaire (DRQS). As an additional measure of subjective atffesubject
completed a 40 item short form of an Addiction Resk Inventory (ARCI) that yielded three scale ssoithe Morphine Benzedrine Gro
Scale (MBG), the LSD Specific Scale (LSD) and tlentBbarbital Chlorpromazine Alcohol Group Scale AX}. After completion of th
study, subjects responded to a Treatment Enjoyissessment Questionnaire to select which of trertrents they would take again. P
to initiating the study, the hypothesis was that élddition of niacin to oxycodone would producesef$ that are disliked by subjects wir
history of opioid abuse. The maximum scale respomsiee question “How much do you dislike the daffct you are feeling now?1.¢. the
"Disliking Score"), was designated as the primafficacy variable. Statistical analysis (maximumlis response in comparison to 0
niacin) was conducted for DRQS, ARCI scales anal gigns. Study results were as follows:




(1) In the fasting state, all three doses of niacirOfig, 480mg and 600mg] in combination with oxycodd@eng produced significant
< .05) disliking scores compared to oxycodone 40nomea The linear regression across niacin dose meassignificant. No othe
subjective measure was significantly affected eyritacin addition to oxycodone.

(2) The high fat meal eliminated the niacin effect oayamdone 40 mg. The high fat meal also delayectithe to oxycodone peak blo
levels.

(3) The addition of niacin to oxycodone alters the satiye response to oxycodone as indicated by thefmiant responses on the dislik
scale. This observation in conjunction with theufessfrom the Treatment Enjoyment Questionnairecaigs that the addition of nia
reduces the attractiveness of oxycodone to oplaisas.

(4) There were no serious adverse events. Niacin pesdacdose related attenuation of pupillary consbri¢ diastolic blood presst
increase and probably systolic blood pressure asergproduced by oxycodone. The alterations by mianithe vital sign responses
oxycodone 40 mg were minimal, were seen primarity the 600 mg niacin dose and were not clinicaignificant.

The principal study investigator’'s overall conchusiwas that the results of this pharmacodynamidysiGtudy AP-ADF102] support th
hypothesis that the addition of niacin to oxycodéame minimal ratio of 30 mg niacin to 5 mg oxyco&ois aversive when comparec
oxycodone alone. The addition of niacin does ntarahe safety profile of oxycodone alone. The Camypintends to include the data .
results from StudyAP-ADF-102 in its 505(b)(2) NDAksnission for OxyADF Tablets to the FDA.

Study AP-ADF-103: This study is titled, "A Phase Il Single-Center,nBamized, Double-Blind, Multipl®ose Study in Healtt
Volunteers to Evaluate the Safety and Tolerabdityiacin in Combination with 5 mg of an Opioid \&Emg of an Opioid Alone." To ass
the safety and tolerability of OxyADF Tablets inngparison to oxycodone HCI tablets without Aversio@®use deterrent) Technology,
Company conducted this Phase Il single-center,aiauicbd, doubldslind, multiple dose study in 66 healthy adult matel female voluntee
Subjects were randomly assigned to one of thresntrent groups (22 subjects per treatment groupjurAin phase was conducted on
outpatient basis for five days and includedhatre dosing four times daily and adverse eventaledability assessments. The treatment
followed the run-in phase and was conducted ompatient basis for five days. The treatment phaskided dosing wittOxyADF Tablet:
(with or without niacin) as well as poseatment safety and tolerability assessmentscé&fi (the tolerability of OxyADF) was evaluatedh
a Side Effects and Symptoms Questionnaire (SESQ)anOxyADF Tolerability Rating Scale. Safety waslaated by adverse events
clinical laboratory and vital signs assessmentseveanducted periodically during the study. Durihg tunin phase, comparable tolerabi
was demonstrated in subjects who took OxyADF Tabhath and without niacin. The mean post-dose SE36l score during the ruin-
phase was very low in all groups (highest possibte = 33; Group results = 0.84 - 1.6) indicatimat OxyADF was generally welblerate(
when taken at recommended doses. During the treatpiase, 64% of subjects in Groups 2 and 3 (oxycedHCl + niacin) reported si
effects and symptoms and 50% of subjects in Grogpxgcodone alone) reported side effects and symgptdost of the side effects ¢
symptoms observed during the treatment phase widdeommoderate in severity. Irrespective of treaiihgroup, approximately three quar
of subjects reported either “no effect” or “easydterate”on the OxyADF Tolerability Rating Scale. Oxycodd#€l administered four tim:
a day, with or without niacin, was determined tonmd| tolerated. Adverse events were reported by 67 %ubjects throughout both phase
the study. The majority of subjects (55%) repodedserse events during the treatment phase thateseasgdered mild in severity. No sev
adverse events were reported in any treatment gaodmo clinically important trends over time weteserved in any treatment group for \
signs measurements (blood pressure, heart ratereapiatory rate). The Company intends to incltlte data and results from Study AP-
ADF-103 in its 505(b)(2) NDA submission for OxyADFblets to the FDA.
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Study AP-ADF-107: This study is titled "A Phase Il Single-Center, Bamized, Double-Blind Study in Fasted and Neastel
Healthy Volunteers to Evaluate the DdResponse for Flushing and Safety and TolerabilftyEscalating Doses of Niacin." The stt
objective was to evaluate the dose-response farimiaduced flushing, safety, and tolerability of niadn the OxyADF Tablet matr
(excluding oxycodone HCI) at various dose levelbath fasted and fed subjects. This trial was as@hbsingle-center, randomized, double-
blind study in healthy, adult male and female sciisjeA total of 50 subjects were enrolled. The Thremt Phase was conducted or
inpatient basis and included study drug dosingyels as safety and tolerability assessments. Eabfest received eight doses of niacin
60, 90, 120, 240, 360, 480, and 600 mg) and thoseglof placebo taken orally in tablet form on etegeparate days in a random sequ
Half of the subjects (n=25) took each dose of siidyg following a standardized hidat breakfast consisting of two fried eggs, hashws
two fried bacon strips, toast, butter, and wholékand half (n=25) remained fasted for at leastoRirs after study drug administrati
Subjects were discharged from the Clinical Resedihon Day 11, approximately 6 hours after tha Bose of study drug administration.

Tolerability was rated by subjects during the Tmgzrit Phase using a Tolerability Rating Scale (T&®)pleted 3 hours after et
dose of study drug. Each subject’s overall readiiothe study drug was recorded using the followbrapint scale: 0 = No effect; 1 = Eas)
tolerate; 2 = Mildly unpleasant, but tolerable; Japleasant and difficult to tolerate; 4 = Intolelmand would never take again. The re:
showed a clear niacin dose-response relationshijotin Fasted and Fed subjects as assessed bypthiat5FRS. The response ranged f
little or no effect at low niacin doses (30 to 99)nto more difficult and unpleasant symptoms ahbigdoses of niacin (>120 mg). With Fa:
subjects, there was minimal or no effect of niagirdoses of 30 to 60 mg, with96% of subjects reporting either “no effect” aasy t
tolerate”. Niacin was also well tolerated at dosE80 mg, with 86% of Fasted subjects reportingegit'no effect” or “easy to tolerateinc
14% reporting “mildly unpleasant, but tolerabl&he absence of any notable effects at low dosegests that niacin will be well tolerated
to 60 mg per dose and will likely be well tolerat®d90 mg per dose. As niacin doses escalated f20nto 360 mg, a transition occur
resulting in a larger proportion of Fasted subj¢22% to 73%) reporting mildly unpleasant, unpledsar intolerable effects. At doses of «
and 600 mg, most Fasted subjects86%) reported mildly unpleasant, unpleasant, aiénable effects. At least 40% of subjects dosetBE
and 600 mg reported either “unpleasant and difficutolerate” or “intolerable and would never tagain”. The higher doses of niacin clez
produced undesirable side effects. As anticipatiatin effects were mitigated by food. All Fed sadis (100%) receiving 30 to 240 mg ni¢
reported “no effect” or “easy to tolerate”. Niaciras also generally well tolerated at doses of 8366800 mg with most Fed subjects 68%)
reporting “no effect” or “easy to tolerate”.

In this study there were no significant adversenever discontinuations due to treatmemergent adverse events (TEAES). Nor
the TEAES reported were severe in intensity. Arciéacin dosaesponse relationship was observed in the incidehéds. As expected, t
most frequently reported TEAE in both Fasted andi $tébjects was flushing. Flushing occurred morgueatly in Fasted subjects than in
subjects with higher incidence as the niacin daseeased. The majority of Fasted subjects (54%8%)&eported flushing at doses of 24
600 mg; while the majority of Fed subjects (64%)ared flushing only at a dose of 600 mg. Mosthaf €vents of flushing were moderat
intensity. No other safety issues were apparerg. Gbmpany intends to include the data and resulte Study AP-ADF107 in its 505(b)(Z
NDA submission for OxyADF Tablets to the FD

Additional OxyADF Tablets Clinical Studies Planned

The FDA has requested that the Company completaicexdditional clinical studies for OxyADF Tablgigor to accepting our 505
(b)(2) NDA submission including, as of the datdto$ Report, the following:

Study AP-ADF-105. This study is titled “A Phase Ill, Randomized, Dé@sblind, Placebo-controlled, Multicenter, Repéatse¢
Study of the Safety and Efficacy of OxyADF (oxyco@oHCI and niacin) Tablets versus Placebo for treafment of Acute, Moderate
Severe Postoperative Pain Following Bunionectomyg&y in Adult Patients."This short term phase Ill study is planned to d
approximately 400 patients with moderate to seypaia following bunionectomy surgeryhe Company has submitted the study protoc
the FDA and requested a Special Protocol Assessf8&4t). Clinical protocols for Phase 1l trials wdeodata will form the primary basis
an efficacy claim are eligible for a SPA. A SPArrdhe FDA is an agreement that the Phase Il friatocol design, clinical endpoints, ¢
statistical analyses plan are acceptable to suppgttlatory approval. A SPA is binding upon the FDAless a substantial scientific is
essential to determining safety or efficacy is iffexd after the testing is begun. The Companyewas the completion of Study AP-ADIBE
is the critical time and events path to 505(b)(®)A\submission for OxyADF Tablets.

Study AP-ADF-106.This will be a phase | clinical study, for use imoguct labeling, evaluating the nasal irritatinguctteristics ¢
crushed OxyADF Tablets (with and/or without oxycodddCl) anticipated to enroll 12-24 normal subjects
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Studies AP-ADF-108, AP-ADF-109, and if necessary ARDF-110. These will be phase | single dose or mdés¢
pharmacokinetic studies anticipated to enroll apipnately 25-50 normal subjects per study.

Estimated Timing for submission of a 505(b)(2) NDAor OxyADF Tablets

Estimating the dates of initiation and completidrcinical studies and the costs to complete dgwelent of the Company's prod
candidates, including OxyADF Tablets, would be syetive and potentially misleading. The Companyemtp to reassess its future rese
and development plans pending review of data redeirom development activities currently in prograsd the availability of cash resout
to fund such development activities. The cost amckeof future research and development activitiediaked and subject to change. At
stage there can be no assurance that any of th@&yre research and development efforts, including thos®©xyADF Tablets, will lead
a 505(b)(2) NDA submission or that if NDA submigsioare made with the FDA, that any such submissiilinbe accepted for filing ¢
approved by the FDA.

Competition

The Company competes to varying degrees with numsecompanies in the pharmaceutical research, dawelot, manufacturir
and commercialization fields. Most of the Comparggsnpetitors have substantially greater financiad ather resources and are abl
expend more funds and effort than the Companysearch and development of their competitive teatgiek and products. Although a lar
company with greater resources than the Companlynell necessarily have a higher likelihood of remel regulatory approval for
particular product or technology as compared tmaller competitor, the company with a larger reseand development expenditure will
in a position to support more development projeitsultaneously, thereby improving the likelihood aiftaining regulatory approval o
commercially viable product or technology tharsitsaller rivals.

The Company believes potential competitors may daeekbping opioid abuse deterrent technologies andyzts. Such competitc
may include Alpharma Inc. of Fort Lee, NJ, EliteaRhaceuticals, Inc. of Northvale, NJ, New River maceuticals, Inc. of Radford, V
Pain Therapeutics of South San Francisco, CA, dlfaloration with King Pharmaceuticals of BristdlN), Purdue Pharma of Stamford,
and Endo Pharmaceuticals of Chadds Ford, PA.

Segment Reportin

The Company operates in only one business segthentesearch, development and manufacture of inivevabuse deterrent, abi
resistant and tamper resistant formulations ("Aeex® Technology") intended for use in orally admsteired pharmaceutical products.

Prior to 2005, the Company manufactured and soheége finished dosage pharmaceutical products. Jtmpany discontinued t
manufacture and sale of such products in thedinsrter of 2004.

Prior to 2005, the Company was engaged in reseaderelopment and manufacture of proprietary, higd, short cycle tim
environmentally sensitive opioid synthesis procegsige "Opioid Synthesis Technologies") intendeduse in the commercial productior
certain bulk opioid active pharmaceutical ingretberin early 2005, the Company suspended developareh commercialization effo
relating to the Opioid Synthesis Technologies pegdhe deputy DEA Administrator's determinationatielg to the Compang’ pendini
application for registration to import narcotic ramaterials (the "Narcotic Raw Materials Import Aipption") filed with the DEA in earl
2001. In late 2006 the Company notified the DEA thevas withdrawing, without prejudice to possililgure resubmission, the Narcotic F
Materials Import Application and the Company hascdntinued all activities relating to the Opioid@yesis Technologies. The withdrawa
the Narcotic Raw Material Import Application anetliscontinuation of all activities relating to t@pioid Synthesis Technologies allow
Company to focus its resources on developing antheercializing its propriety Aversion® Technologydarelated product candidates.

Government Regulation

All pharmaceutical firms, including the Companye @ubject to extensive regulation by the federalegument, principally by tt
U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA"), and,adesser extent, by state and local governmentditiddally, the Company is subject
extensive regulation by the Drug Enforcement Adstiaition ("DEA") for research, development and nmaoturing of controlled substanc
The Company is also subject to regulation undeerfgd state and local laws, including requiremeagmrding occupational safety, labora
practices, environmental protection and hazardobstance control, and may be subject to other ptesad future local, state, federal .
foreign regulations, including possible future riegions of the pharmaceutical industry. The Compeagnot predict the extent to whicl
may be affected by legislative and other regulati@yelopments concerning its products and the linegak industry in general.
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The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (the "FDAEC"), the Controlled Substances Act and otherefall statutes ai
regulations govern or influence the testing, maciufe, labeling, storage, record keeping, apprgwéting, advertising, promotion, sale :
distribution of pharmaceutical products. Noncomptia with applicable requirements can result indjmecall or seizure of products, crimi
proceedings, total or partial suspension of prddoctand refusal of the government to enter intppdy contracts or to approve new d
applications. The FDA also has the authority takevor withhold approvals of new drug applications.

The Federal Controlled Substances Act imposes wsiriegistration, recorlleeping and reporting requirements, procuremen
manufacturing quotas, labeling and packaging requénts, security controls and a restriction onguigtson refills on certain pharmaceuti
products. A principal factor in determining the @rlar requirements, if any, applicable to a proids its actual or potential abuse profile
pharmaceutical product may be “scheduled” as a@Hl, C-lll, C-IV or C-V controlled substance, \witC4 substances considered to pre
the highest risk of substance abuse and Substances the lowest. Because of the poterdiahlhuse, opioid containing drugs, incluc
OxyADF Tablets, are regulated, or scheduled, uriderControlled Substances Act. Any of our produmhdidates containing an opi
analgesic will be subject to such regulation. As ttage, because it contains oxycodone HCI, aickauthe Company believes that OxyA
Tablets will be a DEA C-Il product.

FDA approval is required before any "new drug," banmarketed. A "new drug" is one not generallyogeized by the FDA as s:
and effective for its intended use. Such approvastnbe based on adequate and well controlled ladrgrand clinical investigations.
addition to providing required safety and effectigses data for FDA approval, a drug manufacturegstizes and procedures must confor
current Good Manufacturing Practice Regulation&{s"), which apply to the manufacture, receivihglding and shipping of all drug
whether or not approved by the FDA. To ensure dolnpliance with relevant standards, some of whieh st forth in regulations, t
Company must continue to expend time, money aradteaff all applicable areas relating to qualitywaasce. Failure to so comply risks del
in approval of drugs and possible FDA enforcemetibas, such as an injunction against shipmentrofipcts, the seizure of naomplying
products, and/or, in serious cases, criminal pug@aT. The Company is subject to periodic inspecby the FDA and DEA.

The FDA Pharmaceutical Product Approval Process

The process of drug development is complex andttgnand the activities undertaken before a newmphaeutical product may
marketed in the U.S. include but are not limitedpreclinical studies, submission to the FDA oflawestigational New Drug Applicatic
("IND™), which must become effective before humdinical trials commence, followed by adequate aredlxwontrolled human clinical tria
to establish the safety and efficacy of the prodsigbmission to the FDA of a NDA, and FDA approohthe NDA prior to any commerc
sale of the product in the U.S. Preclinical studiedude laboratory evaluation of product chemisand formulation, and in some ca
animal studies and other studies to assess thetf@teafety and efficacy of the product candiddtee results of preclinical studies are t
submitted to the FDA as a part of an IND and awéereed by the FDA prior to the commencement of hardlinical trials. Unless the FC
objects to, or otherwise responds to, an IND susiamis the IND becomes effective 30 days followitsgreceipt by the FDA.

Human clinical trials are typically conducted imeh phases that often overlap:
Phase I: The drug is initially introduced into healthy humanbjects or patients and tested for safety, dosalpeance, absorptic
metabolism, distribution and excretion. In additidins sometimes possible to conduct a prelimirargluation of efficacy in Phase | trials

analgesia.

Phase II: This phase involves studies in a limited patienhomal subject population to identify possible adbe effects and safety risks
evaluate the efficacy of the product for specifiggeted diseases and to determine optimal dosag®i@nance.

Phase Ill: When Phase Il evaluations demonstrate that a dosage of the product is effective and has an dabépsafety profile, Phase

trials are undertaken to further evaluate dosatjmical efficacy and to further test for safety an expanded patient populatior
geographically dispersed clinical study sites.
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After clinical trials have been completed, the sgmwnmust submit to the FDA the results of the pnézdl and clinical testin
together with, among other things, detailed infaiiora on the manufacture and composition of the pebdin a New Drug Applicatic
("NDA"). There are two primary types of NDAs; a §BK1) and a 505(b)(2), A 505(b)(1) NDA is also knmoas a "full NDA" and i
described by section 505(b)(1) of the FD&C Act asapplication containing full reports of investigats of safety and effectiveness
addition to other information. The data in a fulDN is either owned by the applicant or is datavidiich the applicant has obtained a rigt
reference. A 505(b)(2) application is one descrilbeder section 505(b)(2) of the act as an apptioafor which one or more of t
investigations relied upon by the applicant for mppl "were not conducted by or for the applicant dor which the applicant has |
obtained a right of reference or use from the petspor for whom the investigations were conduct@d' U.S.C. 355(b)(2)). This provisi
expressly permits FDA to rely for approval of an AIDn data not developed by the applicant, suctultighed literature or the FDA's findi
of safety and effectiveness of a previously appdogteug. 505(b)(2) applications are submitted urskstion 505(b)(1) of the act and
therefore subject to the same statutory provisibasgovern 505(b)(1) applications that require aghother things, "full reports” of safety ¢
effectivenessThe FDA has provided written guidance to the Comypsiating that OxyADF Tablets is a suitable prodoahdidate fc
submission as a 505(b)(2) NDA.

After an NDA is submitted by an applicant and atedgor filing by the FDA, the FDA will then reviethe NDA and, if and when
determines that the data submitted are adequatkow that the product is safe and effective foiritended use, the FDA will approve
NDA for commercial distribution in the U.S. Therancbe no assurance that any of our product camdiaet! receive FDA approva

Whether or not FDA approval has been obtained,aas from comparable governmental regulatory aitibe in foreign countries
must be obtained prior to the commencement ofadirtials and subsequent sales and marketingteffothose countries. The approval
procedure varies in complexity from country to ctoynand the time required may be longer or shdhen that required for FDA approval.

Environmental Compliance

In addition to regulation by the FDA and DEA, theripany is subject to regulation under federalgsdad local environmental lay
The Company believes it is in material compliandthwapplicable environmental laws. The Company medi $61,6506and $180,000 in tt
years ended December 31, 2005 22004, respectively, on environmental compliance relatingdisposal of hazardous and contrc
substances waste primarily associated with the faatwre of finished dosage pharmaceuticals andeagiharmaceutical ingredients. Th
operations were discontinued in 2004. Since 20@5Gbmpany has only incurred the normal waste dépasst associated with test be
manufacturing for finished dosage forms and reseand development laboratory operations.

Raw Materials

To purchase certain active ingredients requiredtierCompanys development and manufacture of product candidatézing its
Aversion® Technology, the Company is required to file for afdain quotas from the DEA. No assurance can Wenghat the Company w
be successful in obtaining adequate DEA quotas iimely manner. Even assuming adequate and timé& Quotas, there can be
assurances that the approved manufacturers of rateris for the Company’ product candidates will supply the Company witd
requirements for the active ingredients requiredtie development and manufacture of its productickates.

Subsidiaries

The Company's Culver, Indiana research, developmamd manufacturing operations are conducted byraAdtharmaceutic
Technologies, Inc., an Indiana corporation and Wholvned subsidiary of the Company.

Directors, Executive Officer;, and Employees

The directors and executive officers of the Compargyas follows:

NAME AGE POSITION

Andrew D. Reddick 54 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Ron J. Spivey 60 Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer

Peter A. Clemens 54 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer &w&tretary
James F. Emigh 51 Vice President of Marketing and Administration

Robert A. Seiser 43 Vice President, Corporate Controller and Treasurer
Bruce F. Wesson 64 Director

William A. Sumner 69 Director



Richard J. Markham
William G. Skelly
Immanuel Thangaraj

56
55
36

Director
Director
Director
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Andrew D. Reddick has been President and Chief lkex Officer since August, 2003 and a Directotled Company since Augu
2004. From April, 2000 to September, 2002 Mr. Rekidivas Chief Operating Officer and Sr. Vice Prestd€ommercial Operations 1
Adolor Corporation and from June, 1999 to MarciQ@@e served as President of Faulding LaboratdriesMr. Reddick holds a Bachelor
Arts degree in Biology from the University of Calihia and a Masters of Business Administration dedrom Duke University.

Ron J. Spivey, Ph.D., has been Senior Vice PresatehChief Scientific Officer since April, 2004tdfn June, 2002 to March, 2C
Dr. Spivey was President of Gibraltar Associategtigate consulting services company for the phaeutical industry. From March, 199¢
May, 2002 he served as Vice President, Scientiffaiss for Alpharma/Purepac Pharmaceuticals. Div&pholds a Bachelor of Arts deg
from Indiana University and a Ph.D. degree in ptarautics from the University of lowa.

Peter A. Clemens has been Senior Vice Presidengf Emancial Officer and Secretary since April 200r. Clemens was Vit
President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretarythaef Company from February 1998 to March 2004 amlractor of the Company fro
June, 1998 to August, 2004. Mr. Clemens is a GedtiPublic Accountant and earned a Bachelor of iizss Administration degree from
University of Notre Dame and a Masters of Busin&dsninistration from Indiana University.

James F. Emigh has been Vice President of MarkatigAdministration since April 2004. Prior to su@he, Mr. Emigh was Vic
President of Sales and Marketing. Mr. Emigh joitteel Company in May, 1998, serving first as Exeaifdirector of Customer Relations ¢
then as Vice President of Operations until Novemi2®02. Mr. Emigh holds a Bachelor of Pharmacy degirom Washington Ste
University and a Masters of Business Administrafimm George Mason University.

Robert A. Seiser has been a Vice President, Cam@antroller and Treasurer since April 2004. Meisgr joined the Company
March 1998 as the Corporate Controller and Treasie. Seiser is a Certified Public Accountant amarned a Bachelor of Busin
Administration degree from Loyola University of €hgo.

Bruce F. Wesson has been a Director of the Comparoe March, 1998. Mr. Wesson has been a Partn&até#n Associates,
health care venture firm, and a General Partnégbalén Partners I, L.P. since January 1991. Raodanuary, 1991, he was Senior \
President and Managing Director of Smith BarneyriddJpham & Co. Inc., an investment banking firnile currently serves on the Boa
of QMed, Inc., Derma Sciences, Inc., and Chemtwep@ration, each a publicly traded companyir. Wesson earned a Bachelor of /
degree from Colgate University and a Masters ofifiass Administration from Columbia University.

William A. Sumner has been a Director of the Conypsince August, 1997. From 1974 until his retiretriarf 995, Mr. Sumner he
various positions within Hoech&eussel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., including Vice Riexsi and General Manager, Dermatology Division
1991 through 1995, Vice President, Strategic Bissiri@evelopment, from 1989 to 1991 and Vice Presiddarketing from 1985 to 198
Since his retirement from HoecHRbussel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in 1995, Mr. Sumasrdcted as a consultant in the pharmaceutical
Mr. Sumner earned a Bachelor of Arts degree fromrmidlair State University and a Master of Arts degirom the University of Virginia.

Richard J. Markham has been a Director of the Comsince May, 2006. Since November, 2004 Mr. MamkHzas served as
partner at Care Capital, LLC, a venture capitahfthat primarily invests in life sciences companieom May 2002 until August 2004, M
Markham was the Vice Chairman of the Management@aad Chief Operating Officer of Aventis SA. Fradecember, 1999 until Ma
2002 he was the Chief Executive Officer of Avelsarma AG. Previously he was the Chief Executivic®f of Hoechst Marion Rouss
the President and Chief Operating Officer of Mariderrell Dow, Inc. and a member of its board ofediors. From 1973 to 1993 |
Markham was associated with Merck & Co. Inc., culating in his position as President and Chief OfregeOfficer. Mr. Markham receive
a B.S. in Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical SciencesPugiue University.

William G. Skelly has been a Director of the Compamce May, 1996 and served as Chairman of thegaomfrom October, 19!
through June, 2000. Since 1990, Mr. Skelly haseskas Chairman, President and Chief Executive @ffi¢ Central Biomedia, Inc. and
subsidiary SERA, Inc. From 1985 to 1990, Mr. Skesltyved as President of Martec PharmaceuticalMncSkelly earned a Bachelor of A
degree from Michigan State University and a MasbéiBusiness Administration from the UniversityMfssouri-Kansas City.
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Immanuel Thangaraj has been a Director of the Compance December, 2002. Mr. Thangaraj has beeraaalying Director ¢
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures, a venture cdpitalspecializing in the healthcare industry, sidi@97. He serves as a director of pri
companies. Prior to joining Essex Woodlands Hedéhtures, he helped establish a telecommunicagorices company, for which he ser
as its CEO. Mr. Thangaraj holds a Bachelor of Arid a Masters in Business Administration from timéversity of Chicago .

As of the date of this Report, the Company hadfl8-time employees, eight of whom are engaged in theareh, development ¢
manufacture of product candidates utilizing the ®ien® Technology. The remaining employees are engageatiministrative, lege
accounting, finance, market research, businesslajfawent and licensing activities. Most our senior management and our profess
employees have had prior experience in pharmaedutic biotechnology companies. None of our empleyie covered by collecti
bargaining agreements. We believe that our relatwith our employees are good.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The Company Received a "Going Concern" Opinion fromlts Registered Independent Public Accounting Firm,Has a History of
Operating Losses and May Not Achieve ProfitabilitySufficient to Generate a Positive Return on Sharelders' Investment

We have incurred net losses of $6.0 million for ylear ended December 31, 2006, $12.1 million ferytbar ended December
2005 and $70.0 million and $48.5 million for 200Ada2003, respectively. As of December 31, 2006, acrumulated deficit w
approximately $317.5 million. The Company's cordatied financial statements for the years ended Bleee31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 w
prepared on a “going concermyasis; however, in its report dated March 13, 208Farding those financial statements, our regid
independent public accounting firm expressed sualistadoubt about the Company's ability to contiraga going concern as a resul
recurring losses, net capital deficiency and nggatiash flows. Our future profitability will depermh many factors, including: (i) t
Companys ability to secure additional financing to funchtinoued operations, (ii) the successful completibithe formulation developme
clinical testing and acceptable regulatory revidwroduct candidates utilizing the Aversiorf@chnology; (iii) the continued receipt of iss
patents from the U.S. Patent and Trademark OffidSPTQO”) for the material claims in the Company's patentliagfions relating to tt
Aversion® Technology; (iv) the Company's ability to negotiaed execute appropriate licensing, development comdmercializatio
agreements with qualified third parties relatingltte Companys product candidates; and (v) the successful corialeation by licensees
products incorporating the Aversion®chnology without infringing the patents and othellectual property rights of third parties. '
cannot assure you that we will ever have a prodpptoved by the FDA, that we will bring any prodtimarket or, if we are successfu
doing so, that we will ever become profitable.

We Require Additional Funding

Our requirements for additional new funding willpged on many factors, including: (i) the time regdiand expenses incurrec
the development and commercialization of produsteiiporating our Aversion®echnology; (ii) the structure of any future colbahtive o
development agreements relating to the Aversid®®hnology, including the timing and amount of pawts, if any, that may be recei
under possible future collaborative agreementd;diir ability to develop additional product candliels utilizing the Aversion&echnology
(iv) our ability to negotiate agreements with gfiedl third parties for development, manufacturerkating, sale and distribution of prod.
utilizing our Aversion®Technology; (v) the prosecution, defense and erfoent of patent claims and other intellectual priypeghts
relating to the Aversion® Technology; and (vi) teeccessful commercialization by licensees of prtlilecorporating our Aversié
Technology without infringing third-party patentsather intellectual property rights.

To continue funding operations the Company musteraidditional financing, or enter into alliancesollaborative agreements w
third parties providing for net cash proceeds ® @ompany. The Company is seeking to secure working capitatignog gross proceeds
the Company in the range of approximately $10 omillio $15 million through the private offering diet Companys securities. The terms
any such securities offering, including, withoumiiation, the type of equity securities (or sedesitconvertible into equity securities) and
price per share, have not been determined andimlbyge part, be determined based upon negatmti@tween the Company and prospe
investors in such private offering. No assurance loa given that the Company will be successful btaiming any such financing or
securing collaborative agreements with third partie acceptable terms, if at all, or if securedt fuch financing or collaborative agreem
will provide for payments to the Company sufficieiat continue to fund operations. In the absenceswth financing or thirgbarty
collaborative agreements, the Company will be meglito scale back or terminate operations and/ek gotection under applical
bankruptcy laws. Even assuming the Company is sgéglein securing additional sources of financiagund the continued developmen
the Aversion® Technology, or enters into allian@gscollaborative agreements relating to the Aver®idlechnology, there can be
assurance that the Company's development effolitsesult in commercially viable products.

16






We Have No Near Term Sources of Revenue and Must Reon Current Cash Reserves, ThirdParty Financing, and Technolog
Licensing Fees to Fund Operations

Pending the negotiation of appropriate licensingeaments with pharmaceutical company partners, lo€lwno assurance can
given, the Company must rely on its current cagemees, thirgarty financing and technology licensing fees tadfithe Company
operations. No assurance can be given that cuoast resources will be sufficient to fund the cmmtid development of our prod
candidates until such time as we generate reveram fhe license of products incorporating the Awst® Technology to third partie
Moreover, no assurance can be given that we wiluneessful in raising additional financing to fupkrations or, if funding is obtained, t
such funding will be sufficient to fund operationstil the Company's product candidates incorpogatinr Aversion®Technology, may
commercialized.

We Are Subject to Restrictions on the Incurrence ofdditional Indebtedness, Which May Adversely Impat the Company's Ability to
Fund Operations and Clinical Trials

Pursuant to the terms of the Company's outstansiegred loan agreements the Company is limited dset type and amount
future indebtedness it may incur. The restrictiontloe Company's ability to incur additional indelstess in the future may adversely im,
the Company's ability to fund the development @pitoduct candidates and commercialization ofritslpcts.

Our Product Candidates Are Based on Technology Thatould Ultimately Prove Ineffective

The Company is committing substantially all ofrésources and available capital to the developmie®kyADF Tablets. Addition:
clinical and non-clinical testing will be requir¢al continue development of OxyADF Tablets and Fa preparation and submission of a 505
(b)(2) NDA with the FDA. There can be no assuratiag OxyADF Tablets or any other product candidd¢eeloped using Aversion®
Technology will achieve the primary end pointshie required clinical studies or perform as intenisedther preelinical and clinical studie
leading to commercially viable product candidateteading to a NDA submission. If a NDA is submitte the FDA for OxyADF Tablets
any other product candidates, there can be noasses that the FDA will accept such submissiorfifimg and subsequently approve s
regulatory application with commercially viable gt labeling or to ultimately approve such produamdidates for commercial distributi
The failure of the Company to successfully devedad achieve final FDA approval of a product cantdid#ilizing Aversion® Technolog'
will have a material adverse effect on the Compaapgerations and financial condition.

If Pre-Clinical or Clinical Testing For Our Product Candidates Are Unsuccessful or Delayed, We Will Be Unabl® Meet Our
Anticipated Development and Commercialization Timehes

To obtain FDA approval to commercially market arfyoar product candidates, we must submit to the RDRDA demonstratin
among other things, that the product candidatafis and effective for its intended use. This dertratien requires significant prelinical anc
clinical testing. As we do not possess the resauoceemploy all the personnel necessary to corsluatt testing we rely on contract rese
organizations for the majority of this testing wibr product candidates. As a result, we havedesgrol over the timing and other aspecl
our development program than if we performed ttstirtg entirely on our own. Third parties may notfpen their responsibilities on @
anticipated schedule. Delays in our developmengnams could significantly increase our product dgwaent costs and delay prod
commercialization. In addition, many of the facttitat may cause, or lead to a delay in the devedmpmrogram, may also ultimately leac
denial of regulatory approval of a product candidat

The commencement of clinical trials with our produandidates may be delayed for several reasoaliding but not limited t
delays in demonstrating sufficient pecknical safety required to obtain regulatory apioto commence a clinical trial, reaching agreets
on acceptable terms with prospective collaborapagners, manufacturing and quality assurance selef a sufficient supply of a prod
candidate for use in our clinical trials and/oraibing institutional review board approval to conda clinical trial at a prospective site. O
a clinical trial has begun, it may be delayed, suasied or terminated by us or the FDA or other r=guy authorities due to several fact
including ongoing discussions with the FDA or otlmiegulatory authorities regarding the scope orgiesif our clinical trials, failure
conduct clinical trials in accordance with regutgtoequirements, lower than anticipated recruitmantetention rate of patients in clini
trials, inspection of the clinical trial operations trial sites by the FDA or other regulatory artties, the imposition of a clinical hold
FDA, lack of adequate funding to continue clinitiédls; and/or negative or unanticipated resultsliviical trials.
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Clinical trials, where required by the FDA for coraraial approval, may not demonstrate safety oca€fy of our product candidat
Success in prelinical testing and early clinical trials does mwisure that later clinical trials will be successResults of later clinical trie
may not replicate the results of prior clinicahtsi and preslinical testing. Even if the results of our piviotéinical trials are positive, we a
our collaborative partners may have to commit suti&l time and additional resources to condudthtir preelinical and clinical studie
before we can submit NDAs or obtain regulatory appt for our product candidates.

Clinical trials may be expensive and difficult tesign and implement, in part because they are cubjerigorous regulato
requirements. Further, if participating subjectspatients in clinical studies suffer druglated adverse reactions during the course of
trials, or if we, our collaborative partner(s) betFDA believes that participating patients arepeixposed to unacceptable health risks, \
our collaborative partner(s) may have to suspeaclinical trials. Failure can occur at any stafjéhe trials, and our collaborative partne
could encounter problems causing the abandonmecdiini€al trials or the need to conduct additionhhical studies, relating to a prod
candidate.

Even if our clinical trials are completed as plashniheir results may not support our targeted pecothbel claims. The clinical tri
process may fail to demonstrate that our producticiates are safe and effective for their intendeel Such failure would cause us or
collaborative partner to abandon a product candidat may delay the development of other produadidates.

We May Not Obtain Required FDA Approval; the FDA Approval Process Is Time-Consuming and Expensive

The development, testing, manufacturing, marketind sale of pharmaceutical products are subjeektensive federal, state ¢
local regulation in the United States and othemtes. Satisfaction of all regulatory requiremetytgically takes many years, is depeni
upon the type, complexity and novelty of the prddiandidate, and requires the expenditure of snbataesources for research, developr
and testing. Substantially all of our operatiors subject to compliance with FDA regulations. Failto adhere to applicable FDA regulati
by us or our licensees, if any, would have a materiverse effect on our operations and finan@abion. In addition, in the event we
successful in developing product candidates fax Babther countries, we would become subject gailegion in such countries. Such fore
regulations and product approval requirements gpected to be time consuming and expensive.

We may encounter delays or rejections during aagestof the regulatory approval process based uperfailure of clinical c
laboratory data to demonstrate compliance withypon the failure of the products to meet, the FDxAguirements for safety, efficacy ¢
quality; and those requirements may become moiegsmt due to changes in regulatory agency policthe adoption of new regulatio
After submission of a marketing application, in fleem of an NDA, or a 505(b)(2) NDA the FDA may dethe application, may requ
additional testing or data and/or may require poatketing testing and surveillance to monitor thfety or efficacy of a product. The FI
commonly takes one to two years to grant final apar for a NDA, or 505(b)(2) NDA. Further, the tegrof approval of any marketi
application, including the labeling content, may i@re restrictive than we desire and could affée marketability of the produr
incorporating the Aversion® Technology.

Even if we comply with all FDA regulatory requirente, we may never obtain regulatory approval for @nour product candidats
If we fail to obtain regulatory approval for any ofir product candidates, we will have fewer sakeghbducts and corresponding lo
revenues. Even if we receive regulatory approvabwf products, such approval may involve limitaiam the indicated uses or marke
claims we may make for our products.

The FDA also has the authority to revoke or susppprovals of previously approved products for eatis debar companies ¢
individuals from participating in the druapproval process, to request recalls of allegediative products, to seize allegedly violal
products, to obtain injunctions to close manufantuplants allegedly not operating in conformitytlwcurrent Good Manufacturing Practi
(cGMP) and to stop shipments of allegedly violagiweducts. As any future source of Company revemilide derived from the sale of FC
approved products, the taking of any such actiothbyFDA would have a material adverse effect exGbmpany.
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We Must Maintain FDA Approval to Manufacture Our Pr oduct Candidates at Our Facility; Failure to Maintain Compliance with
FDA Requirements May Prevent or Delay the Manufactee of Our Product Candidates and Costs of Manufactte May Be Higher
Than Expected

We have constructed and installed the equipmenéssacy to manufacture clinical trial supplies of dwersion® Technolog
product candidates in tablet formulations at outv€y Indiana facility. To be used in clinical tisaall of our product candidates mus!
manufactured in conformity with current Good Marutfaing Practice (cGMP) regulations as interpretad enforced by the FDA. All su
product candidates must be manufactured, packaget labeled and stored in accordance with cGMPdifidations, enhancements
changes in manufacturing sites of marketed prodargtsin many circumstances, subject to FDA appraviaich may be subject to a leng
application process or which we may be unable tainbOur Culver, Indiana facility, as well as teasf any thirdparty manufacturers that
may use, are periodically subject to inspectiontiiyy FDA and other governmental agencies, and dpesagt these facilities could
interrupted or halted if such inspections are usfattory. Failure to comply with FDA or other gomenental regulations can result in fir
unanticipated compliance expenditures, recall aruse of products, total or partial suspension afdoiction or distribution, suspension
FDA review of our products, termination of ongoiregsearch, disqualification of data for submissiorrégulatory authorities, enforcem
actions, injunctions and criminal prosecution. Wenit have the facilities, equipment or personnghtinufacture commercial quantities
our product candidates and must rely on pharmam@wompany partners to manufacture and commezeiglioducts utilizing our Aversii
Technology.

If We Retain Collaborative Partners and Our Partners Do Not Satisfy Their Obligations, We Will Be Unake to Develop Oul
Partnered Product Candidates

To complete the development and regulatory approfvalir products and commercialize our product @hatds, if any are approv
by the FDA, we plan to enter into development amighimercialization agreements with strategically mmipharmaceutical company part
providing that such partners license our Aversion@hnologies and further develop, register, mariufacand commercialize multif
formulations and strengths of each product candidditizing our Aversion®Technology. We expect to receive a share of praiitd/o
royalty payments derived from such collaborativetppers' sale of products incorporating our Averglohechnology. Currently, we do r
have any such collaborative agreements, nor cae tieeany assurance that we will actually enter aatlaborative agreements in the fut
Our inability to enter into collaborative agreenggrdr our failure to maintain such agreements, ddinit the number of product candide
that we can develop and ultimately, decrease otenpial sources of any future revenues. In the even enter into any collaborati
agreements, we may not have dayd&y control over the activities of our collaboratipartners with respect to any product candidatsy
collaborative partner may not fulfill its obligatie under such agreements. If a collaborative pafaiks to fulfill its obligations under ¢
agreement with us, we may be unable to assume dhelapment of the product covered by that agreemertb enter into alternati
arrangements with a thinglarty. In addition, we may encounter delays indbmmercialization of the product candidate thdahéssubject of
collaboration agreement. Accordingly, our abilityreceive any revenue from the product candidaiesred by collaboration agreements
be dependent on the efforts of our collaborativeénga. We could be involved in disputes with a abbrative partner, which could leac
delays in or termination of, our development andnewercialization programs and result in time consignand expensive litigation
arbitration. In addition, any such dispute couldhidiish our collaborative partnersbommitment to us and reduce the resources theytelés
developing and commercializing our products. If @ollaborative partner terminates or breachesgteement, or otherwise fails to comp
its obligations in a timely manner, our chanceswfcessfully developing or commercializing our pretdcandidates would be materially :
adversely effected. Additionally, due to the natafehe market for our product candidates, it maynecessary for us to license all
significant portion of our product candidates t@iagle collaborator, thereby eliminating our oppaity to commercialize other prod
candidates with other collaborative partners.

The Market May Not Be Receptive to Products Incorpaating Our Aversion® Technology

The commercial success of products incorporatingAmersion® Technology that are approved for marketing by tbé and othe
regulatory authorities will depend on acceptancééglth care providers and others that such predaret clinically useful, cosffective ani
safe. There can be no assurance given, even ifuseeed in the development of products incorporating Aversion®Technology an
receive FDA approval for such products, that preslilecorporating the Aversion®@echnology would be accepted by health care pros
and others. Factors that may materially affect mgcceptance of products incorporating our Aver®idechnology include: (i) the relati
advantages and disadvantages of our Aversida@hnology compared to competitive abuse detetesfinologies; (ii) the relative timing
commercial launch of products utilizing our Avers® Technology compared to products incorporating cditipe abuse deterre
technologies; (iii) the relative timing of the rgateof marketing approvals and the countries inclhih§uch approvals are obtained; (iv)
relative safety and efficacy of products incorpmmgour Aversion®Technology compared to competitive products; anfi/pthe willingnes
of third party payors to reimburse for or otherwisgy for products incorporating our Aversion® Teclugy.
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Our product candidates, if successfully developed @ommercially launched, will compete with bothrremtly marketed and ne
products marketed by other companies. Health careigers may not accept or utilize any of our pradeandidates. Physicians and o
prescribers may not be inclined to prescribe thedpets utilizing our Aversion® Technology unless our products bring clear
demonstrable advantages over other products clyrmexatrketed for the same indications. If our praddizensed to partners do not ach
market acceptance, we may not be able to gendgatificant revenues or become profitable.

In the Event That We Are Successful in Bringing AnyProducts to Market, Our Revenues May Be Adverselffected If We Fail to
Obtain Acceptable Prices or Adequate Reimbursemerfor Our Products From Third-Party Payors

Our ability to commercialize pharmaceutical produsticcessfully may depend in part on the avaitgbilf reimbursement for o
products from government health administration anities, private health insurers, and other thgedty payors and administrators, incluc
Medicaid and Medicare. We cannot predict the abditg of reimbursement for newly-approved produ@tgorporating our Aversid®
Technology. Thirdearty payors and administrators, including stataligeid programs and Medicare, are challenging tieeg charged f
pharmaceutical products. Government and other-iartly payors increasingly are limiting both coveragd the level of reimbursement
new drugs. Thirgsarty insurance coverage may not be available tieqta for any of our products. The continuing emf government ai
third-party payors to contain or reduce the cos$thealth care may limit our commercial opportunitiygovernment and other thingarty
payors do not provide adequate coverage and regalment for any product incorporating our Aversioh@&hnology, health care provid
may not prescribe them or patients may ask to hhee health care providers to prescribe compepingducts with more favorat
reimbursement. In some foreign markets, pricing jaraditability of pharmaceutical products are subj® government control. In the Uni
States, we expect that there will continue to lileffal and state proposals for similar controlsaddition, we expect that increasing empt
on managed care in the United States will contittuput pressure on the pricing of pharmaceuticatipcts. Cost control initiatives col
decrease the price that we receive for any prododise future. Further, cost control initiativesutd impair our ability or the ability of o
partners to commercialize our products and ouitgaltd earn revenues from this commercialization.

Our Success Depends on Our Ability to Protect Ourritellectual Property

Our success depends in significant part on ouityld obtain patent protection for our Aversion®echnology, in the United Sta
and in other countries, and to enforce these patdifte patent positions of pharmaceutical firmsjuding us, are generally uncertain
involve complex legal and factual questions. Ndtatianding the Comparg/recent receipt of a Notice of Allowance from 8PTO relatin
to a non-provisional patent application relatinghe Aversion®Technology, there is no assurance that any of atenp application clain
contained in the Company’s other non-provisional grovisional patent applications for our Aversion@chnology will issue or, that a
such patent claims will be valid and enforceablairgt third-party infringement or that our produatfi not infringe any thirdparty patent ¢
intellectual property. Moreover, any patent claimigting to the Aversion®Technology may not be sufficiently broad to protihe product
incorporating the Aversion®Technology. In addition, issued patent claims maylallenged, invalidated or circumvented. Our qat&im:
may not afford us protection against competitorghwgimilar technology or permit the commercialinatiof our products without infringit
third-party patents or other intellectual propeights.

Our success also depends on our not infringingnpgissued to competitors or others. We may becawsge of patents and pat
applications belonging to competitors and otheas$ tlould require us to alter our technologies. Saltdrations could be time consuming
costly. We may not be able to obtain a licensengotachnology owned by or licensed to a third pémt we require to manufacture or ma
one or more products incorporating our Aversiom@hnology. Even if we can obtain a license, thmarfcial and other terms may
disadvantageous.

Our success also depends on our maintaining thédeatiality of our trade secrets and kndww. We seek to protect st
information by entering into confidentiality agreents with employees, potential collaborative pagneaw material suppliers, poten
investors and consultants. These agreements mayelaehed by such parties. We may not be able t@irolbin adequate, or perhaps,
remedy to such a breach. In addition, our tradeeteenay otherwise become known or be independeéethgloped by our competitors. (
inability to protect our intellectual property oo tommercialize our products without infringing rthparty patents or other intellect
property rights would have a material adverse éffecour operations and financial condition.

20




We May Become Involved in Patent Litigation or Othe Intellectual Property Proceedings Relating to OurAversion® Technology ol
Product Candidates Which Could Result in Liability for Damages or Delay or Stop Our Development and @omercialization Efforts

The pharmaceutical industry has been characterimedsignificant litigation and other proceedings amling patents, pate
applications and other intellectual property righthe types of situations in which we may becomeiggto such litigation or proceedir
include: (i) we may initiate litigation or otherqueedings against third parties to enforce ourmpaights or other intellectual property rigt
(i) we may initiate litigation or other proceedmaggainst third parties to seek to invalidate thiepts held by such third parties or to obt:
judgment that our product candidates do not infrisgich third parties' patents; (iii) if our compms file patent applications that cle
technology also claimed by us, we may participataierference or opposition proceedings to deteentihe priority of invention; and (iv)
third parties initiate litigation claiming that oproduct candidates infringe their patent or otinéellectual property rights, we will need
defend against such proceedings. The failure ofGbmpany to avoid infringing thirdarty patents and intellectual property rights he
commercialization of products utilizing the Avens® Technology will have a material adverse effect ba €Company's operations
financial condition.

The costs of resolving any patent litigation or esthintellectual property proceeding, even if resdivin our favor, could t
substantial. Many of our competitors will be aldestistain the cost of such litigation and procegslimore effectively than we can becaus
their substantially greater resources. Uncertangsulting from the initiation and continuationpaftent litigation or other intellectual prope
proceedings could have a material adverse effecuorability to compete in the marketplace. Patiigiation and other intellectual prope
proceedings may also consume significant managetinesit

Our Aversion®Technology may be found to infringe upon claimgafents owned by others. If we determine or if weefaund tc
be infringing on a patent held by another, we migine to seek a license to make, use, and sepidtented technologies. In that case
might not be able to obtain such license on teroegptable to us, or at all. If a legal action isught against us, we could incur substa
defense costs, and any such action might not lwdvessin our favor. If such a dispute is resolvegiast us, we may have to pay the ¢
party large sums of money and our use of our AgeiTechnology and the testing, manufacturing, marketinsale of one or more of ¢
products could be restricted or prohibited. Evelorpto resolution of such a dispute, use of our Bien® Technology and the testir
manufacturing, marketing or sale of one or morewfproducts could be restricted or prohibited.

Moreover, other parties could have blocking pat@iits to products made using the Aversiorf@chnology. The Company is aw
of certain United States and international pengiatgnt applications owned by third parties claimabgse deterrent technologies, includir
least one pending patent application which, iféskin its present form, may encompass our leaduygtarhndidate. If such patent applicati
result in issued patents, with claims encompassurgiversion® Technology or products, the Company may need taiolat license to su
patents, should one be available, or alternativallgr the Aversion® Technology so as to avoid infringing such thiraty patents. If tr
Company is unable to obtain a license on comméyaiahsonable terms, the Company could be redtrictgrevented from commercializi
products utilizing the Aversion®Technology. Additionally, any alterations to the eksion® Technology in view of pending thirgarty
patent applications could be time consuming andycasd may not result in technologies or produbtt are norinfringing or commerciall
viable.

The Company expects to seek and obtain licensasidb patents or patent applications when, in thegamy's judgment, su
licenses are needed. If any such licenses arereeljthere can be no assurances that the Compaulyg e able to obtain any such licensi
commercially favorable terms, or at all, and ifgbdicenses are not obtained, the Company mightéented from making, using and sel
the Aversion® Technology and products. The Company's failurebtiaio a license to any technology that it may regjwould materiall
harm the Company's business, financial conditicsh rsults of operations. We cannot assure thaCtirapany's products and/or action
developing products incorporating our Aversiof@chnology will not infringe third-party patents.
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We May Be Exposed to Product Liability Claims and May Not Be Able to Obtain Adequate Product Liability Insurance

Our business exposes us to potential product iigbiEks, which are inherent in the testing, mamiifiring, marketing and sale
pharmaceutical products. Product liability claimgyimi be made by consumers, health care providepharmaceutical companies or ott
that sell our products. These claims may be mada @ith respect to those products that are manufeattin licensed and regulated facili
or that otherwise possess regulatory approvaldorrercial sale.

We are currently covered by clinical trial prodliability insurance on a claimsxade basis. This coverage may not be adequ
cover any product liability claims. Product liabjlicoverage is expensive. In the future, we maybeoable to maintain or obtain such proi
liability insurance at a reasonable cost or inisigit amounts to protect us against losses du@hdity claims. Any claims that are r
covered by product liability insurance could havaaterial adverse effect on our business, finargabition and results of operations.

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bgueat litigation. Those companies with significeinancial resources will be bet
able to bring and defend any such litigation. Nsuasnce can be given that we would not become wedoin such litigation. Such litigati
may have material adverse consequences to the @gmpmancial conditions and operations.

We Face Significant Competition Which May Result inOthers Developing or Commercializing Products Bef@ or More Successfull
Than We Do

The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitivedais affected by new technologies, governmentgulegions, health ca
legislation, availability of financing, litigatioand other factors. If our product candidates rex&iA approval, they will compete witt
number of existing and future drugs and therape&kbped, manufactured and marketed by otherstibgisr future competing products n
provide greater therapeutic convenience, clinialother benefits for a specific indication than qaroducts, or may offer compara
performance at lower costs. If our products arebleto capture and maintain market share, we wilathieve significant product reven
and our financial condition will be materially adsely affected.

We will compete for market share against fully greged pharmaceutical companies or other compaimé<collaborate with larg
pharmaceutical companies, academic institutionsegonent agencies and other public and privatearekeorganizations. Many of the
competitors have products already approved, madkatén development. In addition, many of these petitors, either alone or together v
their collaborative partners, operate larger redeand development programs, have substantiallstgrdinancial resources, experienc
developing products, obtaining FDA and other reguiaapprovals, formulating and manufacturing drugsd commercializing drugs than
do.

We are concentrating substantially all of our éfayn developing product candidates incorporatimgAversion®Technology. Th
commercial success of products using our Aversidieg®hnology will depend, in large part, on the isignof competition and the relati
timing and sequence of new product approvals frémrocompanies developing, marketing, selling aisttiduting opioid analgesic produ
and other drugs and technologies that compete thighproducts incorporating our AversionBchnology. Alternative technologies
products are being developed to improve or reptheeuse of opioid analgesics. In the event thah flternatives to opioid analgesics
widely adopted, then the market for products inocaifing our Aversion® echnology may be substantially decreased subs#ygueducing
the Company’s opportunity to generate future reesrand profits.

Key Personnel Are Critical to Our Business, and OuiFuture Success Depends on Our Ability to Retain Tém

We are highly dependent on our management andtgiciéeam, including Andrew D. Reddick, our Premid and Chief Executi
Officer, and Ron J. Spivey, Ph.D. our Senior VicesRlent and Chief Scientific Officer. We may netdble to attract and retain personne
acceptable terms given the intense competition siach personnel among biotechnology, pharmaceutioal healthcare compani
universities and non-profit research institutionthile we have employment agreements with certaipleyees, all of our employees are at-
will employees who may terminate their employmeithwhe Company at any time. We do not have keggarel insurance on any of «
officers or employees. The loss of any of our keyspnnel, or the inability to attract and retaictspersonnel, may significantly delay
prevent the achievement of our product and teclyyoldevelopment and business objectives and coultbrially adversely affect o
business, financial condition and results of sysérations.
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The U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration ("DEA") Li mits the Availability of the Active Ingredients Useal in Our Product
Candidates and, as a Result, Our Quota May Not BeuHficient to Complete Clinical Trials or May Result in Development Delays

The DEA regulates certain finished products andk ladtive pharmaceutical ingredients. Certain opiaiive pharmaceutic
ingredients in our current product candidates &ssdied by the DEA as Schedule Il substances utigeControlled Substances Act of 1¢
Consequently, their manufacture, research, shipnséartage, sale and use are subject to a high eednegulation. Furthermore, the amc
of Schedule Il substances we can obtain for clinidals and commercial distribution is limited lge DEA and our quota may not
sufficient to complete clinical trials. There igiak that DEA regulations may interfere with thepply of the products used in our clini
trials.

The Market Price of Our Common Stock May Be Volatie

The market price of our common stock, like the meanirice for securities of pharmaceutical, biopheceutical and biotechnolo
companies, has historically been highly volatileeTmarket from time to time experiences signifigante and volume fluctuations that
unrelated to the operating performance of particatampanies. Factors, such as fluctuations in qarating results, future sales of
common stock, announcements of technological intimvs or new therapeutic products by us or our @fitge's, announcements regarc
collaborative agreements, clinical trial resultsygrnment regulation, developments in patent oerogioprietary rights, public concern a:
the safety of drugs developed by us or others, gdmin reimbursement policies, comments made byrisies analysts and general ma
conditions may have a significant effect on the kaaprice of our common stock. In the past, follogviperiods of volatility in the mark
price of a company's securities, securities claieralitigation has often been instituted. A sétieis class action suit against us could rest
substantial costs, potential liabilities and theedsion of management's attention and resources.

The Company's common stock trades on the OTC RullBbard, a NASD-sponsored intdealer quotation system. As
Company's common stock is not quoted on a stockamge and is not qualified for inclusion on the NPASmall-Cap Market, our comm
stock could be subject to a rule by the Securiiied Exchange Commission that imposes additionakgadactice requirements on broker-
dealers who sell such securities to persons olfaar éstablished customers and accredited invegtorsransactions covered by this rule,
brokerdealer must make a special suitability determimatio the purchaser and have received the purckasstten consent for a transact
prior to sale. Consequently, the rule may affeetabhility of brokerdealers to sell the Company's common stock. Tlsene iguarantee that
active trading market for our common stock willhaintained on the OTC Bulletin Board. Shareholaeay be not able to sell their share
common stock quickly or at the latest market pifiteading in our common stock is not active.

Our Quarterly Results of Operations Will Fluctuate, and These Fluctuations Could Cause Our Stock Pric® Decline

Our quarterly operating results are likely to flumte in the future. These fluctuations could camsestock price to decline. T
nature of our business involves variable factooshsas the timing of the research, developmentragdlatory pathways of our prod
candidates that could cause our operating resuftadtuate.

No Dividends

The Company has not declared and paid cash dividendts common stock in the past, and the Complaeg not anticipate payi
any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Téragany's senior term loan indebtedness prohib#g#yment of cash dividends.

Control of the Company

GCE Holdings LLC beneficially owns approximately¥s7 of the Company's outstanding common stock. In aiddipursuant to tt
terms of the Amended and Restated Voting Agreemated February 6, 2004, as amended, between th@&gnand the former holders
the Company's outstanding convertible preferredkstall such shareholders have agreed that thedBafaDirectors shall be comprised of
more than seven members, four of whom shall bel¢éiseggnees of GCE Holdings LLC (the assignee ahallCompanys preferred stock pri
to its conversion into common stock formerly heyjddach of Care Capital Investments Il, LP, Carei@h@ffshore Investments I, LP, Es:
Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., Galen Partnetsrhational Ill, L.P., Galen Partners lll, L.P.da@alen Employee Fund lll, L.P.). A
result, GCE Holdings LLC, in view of its ownershigrcentage of the Company and by virtue of its radiiig position on the Compan'
Board of Directors, will be able to control or sifigantly influence all matters requiring approw®} our shareholders, including the appr
of mergers or other business combination transatidhe interests of GCE Holdings LLC may not alsvagincide with the interests of ot
shareholders and such entity may take action iameck of its interests to the detriment of our ostereholders.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company leases from an unaffiliated Lessoryapmately 1,600 square feet of administrative c#fispace at 616 N. No
Court, Suite 120, Palatine, Illinois 60067. Theskeagreement has a term expiring August 31, 200&.ldase agreement provides for 1
property taxes, common area maintenance and jelisarvices on an annualized basis of approxim&i29,200 per year. This leased of
space is utilized for the Company's administratimarketing and business development functions.

The Company conducts research, development, laiygratevelopment scale and NDA submission batckest@nufacturing ar
warehousing activities relating to the Aversion®echnology at its facility located at 16235 Statea® 17, Culver, Indiana (theCtlvel
Facility”). At this location the Company's Acura &maceutical Technologies, Inc. subsidiary owns28,600 square foot facility with
approximately 7,000 square feet of warehouse, D0s@Dare feet of manufacturing space, 6,000 sdeatef research and development
and 5,000 square feet of administrative and stospgee. The facility is located on approximatelya@®es of land. The Culver Facility
subject to a mortgage lien granted in favor oflibders of the Company’s 2004 Note . See “ltem @nhfgemens Discussion and Analy:
of Financial Condition and Results of Operatiohsquidity and Capital Resources - Amendment to \WWat§erm Loan Agreement.”

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
None.
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

The Company's 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholdexs aeld on December 14, 2006 (the “Annual Meetinigi'connection wit
the Annual Meeting proxies were solicited by mamaget pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Secariizchange Act of 1934,
amended. On the record date for the Annual MeetivegCompany's outstanding voting securities coesiof 330,564,049 shares of comr
stock, of which 317,755,577 shares were represantgerson or by proxy at the Annual Meetifg. the Annual Meeting, the followir
matters were submitted to a vote of the Comparotiag security holders, with the results indicalbetow:

1. Election of Directors: The following six (6)dumbent directors were elected to serve untihted Annual Meeting of
Shareholders. The tabulation of votes was as faliow

Nominee For Withheld
Richard J. Markham 317,584,81 170,76¢
Immanuel Thangaraj 317,541,21 214,36¢
Bruce F. Wesson 317,542,88 212,69t
Andrew D. Reddick 317,526,22 229,35(
William A. Sumner 317,573,22 182,35:
William G. Skelly 317,614,50 141,06
2. Proposal to grant the Board of Directors authaiwtyamend the Compars/Restated Certificate of Incorporation to effeceaers

stock split at one of six ratios. The tabulatiorvofes was as follows:

For Against Abstained Not Voted

315,212,251 2,293,92. 249,40: 0

3. Proposal to ratify an amendment to the Compah998 Stock Option Plan to make such Plan comphiéth Section 409A of tr
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Thation of votes was as follows:

For Against Abstained Not Voted

276,689,351 685,19¢ 207,69: 40,173,33
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4. Proposal to ratify the adoption of the Company’82®estricted Stock Unit Award Plan. The tabulattbrotes was as follows:

For Against Abstained Not Voted
270,037,814 7,327,83 216,59« 40,173,33
5. Proposal to Ratify the Company’s independegistered public accounting firm for the currestél year.

The tabulation of votes was as follows:

For Against Abstained Not Voted
317,392,094 165,57¢ 197,90: 0

PART Il
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND R ELATED SECURITY HOLDER MATTERS
Market and Market Prices of Common Stor
Set forth below for the periods indicated are tigdland low bid prices for the Company's Commorcksfor trading in the Commi

Stock on the OTC Bulletin Board as reported by@ieC Bulletin Board. Such over-the-counter markeattgtions reflect intedealer price:
without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission andy not necessarily represent actual transactions.

BID PRICE
PERIOD HIGH $ LOW $
2005 Fiscal Year
First Quarter 0.7C 0.3¢
Second Quarter 0.81 0.41
Third Quarter 0.7: 0.4C
Fourth Quarter 1.3¢€ 0.27
2006 Fiscal Year
First Quarter 0.91 0.2t
Second Quarter 0.7¢ 0.5C
Third Quarter 1.0¢ 0.5¢
Fourth Quarter 0.92 0.5¢
2007 Fiscal Year
First Quarter (through February 1, 2007) 0.7¢ 0.6¢
Holders

There were approximately639 holders of record of the Company's common stockeloruary 1, 2007. This number, however,
not reflect the ultimate number of beneficial heflef the Company's Common Stock.

Dividend Policy

The payment of cash dividends from current earniagsubject to the discretion of the Board of Dioes and is dependent uf
many factors, including the Company's earningsgagsital needs and its general financial condititime terms of the Term Loan Agreen
assigned by Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. to Cap#aCdnvestments Il, LP, Essex Woodlands Healtmtdees V, L.P., Galen Partners
L.P. and certain other stockholders of the Compasyvell as the Bridge Loan Agreements between tirapgany and the bridge lendet
party thereto (see “ltem 7. Management’s Discussioth Analysis of Financial Condition and Result®gferations Liquidity and Capite
Resources - Bridge Loan Financing”, and “ltem 18rt&@in Relationships and Related Transactions,Carettor Independencelrohibit the
Company from paying cash dividends. The Company dio¢ intend to pay any cash dividends in the feable future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securit

During the quarter ended December 31, 2006, thepaagnissued 201,365 shares of the Compa@pmmon Stock in satisfaction
the payment of $161,000 in accrued interest duesidéer 31, 2006 under the Compangénior secured term note and 233,054 shareg



Companys Common Stock in satisfaction of the payment of&5Q00 in accrued interest due December 31, 20@kruthe
Companys Bridge Loan agreements. Each of the recipientsuoh Common Stock is an Accredited Investor agdéfin Rule 501(a)
Regulation D promulgated under the Securities 8&ach Common Stock was issued without registratiwfeu the Securities Act in reliar
upon Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and Redgpriad promulgated thereunder.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Cpensation Plan

Reference is made to “ltem 11 - Executive CompémsatRestricted Stock Unit Award Plan; and Securitieshtwized for Issuant
Under Equity Compensation Plans”.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data presenédolwv for the years ended December 31, 2006, 20084, 2003 and 2002 :
derived from the Company's audited Consolidate@uitial Statements. The Consolidated Financial Siat¢s as of December 31, 2006
2005 and for each of the years in the thyear period ended December 31, 2006, and the eeffaateon, are included elsewhere herein,
selected financial information as of and for tharngeended December 31, 2003 and 2002 are derivedtfre audited Consolidated Finan

Statements of the Company not presented herein.

The information set forth below is qualified by eefnce to, and should be read in conjunction wiih, Consolidated Financ

Statements and related notes thereto included k&sewin this Report and "ltem 7.

Condition and Results of Operations".

Management's Bisicn and Analysis of Financ

OPERATING DATA (|n thousands): 2006 2005 2004 (1) 2003 2002
Net revenue: — $ — $ 83¢ $ 575( $ 8,20¢
Operating Costs;

Cost of manufacturing — — 1,43¢ 11,70¢ 12,53¢

Research and development 5,172 6,26¢ 4,13( 1,46(C 1,517

Selling, marketing, general and administrative eiges 5,654 5,29¢ 5,23¢ 7,90z 7,21¢€

Plant shutdown costs — — — 1,92¢ (12€)
Interest expense (1,140 (63€) (2,962 (6,007 (4,729
Interest income 18 36 59 25 15
Write-off of debt discount and deferred private teffiering

costs — — (41,807 — —
Amortization of debt discount and deferred privégdbt

offering costs (183 — (30,689 (24,777) (12,559
Gain on debt restructuring — — 12,40: — —
Gain on fair value change of conversion features 4,23¢ — — — —
Gain on fair value change of common stock warrants 2,16¢ — — — —
(Loss) gain on asset disposals (22 81 2,35¢ — —
Other (expense) income (213 5 603 464 96€
Loss before income tax benefit (5,967 (12,07%) (69,996 (48,455 (59,589
Income tax benefit — — — — _
Net loss (5,967) $ (12,079 $ (69,996 $ (48,455 $ (59,589
Basic and diluted loss per common share applidable
common stockholders (0.06 $ (0.1 $ (3.20 $ (2.26 $ (3.90
Weighted average number of outstanding common shar: 344,95¢ 66,79¢ 21,86 21,22] 15,26:
DECEMBER 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

BALANCE SHEET DATA (in thousands):
Working capital (deficiency) (28,64) $ (2,479 $ 2,42 3,770 $ 5,93
Total assets 1,61¢ 1,792 4,96 6,622 19,36¢
Total debt, net (2) 28,781 7,61: 5,09: 53,14 25,39¢
Total liabilities 39,89¢ 7,954 6,052 58,68¢ 31,63:
Accumulated deficit (317,54)) (291,61 (279,54)) (209,54¢) (161,090
Stockholders' deficit (38,280 $ (6,162 $ (1,085 $ (52,067 $ (12,269

(1) Reflects the impact of significant corporatel éinancing restructuring in 2004 as described ates C and F to the consolidated financial

statements.



(2) Includes the estimated fair value of converdeatures of convertible debt outstanding as ofdbawmer 31, 2006.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This discussion and analysis should be read inucmtipn with the Compang’financial statements and accompanying notesdec
elsewhere in this Report. Operating results areneoessarily indicative of results that may oceuthie future periods. Certain statemen
this Report under this Item 7, Item 1, "Busine#&n 1A, “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Reéponstitute "forwardeoking statement:
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litiga Reform Act of 1995. Such forwatdeking statements involve known and unkni
risks, uncertainties and other factors which mayseahe actual results, performance or achievenuérite Company, or industry results
be materially different from any future resultsyfpemance, or achievements expressed or impliedumh forward-looking statementSe¢
page 1 of this Report for a description of the nsighificant of such factors .

Company Overview

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. is a specialty pharmigead company engaged in research, developmentramifacture of innovati
Aversion® (abuse deterrent) Technology and relggemtiuct candidates. Product candidates develop#d Awersion® Technology an
containing opioid analgesic active ingredients iatended to effectively treat pain and also disagerthe three most common methoc
pharmaceutical product misuse and abuse includihdgntravenous injection of dissolved tablets apsules, (i) nasal snorting of crus
tablets or capsules and (iii) intentional swallogviof excessive numbers of tablets or capsules. @¥yAablets, the Comparg/lead produr
candidate utilizing Aversion® Technology, is beideveloped pursuant to an active investigational davg application (“IND")on file with
the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA"The Company conducts internal research, developntmbratory, manufacturing a
warehousing activities for Aversion®echnology at its Culver, Indiana facility. The @80 square foot facility is registered by the WD®ug
Enforcement Administration (“DEA”) to perform reseh, development and manufacture of certain Scleetil V finished dosage for
products. In addition to internal capabilities aactivities, the Company engages numerous of phauti@al product contract resea
organizations (“CROs"with expertise in regulatory affairs, clinical tridesign and monitoring, clinical data managemémtstatistics
medical writing, laboratory testing and relatedvamss. Such CROs perform development services fofADF Tablets and other prodi
candidates under the direction of the Company.fAkedate of this Report, the Company has one pag&nt Notice of Allowance relating
its Aversion® Technology, In addition, as of theaalaf this Report, the Company has two U.S. poovisional patent publications, one L
non-provisional patent application, one U.S. provisiopatent application, and two international patpuablications pending relating to
Aversion® Technology. The Company also has seven U.S. isgaehts and has one U.S. patent publication perneiliaged to its Opioi
Synthesis Technologies. As of the date of this Repbe Company has retained all of the intellecpraperty and commercial rights
Aversion® Technology and related product candidates, andoiieid Synthesis Technologies. To generate revéheeCompany plans
enter into development and commercialization agerds with strategically focused pharmaceutical camyppartners (the "Partner
providing that such Partners license product catdil utilizing Aversion®Technology and further develop, register and cororakze
multiple strengths and package sizes of such ptothrdidates. The Company expects to receive revanthe form of milestone payme
and a share of profits and/or royalty paymentsveerifrom the Partners' future sale of productsripomting Aversion®Technology. As ¢
the date of this Report, the Company did not hamyeexecuted collaborative agreements with Partmenscan there be any assurance the
Company will successfully enter into such collalivemagreements in the future.

The Company was historically engaged in developnoénmiovel manufacturing processes (the "Opioid Bgsis Technologies
intended for use in the commercial manufacture ertain bulk opioid active pharmaceutical ingredsenh early 2005, the Compe
announced the suspension of activities relatinthéoOpioid Synthesis Technologies pending the depiA Administrator's determinatis
relating to the Compang’ pending application for registration to importraaic raw materials (the "Narcotic Raw Materialmplor!
Application”) filed with the DEA in early 2001. Ifate 2006 the Company notified the DEA that it weithdrawing the Narcotic Ra
Materials Import Application and subsequently th@mpany has discontinued all activities relatinght® Opioid Synthesis Technologies.
withdrawal of the Narcotic Raw Material Import Apgation and the discontinuation of all activitieslating to the Opioid Synthe:
Technologies allows the Company to focus all ofésources on developing and commercializing iter8ion® @buse deterrent) Technolc
and related product candidates.

27




The Company has incurred net losses since 1992hen@ompany's consolidated financial statementsémh of the years enc
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 have been preparadjoingeoncern basis; however, in its report dated Ma®;h2D07 regarding tho
financial statements, our registered independebligpaccounting firm referred to substantial doabbut the Company's ability to continue
a goingeoncern as a result of recurring losses, net dagétiiciency and negative cash flows. The Compafutlsre profitability will depen
on several factors, including : (a) the Companybdity to secure additional financing to fund conted operations; (bthe successf
completion of the formulation development, clinitasting and acceptable regulatory review of prodandidates utilizing the Aversi@n
Technology; (c) the Company's ability to negotiatel execute appropriate licensing, developmentcamamercialization agreements w
interested third parties relating to the Compangtoduct candidates; and (d) the successful conafieation by licensees of produ
incorporating the Aversion® Technology without inffing the patents and other intellectual propéaghts of third parties.

Company'’s Present Financial Condition

At December 31, 2006, the Company had cash andezpshalents of approximately $228,000 compareapiaroximately $260,0(
at December 31, 2005. The Company had a workingatafeficit of $28.6 million at December 31, 2086d $2.5 million at December .
2005. The Company had an accumulated deficit ofeqimately $317.5 million and $291.6 million at x@wber 31, 2006 and December
2005, respectively. The Company incurred a lossifoperations of approximately $10.8 million andea loss of approximately $6.0 milli
during the year ended December 31, 2006, as coapar@ loss from operations of $11.6 million anded loss of $12.1 million for the ye
ended December 31, 2005.

As of March 1, 2007, the Company had cash and egslvalents of approximately $492,000. The Compastimates that its curre
cash reserves will be sufficient to fund the depelent of the Aversion@ echnology and related operating expenses throamghNMarct
2007. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources - CaskeRves and Funding Requirements.”

Results of Operations for the Year Ended Decembgr 3006 and 200!

Research and Development Expen3és Companys research and development expenses for the ydad &@ecember 31, 2006 ¢
2005 were as follows (in thousands):

12/31/06-12/31/05 12/31/06-12/31/05
12/31/06 12/31/05 R&D EXPENSES R&D EXPENSES
R&D EXPENSES R&D EXPENSES $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$ 517:  $ 6,265 $ (1,099 (17.9%

Research and development expenses related printardgvelopment of our AversichTechnology, including costs of preclini
studies, clinical trials, clinical supplies andateld formulation and design costs, salaries andrgibrsonnel related expenses, and fa
costs. Included in the 2006 and 2005 results anecash stoclased compensation charges of $2,067 and $3,3%avely, and includs
in the 2005 result is a $284 benefit from the reakof an incentive compensation accrual. Excludirgstockbased compensation expe
and the accrued incentive compensation benefitethes a $119 decrease in overall research andogevent expenses. This decrease
primarily the net result of an increase in clinistddy and related consulting expenses of $19¢fffg lower wage and benefit costs of $
reflecting fewer Company employees, lower facibperating costs of $50, and reduced outside testipgnses on discontinued product
$44 in 2006. The decrease in stdised compensation expense of $1,258 occurred sedae number of stock options and restricted :
units that vested in 2006 was less than 2005.

Selling, Marketing, General and Administrative Enpes:The Companys selling, marketing, general and administrativieesmses fc
the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 werdl@awd (in thousands):

12/31/06

SELLING 12/31/06-12/31/05 12/31/06-12/31/05
MARKETING. 12/31/05 SELLING, MARKETING, SELLING, MARKETING,
G&A SELLING, MARKETING, G&A EXPENSES G&A EXPENSES
EXPENSES G&A EXPENSES $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$ 565¢ $ 529 $ 35¢ 6.7%

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the niagkekpenses consisted of Aversioi®hnology market research studies
payroll costs. The Compars/general and administrative expenses consistéegaf, audit and other professional fees, corparatarance
and payroll costs. Included in the 2006 and 20G&ulte is $3,517 and $3,133, respectively, of stomked compensation expense. .
included in the 2005 result is a $175 benefit fritwm reversal of an incentive compensation acciratluding the stoclbased compensati



expense and incentive compensation benefit, theketing, general and administrative expenses deetlehy $201 primaril
attributable to a reduction in legal costs as ailltesf less corporate and financial restructurirftprés. Of the increase in stodiase:
compensation expense, $680 was from the Febru@§ gfant of two million restricted stock units ttetCompany's independent direct
The stockbased compensation expense attributable to emp@aemeased by $295 because the number of stodn®pind restricted sto
units that vested in 2006 were less than 2005.
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Interest Expense, net of Interest Incoribe Companys interest expense, net of interest income forydse ended December
2006 and 2005 was as follows (in thousands):

12/31/06-12/31/05 12/31/06-12/31/05
12/31/06 12/31/05 INTEREST EXPENSE, INTEREST EXPENSE,
INTEREST INTEREST EXPENSE, NET OF INTEREST NET OF INTEREST
EXPENSE, NET OF NET OF INTEREST INCOME INCOME
INTEREST INCOME INCOME $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$ 1,127 $ 60C $ 522 87.1%

The Company incurs interest at the prime inter&®t plus 4.5%, payable quarterly in common stookif$5.0 million secured tel
note payable. The Company incurs 10% annual irttepayable quarterly, on its $7.8 million Bridgedts. Interest on such Bridge Lo
through June 30, 2006 was paid in cash. Commenwitiginterest due under such Bridge Loans at Selp¢erB0, 2006, all such interest\
paid in the Compang’ Common Stock. The increase in net interest expen2006 resulted from the addition of $5.3 milliof Bridge Loan
during 2006 and increases in the prime interest rat

Net Loss:The Company’s net loss for the year ended Deceihe2006 and 2005 was as follows (in thousands):

12/31/06-12/31/05 12/31/06-12/31/05
12/31/06 12/31/05 NET LOSS NET LOSS
NET LOSS NET LOSS $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$
5,967 $ 12,07t ($6,109) (50.€%)

Included in the net loss for 2006 is a non cashpamation charge of $5,726 arising from the isseiafistock options and restric
stock units as compared to $6,459 for such chang2805.

The November 2006 amendment of the conversionreatu all of the then outstanding Bridge Loans pbed with the requiremer
to separate the value of the conversion featuma fite debt, required the Company to record theevafuhe amended conversion featur:
that outstanding debt as a liability and a losstlmn modification of debt. The Company assigned laevaf $19,951 to these convers
features and reflected the modification loss asraeash deemed dividend. While the aggregatecash-deemed dividend of $19,960 did
impact reported net loss, it does have an impatbssper common share.

Upon revaluing the aggregate conversion featuresllooutstanding Bridge Loans as of December 3062the Company record
the resulting decrease in value as a $4,235 g&ie.dEcrease in the Compasigommon stock trading price from November 200ge@ar en
resulted in the decrease in the value of the caimeliability.

As a result of the November 2006 amendment to tidgB Loans, a $12,948 liability and correspondieduction in additional paid-
in capital, for the common stock purchase warramts recorded. The mark to market fair value adjestsito the warrant liability resulted
a $2,164 gain recorded in the"quarter 2006. Future period fair value adjustmeatthe warrant liability could result in furtheriga ol
losses.

The Companyg loss per share in 2006 versus 2005 ($0.08 v&®&Us, respectively) was favorably impacted by ¢beversion o
November 10, 2005 of approximately 218.0 millioeferred shares into approximately 305.8 million omon shares. On a weighted avel
basis, this increased the number of common sharéiloss per share calculation to approximatély Billion shares in 2006 as compare
66.6 million shares in 2005. For periods prior tovember 10, 2005, the Company’s convertible preteshares were anditutive anc
therefore excluded from the loss per share caloulafdditionally, the 2006 loss per share was ioipd by the norcash deemed divide
described above.

Results of Operations for the Year Ended Decembgr 3005 and 200

In comparing results of operations for the yeareghBecember 31, 2005 with those for 2004 it is irtgrt to consider that in 20
the Company focused all of its efforts and resasiree research and development activities and, gubsé to March, 2004, no long
maintained any generic product manufacturing fiedlior conducted any finished dosage generic mtoshanufacturing activities. As su
the Company had no product revenues or manufagtespenses in 2005.
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Research and Development Expen3és Companys research and development expenses for the ydad &@ecember 31, 2005 ¢
2004 were as follows (in thousands):

12/31/05 12/31/05-12/31/04 12/31/05-12/31/04
R&D 12/31/04 R&D EXPENSES R&D EXPENSES
EXPENSES R&D EXPENSES $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$ 6,265  $ 413C  $ 2,13¢ 51.7%

During 2005 and 2004, research and developmentnsggeconsisted primarily of development of our Aie® Technology
including costs of preclinical, clinical trials,imical supplies and related formulation and desigsts, salaries and other personnel re
expenses, and facility costs. The increase in R&Peases in 2005 versus 2004 is primarily due ta¢leerding of a non cash compense
charge of $3,325 arising from the issuance of stiations and restricted stock units to R&D persdmsecompared to $553 for such item
2004. Except for this non cash compensation ch&8& expenses declined in 2005 versus 2004 by ampedely $637 primarily as a res
of elimination in 2004 of the development of gengrharmaceutical products and the suspension if @bfurther development of the Opi
Synthesis Technologies.

Selling, Marketing, General and Administrative Expes:The Companys selling, marketing, general and administrativeesses fc
the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 werdl@awd (in thousands):

12/31/05 12/31/05-12/31/04 12/31/05-12/31/04
SELLING, 12/31/04 SELLING, MARKETING, SELLING, MARKETING,
MARKETING, SELLING, MARKETING, G&A EXPENSES G&A EXPENSES
G&A EXPENSES G&A EXPENSES $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$ 5,296 $ 523t $ 58 1.1%

Included in 2005 selling, marketing, general anthiadstrative expenses is a non cash compensatiargetof $3,133 arising frc
the issuance of stock options and restricted stmits to SG&A personnel as compared to only $1 #53uch items in 2004. Except for t
charge, SG&A expenses in 2005 decreased approxin&e622 as compared to 2004 due primarily toGoenpanys 2004 discontinuatic
of the manufacture and sale of generic pharma@tioducts and the related reduction of its adstiative and manufacturing support staff.

Interest Expense, net of Interest Incoribe Companys interest expense, net of interest income forydee ended December
2005 and 2004 was as follows (in thousands):

12/31/05-12/31/04 12/31/05-12/31/04
12/31/05 12/31/04 INTEREST EXPENSE, INTEREST EXPENSE,
INTEREST INTEREST EXPENSE, NET OF INTEREST NET OF INTEREST
EXPENSE, NET OF NET OF INTEREST INCOME INCOME
INTEREST INCOME INCOME $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$ 60C $ 2,90: ($ 2,30) (79.5%)

The change in the interest expense, net of interesimiecreflects the interest savings from the restirireg of the Company's tel
note indebtedness to Watson Pharmaceuticals,irieebruary, 2004 as well as the conversion of the@anys 5% convertible debentu
into convertible preferred stock on August 13, 2004

The Company incurred no amortization of debt distau deferred private debt offering costs for yiear ended December 31, 2
as all such costs were fully amortized to expems@0d04 (an aggregate charge of $72.5 million) wh#rconvertible debentures wi
converted into preferred stock. Similarly, the egtiishment of approximately $16.4 million of the #8m debt gave rise in 2004 to a gai
$12,401.
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Net Loss:The Company’s net loss for the year ended DeceBihe2005 and 2004 was as follows (in thousands):

12/31/05-12/31/04 12/31/05-12/31/04
12/31/05 12/31/04 NET LOSS NET LOSS
NET LOSS NET LOSS $ CHANGE % CHANGE
$ 12,078 $ 69,99¢ ($57,92) (82.7%)

Included in the net loss for 2005 is a non cashpeeation charge of $6,458 arising from the isseiafistock options and restric
stock units as compared to $2,006 for such charg@904. Certain significant net expenses occumef004 as a result of restructur
operations and conversion of debt to preferredesharhese net expenses included the full amouizaif the remaining debt discount i
deferred private debt offering costs of $72,491ngan debt restructuring of the Watson note of,402 and asset sales of $2,359, net int
expense of $2,903 and other income of $603 relatirsgttiements of a liabilities at discount.

The Companyg loss per share in 2005 versus 2004 ($0.18 v&329, respectively) was favorably impacted by ¢beversion o
November 10, 2005 of approximately 218.0 millioeferred shares into approximately 305.8 million aoon shares. On a weighted avel
basis, this increased the number of common shar®iloss per share calculation to approximatél énillion shares in 2005 as compe
to 21.9 million shares in 2004. For periods priorNovember 10, 2005, the Company’s convertible grefl shares were amtibutive anc
therefore excluded from the loss per share caicuat

Liquidity and Capital Resource

At December 31, 2006, the Company had cash andexpshialents of $228,000 compared to $260,000 aebéer 31, 2005. T
Company had a working capital deficit of $28.6 ioill at December 31, 2006 compared to a workingtahpieficit of $2.5 million ¢
December 31, 2005. This large increase is primalilg to pending 2007 debt maturities and relatégevaf embedded conversion featu
Cash used in operating activities was $5,383,0@52F7,000 and $9,493,000 for years ended December2@06, 2005, and 20(
respectively, due principally to cash expenditurelsited to selling, general and administrative esps and research and developi
expenses.

Amendment to Watson Term Loan Agreer

The Company was a party to a certain loan agreemigmWatson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Watson") parguo which Watson ma
term loans to the Company (the "Watson Term LoaneAment"”) in the aggregate principal amount of &2iillion as evidenced by tv
promissory notes (the "Watson Notes"). As part led Companys 2004 debenture offering, the Company paid Watden sum ¢
approximately $4.3 million (which amount was fundeoim the proceeds of the 2004 debenture offerarg) conveyed to Watson cert
Company assets in consideration for Watson's fergigs of approximately $16.4 million of indebtednasder the Watson Notes. As pai
such transaction, the Watson Notes were amendexténd the maturity date of such notes from Marth2®06 to June 30, 2007, to pro\
for satisfaction of future interest payments untter Watson Notes in the form of the Company's Comi@tock, to reduce the princi
amount of the Watson Notes from $21.4 million toGshillion, and to provide for the forbearance frtime exercise of rights and reme
upon the occurrence of certain events of defaulieunhe Watson Notes (the Watson Notes as so ametite 2004 Note"). Simultanec
with the issuance of the 2004 Note, each of Cangit@laEssex Woodlands Health Ventures, Galen Bestand the other investors in
Companys 2004 debentures as of February 10, 2004 (coldgtithe "Watson Note Purchasers") purchased @& 2ote from Watson
consideration for a payment to Watson of $1.0 omilli

The 2004 Note in the principal amount of $5.0 roillias purchased by the Watson Note Purchasersuseseby a lien on all of tl
Company's and its subsidiaries' assets, includimggage lien on the Culver Facility, carriesaaflng rate of interest equal to the prime
plus 4.5% (paid quarterly in the Compasigommon stock) and matures on June 30, 2007.& extent cash is not available to the Com,
to pay of its neaterm debt obligations upon maturity, managemeneetgpto negotiate with its lenders to arrange ftarmative means
settle the obligations, including the extensionmatturity or conversion into equity. The lendersédaxtended the Bridge Loan maturity d
and have added conversion features to those Btidgas on multiple occasions during 2005 and 200 majority holders of the Brid
Loans also are the majority holders of the 2004eNwaturing June 30, 2007.

Bridge Loan Financing

As of the date of this Report, the Company was ré&yga four (4) loan agreements completed in Jan2®06, November, 20C
September, 2005 and June, 2005, each as amendatetqursuant to which the Company has receivielddfinancing installments in t
aggregate principal amount $18,744,000 (the “Bridge Loansfjom Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., GZapital Investments
LP, Care Capital Offshore Investments I, LP, GdRartners International Ill, L.P., Galen Partnétsl.P., Galen Employee Fund III, L.



(collectively, the “VC Lenders™and certain other shareholders of the Companydliste the signature page to such Bridge |
agreements. See “ltem 13. Certain RelationshipsReidted Transactions, and Director Independefmed description of the Bridge Lo
Financing.

31




GCE Holdings LLC, which is controlled by the VC ldsrs, beneficially owns approximately 77% of thempanys outstandin
common stock and has the right to designate faecttirs (of which it has exercised the right wigspect to three directors) to the Company’
Board of Directors. See “ltem 13 - Certain Relastips and Related Transactions, and Director Imitdgrece.”

Cash Reserves and Funding Requirements

As of March 1, 2007, the Company had cash and cash equivalerappobximately $192,000. The majority of such cash rese
will be dedicated to the development of the CompmAyersion®Technology, the prosecution of the Company's papptications relatir
to the Aversion® Technology and for administratared related operating expenses.

The Company must rely on its current cash resetwdsind the development of its Aversion®chnology and related ongo
administrative and operating expenses. The Compdylre sources of revenue, if any, will be dedifim contract signing fees, milest
payments and royalties and/or profit sharing paysé&om licensees for the Company's Aversioh&hnology. The Company estimates
its current cash reserves will be sufficient todithe development of the Aversion@chnology and related operating expenses throatg
March, 2007. To fund further operations and prodimtelopment activities, the Company must raisetiadal financing, or enter in
alliances or collaboration agreements with thirdipa resulting in cash payments to the Compang. Company is seeking to secure worl
capital providing gross proceeds to the Comparthénrange of approximately $10 million to $15 naillithrough the private offering of 1
Companys securities. The terms of any such securitiesrioffe including, without limitation, the type of ey securities (or securiti
convertible into equity securities) and the pricr ghare, have not been determined and will, igelgvart, be determined based L
negotiations between the Company and prospectiestars in such private offering. No assurancelmamgiven that the Company will
successful in obtaining any such financing or icusimg collaborative agreements with third parbesacceptable terms, if at all, or if secu
that such financing or collaborative agreements mribvide for payments to the Company sufficientctmtinue to fund operations. In
absence of such financing or thipdsty collaborative agreements, the Company wiltdmiired to scale back or terminate operationgaa
seek protection under applicable bankruptcy laws.

Even assuming the Company is successful in secudltitional sources of financing to fund the coméid development of t
Aversion® Technology, or otherwise enters intoaalties or collaborative agreements relating to therdlon® Technology, there can be
assurance that the Company's development effolttsesult in commercially viable products. The Camny's failure to successfully deve
the Aversion® Technology in a timely manner, to timme to obtain issued U.S. patents relating toAkiersion® Technology and to avc
infringing thirdparty patents and other intellectual property sghill have a material adverse impact on its finalhcondition and results
operations.

In view of the matters described above, recoveitghif a major portion of the recorded asset amgisitown in the Compan
accompanying consolidated balance sheets is depengen continued operations of the Company, wircturn are dependent upon
Company's ability to meet its financing requirensenn a continuing basis, to maintain present fimancand to succeed in its futi
operations. The Company's financial statementsoddnelude any adjustment relating to the recoviitptand classification of recorded as
amounts or amounts and classification of liab#itieat might be necessary should the Company Haaitacontinue in existence.
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The following table presents the Company's expectesth payments on contractual obligations outstands of December 31, 2(
(in thousands):

DUE IN DUE IN DUE
TOTAL 2007 2008 THEREAFTER
Notes payable, gros $ 12,84¢ % 12,84¢ % —  $ —
Capital leases 32 25 7 —
Operating leases 19 19 — —
Clinical studies 162 162 — —
Annual interest on fixed rate debt (1) 194 194 — —
Employment agreements 74C 74C — _
Total contractual obligations $ 13,998 $ 13,98¢ $ 7 $ —
Expected cash payments on contractual obligatioteyed into subsequent to DUE IN DUE
December 31, 2006 TOTAL 2007 THEREAFTER
Notes payable and related inter $ 91C $ 91C $ —

(1) Atthe Company’s option, interest on fixed ratetdslpayable in either cash or common shares.

Critical Accounting Policies

Note A of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Stests included as a part of this Report, includesiamary of the Compan
significant accounting policies and methods usethée preparation of the financial statements. lepgaring these financial statements,
Company has made its best estimates and judgmémtsrtain amounts included in the financial stateteggiving due consideration
materiality. The application of these accountindigies involves the exercise of judgment and usasfumptions as to future uncertair
and, as a result, actual results could differ fribrase estimates. The Company does not believe thesieconsequential likelihood tl
materially different amounts would be reported undiéferent conditions or using different assumpsoThe Company's critical account
policies are as follows:

Income Taxe

Deferred income taxes are recognized for tempod#fgrences between financial statement and inctemebases of assets
liabilities and loss carryerwards for which income tax benefits are exped®edoe realized in future years. A valuation allowe& it
established, when necessary, to reduce deferredstsets to the amount expected to be realizedstimating future tax consequences,
Company generally considers all expected futur@tsvether than an enactment of changes in theates or rates. The Company has reco
a full valuation allowance to reduce its net defdrincome tax assets to the amount that is moeéylikan not to be realized. In the event
Company were to determine that it would be able=tiize its deferred income tax assets in the &tan adjustment to reduce the value
allowance would increase income in the period sletermination was made.

Stock Compensation

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting @&eas Board (“FASB”")released FASB Statement No. 123 (revised 2
“Share-Based Payment, (“FASB 123R")These changes in accounting replaced existing mremeints under FASB Statement No. :
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“FASB3IR and eliminated the ability to account for stvhased compensation transac
using APB Opinion No.25, “Accounting for Stock Ieslito Employees” (“APB 25”). The compensation aesting to shardased payme
transactions will be measured based on the fairevaf the equity or liability instruments issuedhis Statement did not change the accou
for similar transactions involving parties otheathemployees.

The Company adopted FASB 123R effective Janua®pQ6 under the modified prospective method, whégdognizes compensati
cost beginning with the effective date (a) basetherrequirements of FASB 123R for all shaesed payments granted after the effective
and to awards modified, repurchased, or cancefted that date and (b) based on the requirementA&B Statement No. 123 for all awa
granted to employees prior to the effective dat&AS 123R that remain unvested on the effective.diihe compensation cost relating
sharebased payment transactions is now measured basdldeofair value of the equity or liability instrumés issued. For purposes
estimating the fair value of each stock option wmitthe date of grant, the Company utilized thecBi&choles optiopricing model. Th
Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed ferinsestimating the fair value of traded optiongjali have no vesting restrictic
and are fully transferable. The valuation modetpune the input of highly subjective assumptionsluding the expected volatility factor



the market price of the Company’s common stockd@ermined by reviewing its historical public markéosing prices). Black-
Scholes utilizes other assumptions related toitikefiree interest rate, the dividend yield (which iswased to be zero, as the Company ha
paid any cash dividends) and employee exercisevilehd he riskfree interest rate is derived from the U.S. Treasteld curve in effect i
the time of grant. The expected life of the grastslerived from historical factor8ecause the Company's employee stock options
characteristics significantly different from thasietraded options and because changes in the sigjémput assumptions can materially af
the fair value estimate, in management's opiniba, éxisting models do not necessarily provide mbkd measure of the fair value of
employee stock options.
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Debt Discoun

Debt discount resulting from the issuance of commtogk warrants in connection with the issuancsutordinated debt and ot
notes payable in 2004 as well as from beneficiaveosion features contained in convertible delrimsents issued in 2004 and prior ye
was recorded as a reduction of the related obtigatand was amortized over the remaining life ef tblated obligations. Debt disco
related to the common stock warrants issued wasrmdated by a calculation based on the relative ¥alues ascribed to such warr:
determined by management's use of the Black-Schalesition model. Inherent in the Bla8icholes valuation model are assumptions 1
by management regarding the estimated life of tlaeramt, the estimated volatility of the Companysnmon stock (as determined
reviewing its historical public market closing &) and the expected dividend yield. In August 2GM4related debt was converted i
various series of preferred stock and the entimegameing unamortized debt discount of $41,090,006 grearged to expense. Subsequent!
outstanding series of preferred stock was convdrterdd common stock in 2005. As described more filiythe notes to the consolida
financial statement, additional debt discount of025,000 was recorded in 2006 and is being amdrtizmugh the March 31, 2007 matu
of the related debt.

Conversion Features and Common Stock Warrants

Certain provisions of the amended conversion featwontained in the Compasybutstanding Bridge Loans in November 2!
required the Company to separate the value ofdhearsion feature from this debt and record sudhevas a separate liability which mus
marked-tomarket each balance sheet date. Future periogidhie adjustments to the conversion feature cagdlt in further gains or loss
To compute the estimated value of the conversiatufes, the Company used the Black-Scholes otiiming model. As a result of t
November 2006 amendment to the Bridge Loans, afitanding common stock purchase warrants werevéired using the Blac- Schole:
option-pricing model and recorded as a liabilitythweorresponding reduction in additional paid-ipital. The liability must be marked-to-
market each balance sheet. Future period fair \adijiestments to the warrant liability could resalfurther gains or losses.

New Accounting Pronouncemen
Changes and Error Corrections

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Finang@dounting Standards No. 154, “Accounting Changed Error Corrections -
A Replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB StaetiNo. 3", (“SFAS 154")SFAS 154 primarily requires retrospective applmatic
prior periods’financial statements for the direct effects of @esin accounting principle, unless it is impraaiie to determine either t
periodspecific effects or the cumulative effect of theepe. SFAS 154 is effective for accounting charagebkcorrections of errors made
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005.

Share-Based Payment

The Company adopted FASB 123R effective Janua®p@6 under the modified prospective method, whédognizes compensati
cost beginning with the effective date (a) basetherrequirements of FASB 123R for all shaesed payments granted after the effective
and to awards modified, repurchased, or cancefted that date and (b) based on the requirementA&B Statement No. 123 for all awa
granted to employees prior to the effective datEA$% 123R that remain unvested on the effective.delte only cumulative effect of initia
applying this Statement for the Company was toassify $5,724,000 of previously recorded unearmedpensation into paidh capital. Th
Company has estimated that an additional $5,827y@i0(be expensed over the applicable remainingtimgsperiods for all sharbase:
payments granted to employees on or before DeceB1he2005 which remained unvested on January 16.2D8 Company anticipates t
more compensation costs will be recorded in theréuif the use of options and restricted stockauftut employees and director compens:
continues as in the past.
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Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments

In February 2006, FASB issued Statement of Finhnst@ounting Standard No. 155, "Accounting for @émt Hybrid Financie
Instruments - an amendment of FASB Statement N8.a®l 140" (“SFAS 155")SFAS 155 resolves issues addressed in Stateme
Implementation Issue No. D1, “Application of Statamh 133 to Beneficial Interests in Securitized Ritial Assets.'SFAS 155 is effective fi
all financial instruments acquired or issued aftex beginning of the first fiscal year that begafter September 15, 2006. As such,
Company is required to adopt these provisionsmtay 1, 2007. The Company is evaluating the impa&FAS 155, but currently does
anticipate any material impact to its consoliddtedncial statements.

Uncertainty in Income Taxes

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No.(F8N 48") regarding "Accounting for Uncertainti&s Income Taxes," whic
defines the threshold for recognizing the benefiteax-return positions in the financial statemeags'more-likely-thamot" to be sustained
the taxing authorities. FIN 48 also requires expliisclosure requirements about a Company's uaicgies related to their income
position, including a detailed rollforward of taerefits taken that do not qualify for financialtstaent recognition. This Interpretatior
effective for fiscal years beginning after Decem®&y 2006. The cumulative effect of applying thevisions of FIN 48 will be reported as
adjustment to the opening balance of retained egsnfor that fiscal year. The Company is evaluatimg possible impact of FIN 48, |
currently does not anticipate any material impagdts consolidated financial statements.

Fair Value Measuremen

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, “Falue MeasurementsSFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framk
for measuring fair value under generally acceptambanting principles, and expands disclosures afaduvalue measurements. SFAS 1E
effective for financial statements issued for flsggars beginning after November 15, 2007, andimtgeriods within those fiscal years. ~
Company is currently evaluating the impact the @idopof this statement could have on is financahdition, results of operations or ¢
flows.

Capital Expenditures

The Companys capital expenditures during 2006, 2005 and 20@4ew$85,000, $35,000 and $444,000, respectivelypital
expenditures in 2006 and 2005 were attributabkbeégourchase of scientific equipment and improves@nthe Culver, Indiana facility. T
capital expenditures during 2004 were attributdbleapital improvements to the Company's Culvedjdna facility and its former Conge
NY facilities.

Impact of Inflation

The Company believes that inflation did not haveaterial impact on its operations for the pericgsorted.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

None of the securities that we invest in are subj@anarket risk. To minimize this risk in the fuéy we intend to maintain c
portfolio of cash equivalents in a variety of setes, including commercial paper, governmental and-government debt securities anc
money market funds that invest in such securitiés.have no holdings of derivative financial and ooodity instruments. As of Deceml
31, 2006, our investments consisted primarily arsberm bank commercial paper and checking funids variable, market rates of interest.

The Company has indebtedness, some of which inotesest on a floating basis in relation to thenkriRate. To the extent tl
inflation is reflected in higher interest ratese tiompany would expect to incur greater interestscon this debt. A ongercentage poi

increase in interest rates would result in a $30,0@rease in interest expense on an annualized. bHse Company floating rate del
currently matures in June 2007.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
This item is submitted as a separate section sfRport commencing on page F-1.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not Applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedurdge Company carried out an evaluation, under thpersision and with tr
participation of the Company's management, inclgidive Company Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Oficof the effectivene
of the design and operation of the Company's disect controls and procedures pursuant to ExchamgeRAle 13at4. Based upon tk
evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chighdncial Officer concluded that the Company's disate controls and procedures
effective in timely alerting them to material infoation relating to the Company (including its sdiegiies) required to be included in
Company's periodic Securities and Exchange Comamd#lings. No significant changes were made in @mmpany's internal controls or
other factors that could significantly affect thesatrols subsequent to the date of their evalnatio

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogiffhere was no change in the Company’s internal obatrer financial
reporting that occurred during the period covergdhis Report that has materially affected, origsonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over-financial reporting

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not Applicable.

PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE
Directors and Executive Officers
The directors and executive officers of the Compargyidentified in “Item 1. Business” herein.
Corporate Governance

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors isrgmsed of Messrs. William A. Sumner, Chairman, Imao@ Thangaraj and Bruce
Wesson. The Audit Committee is responsible forctlg the Company's registered independent pulkkowanting firm, approving the au
fee payable to the auditors, working with indeperiduditors and other corporate officials, revieyvthe scope and results of the audi
and the recommendations of, the Company's indeperadelitors, approving the services provided by ahditors, reviewing the financ
statements of the Company and reporting on thdtsestithe audits to the Board, reviewing the Conyx insurance coverage, finan
controls and filings with the Securities and Exapai€ommission (the "Commission"), including, megtijuarterly prior to the filing of tt
Company's quarterly and annual reports containingntial statements filed with the Commission, aubmitting to the Board i
recommendations relating to the Company's finan@pbrting, accounting practices and policies dndricial, accounting and operatia
controls.

In assessing the independence of the Audit Comenittembers during 2006, the Company has reviewedaalgzed the standal
for independence provided in Section 121A of theefioan Stock Exchange Listing Standards. Basechisnanalysis, the Company |
determined that Mr. Sumner is deemed an independentber of the Audit Committee. Messrs. Wesson Hmahgaraj do not satisfy t
standards for independence set forth in the Ameristock Exchange Listing Standards as a resulh@if positions in entities having
controlling interest in GCE Holdings, LLC, the Coamy’s 77% shareholder. GCE Holdings, LLC was tha&igmee of all the Comparg/’
preferred shares previously held by eaclCafe Capital Investments I, LP, Essex Woodlandaltié/entures V, L.P. and Galen Partners
L.P. In view of the controlling interests in GCE Idimgs, LLC held by each of Galen Partners lll, .8 which Mr. Wesson is a gene
partner, and Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V., bffwhich Mr. Thangaraj is a general partnerheatMessrs. Wesson and Thang
fail to satisfy the standards for independencedath in the American Stock Exchange Listing StaddaNeverthelesshe Board values tl



experience of Messrs. Wesson and Thangaraj inghiew of the Company's financial statements antbes$ that each is able
exercise independent judgment in the performandesoduties on the Audit Committee.
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The Audit Committee does not have a financial exfes defined under applicable regulations of tlen@ission) serving on tl
Committee. The Board has determined that while ridribe Audit Committee members meet all of théecia established by the Commiss
to be classified as a "financial expert’, the Compdelieves that in general, the members of theitAGdmmittee have a sufficie
understanding of audit committee functions, intermantrol over financial reporting and financiab&ment evaluation so as to capi
perform the tasks required of the Audit Committeehe Audit Committees Charter is available on the Company's wel
www.acurapharm.com, under the link “Audit Charter”.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Dirextercomposed of Messrs. Andrew D. Reddick, Richhrdlarkham ar
William G. Skelly. This committee is responsible fmnsulting with and making recommendations toBbard of Directors about execut
compensation and compensation of employees. Seen*11. Executive CompensatisnCompensation Discussion and Analysis ” below.

Nominating Committee

Currently the entire Board of Directors functiorstae Company's nominating committee. As needex Btbard will perform th
functions typical of a nominating committee, indhuglthe identification, recruitment and selectidmominees for election as directors of
Company. Two of the six members of the Board (MesSumner and Skelly) are "independent” as that terdefined by Section 121(A)
the American Stock Exchange Listing Standards aifigharticipate with the entire Board in the coreidtion of director nominees. The Bo
believes that a nominating committee separate ftseff is not necessary at this time, given thatre¢ size of the Company and the Bo
The Board also believes that, given the Compamy&ive size and the size of its Board, an addii@mommittee of the Board would not ¢
to the effectiveness of the evaluation and nomimapirocess. The Board's process for recruitingsahecting nominees for Board member
required, would be to identify individuals who dhm®ught to have the business background and experiéndustry specific knowledge ¢
general reputation and expertise allowing thematatribute as effective directors to the Compang'segnance, and who would be willing
serve as directors of a public company. To date,Gbmpany has not engaged any third party to assidentifying or evaluating potent
nominees. If a possible candidate is identifie@, itidividual will meet with various members of tBeard and be sounded out concer
his/her possible interest and willingness to searsl Board members would discuss amongst themstieemdividual's potential to be
effective Board member. If the discussions andwata&n are positive, the individual would be inditeo serve on the Board. To date,
shareholder has presented any candidate for Boandbership to the Company for consideration, andawpany does not have a spe:
policy on shareholderecommended director candidates. The Board beligsgsocess for evaluation of nominees proposedhareholdel
would be no different than the process of evalgafiny other candidate. In evaluating candidates,Bbard will require that candida
possess, at a minimum, a desire to serve on thep@uyts Board, an ability to contribute to the efifemess of the Board, an understandir
the function of the Board of a public company aalkvant industry knowledge and experience. In amditwhile not required of any o
candidate, the Board would consider favorably eiepee, education, training or other expertise isitess or financial matters and p
experience serving on boards of public companies.

Shareholder Communications to the Board

Shareholders who wish to send communications toCthmpany's Board of Directors may do so by sendiagn in care of tr
Secretary of the Company at the address on the gage of this Report. The envelope containing ssehmunication must contain a cl
notation indicating that the enclosed letter isShareholder-Board Communication” or "Shareholdi&ector Communication” or simil
statement that clearly and unmistakably indicatescommunication is intended for the Board. Alllseommunications must clearly indic
the author as a shareholder and state whethenteedied recipients are all members of the Boarjugir certain specified directors. 1
Secretary of the Company will have the discretmsdreen and not forward to directors communicatiwhich the Secretary determines ir
or her discretion are communications unrelatedhéobiusiness or governance of the Company andhtdiaries, commercial solicitations,
communications that are offensive, obscene, omaile inappropriate. The Secretary will, howevempile all shareholder communicatis
which are not forwarded and such communicationkheilavailable to any director.
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Code of Ethics

The Company has a Code of Ethics applicable tacCinmpany's principal executive officer, principaidncial officer and princip
accounting officer. The Code of Ethics and any ain@mts to or waivers there from, is available oe Hiompany's websi
www.acurapharm.com, under the link “Code of Ethics”

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Congice

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of413% amended, requires the Company's Directorsegedutive officers, ar
persons who own beneficially more than ten per¢Ed¥o) of the Common Stock of the Company, to fédparts of ownership and change
ownership with the Commission. Copies of all fikeghorts are required to be furnished to the Compamguant to Section 16(a). Based s¢
on the reports received by the Company and onesritepresentations from reporting persons, the @omjpelieves that the Directc
executive officers and greater than ten percentejlBeneficial owners of the Company's Common Stomkplied with all Section 16(
filing requirements during the year ended Decen®ier2006, except as noted below. To the extentpahdto the extentGalen Partners |
L.P., Galen Partners International , Ill, L.P., &aEmployee Fund lll, L.P.Care Capital Offshore Investments Il, LRnd Care Capit¢
Investments I, LP are deemed to own beneficially the shares of thmg2mys Common Stock held by GCE Holdings, LLC or are inen
of a group which in the aggregate are deemed to lmweficially ten percent of the CompasiyCommon Stock, they should have each
Form 4s with respect to six separate stock issigamc2006. Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, Ldid file in 2007 late Form 4s wi
respect to such stock issuances.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Our executive compensation program consists ofirfi)annual salary, bonus, nequity incentive compensation and (ii) eq
incentives represented by the issuance of stodbrapiand restricted stock units (“RSUs”). The b@sysonequity incentives and equ
incentives serve to link executive pay to corpopsdormance.

Policies for Allocating Between Various Forms of @gpensation

Because we have insufficient cash reserves, olityatoi pay cash bonuses, neguity incentive compensation and increase sa
is limited and is dependent on the willingness of bridge lenders to provide such financing or upam ability to complete equity
licensing funding transactions. As a result, uatit cash reserve situation improves, we anticigf@é most incentive compensation will
paid in the form of equity-based compensation. H@weour goal, if allowed by our liquidity, is taqvide greater cash bonuses and non-
equity incentives. Our equityased compensation is targeted to allow senior geanant to own between 5% and 10% of the outsta
common stock, so as to align their interests witirsholders’ interests.

In the past, we issued stock options as our forraqufity compensation. In 2003, 2004 and 2005 weeissstock options with i
exercise price at a discount to the then curreadlirig price for our common stock. Because our spie is based on relatively low trad
volume and a small public float, it can fluctuatelely at times. As a result, we feel the issuanfcB®Us presents a few advantages. Fir
allows us to reduce the dilutive effect of this ignbased compensation, as there are fewer sharedyingex restricted stock award than
equivalent stock option award. Second, our managehes communicated that the vesting scheduleeoRtBUs avoids the potential ex
tax under Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Qgmm a change of control. Third, we believe thatls options issued at a discount
generally fallen into disfavor. Fourth, it is diffilt to set an exercise price for discounted ostidoe to the low trading volume and sr
public float for our common stock.

As a result, in 2005 we established a restrictedkstinit plan (the “2005 RSU Plandhd issued RSUs aggregating 27,500,000 s
to employees. Of such RSU awards, 30%, 24%, 16%a6865% were issued to Messrs. Reddick, Spiveyméris, Seiser and Emi
respectively. It is likely we will maintain a sirail ratio of distribution of equity awards in theute, to those persons and/or persons in si
positions. In addition, RSUs with respect to 2,000, shares were issued to our two independenttdieemn 2006. The number of RSUs
issued was influenced by the closing price of teelsunderlying the RSUs on the date of grant. &lee very few shares remaining avail
under our 2005 RSU Plan. As such, any significarther awards of RSUs would require an amendmethiet@005 RSU Plan.

Salary, Bonus, and No-Equity Incentive Compensation

Each of Andrew Reddick, Ron Spivey and Peter Clamare parties to employment agreements, descripdédruhe captic
“Employment Agreementsielow, which provide the minimum annual base salarye payable to such officers. In addition, thgploymen



agreements provide for additional payments, indikeretion of the Compensation Committee or therBosubject to the satisfacti
of such targets, conditions or parameters as magbeed upon from time to time by the employee thedCompensation Committee. S
executives performance targets for 2007 consist of advanciurgOxyADF product candidate through clinical depenent, assisting in tl
raising of funds to solidify the Compasyliquidity and consummating a collaboration agreetmwith a pharmaceutical partner for
OxyADF product candidate.
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No compensation will be earned with respect torfopmance measure unless a performance "floorthfar measure is exceeded;
incentive opportunity with respect to a measuré bélearned if the target is achieved; achieverbetween the floor and the target results
lower amount of award with respect to that perfaroeameasure. An amount larger than the incentiymibpnity for each performan
measure can be earned, up to a specified limitegeeding the target for that measure. In settorgpensation levels, the Compense
Committee compares the Company to companies of amabfe business focus, market capitalization, teldyical capabilities and market
which we compete for executives.

In ascertaining the achieved level of performargairsst the targets, the effects of certain extiaarg events, as determined by
Compensation Committee, such as (i) major acqorstiand divestitures, (ii) significant otieye charges, and (iii) changes in accour
principles required by the Financial Accountingrifards Board, are "compensation neutral" for ther y@ which they occurred; that is, tt
are not taken into account in determining the degpenhich the targets are met in that year.

Specifically, each of our Chief Executive Officathief Financial Officer and Chief Scientific Officdhas a provision in h
employment contract providing for various levelsiméentive cash payments depending on the grossimnod funds raised by us prior
March 31, 2007, from a funding transaction. If ading transaction of at least $11 million occursNsgrch 31, 2007, these officers will
entitled to norequity incentive compensation of up to between %3a®d 100% of their base salary based on the grossint of the fundir
transaction.

Since such a funding transaction did not occurG@6? there was no nagguity incentive compensation component of comptém
paid to these named executive officers in 2006 s€hremed executive officers received no bonus cosgtien in 2006.

For those named executive officers not subjecnteraployment contract (Messrs. Emigh and Seideg) dlompensation Commit!
will set the annual salary for such named executifieers on or about March of each year and estlalotential bonus compensation
such executives may earn based upon quantitatide i@rapplicable, qualitative performance goalsabkshed by the Compensat
Committee. During 2006, these executives receivelddanuses or non-equity incentive compensation.

In addition, the Compensation Committee may, adtegview of an executive's performance, recommeodhe Board that a bon
award be made to such executives based upon otimeenumerated performance targets (whether or not dneyparties to employme
agreements). No such bonuses were paid to angafdined executive officers listed in the Summargn@ensation Table.

Stock Options

One longterm component of our executive compensation pragransists of stock option grants. The options gadlyepermit the
option holder to buy the number of shares of oum@won Stock covered by the option (an "option exerdiat a price fixed at the time
grant. While we have historically granted stockiapg having an exercise price equal to the fairketavalue of our Common Stock on
date of grant, during 2003, 2004 and 2005, we tbstieck options to our employees at a discounhé¢ottading price of our common stc
The vesting of these options during 2006 is reflédh the “Option Awardsbptions column of the Summary Compensation Tablevbdst is
our expectation that discounted stock option grauiltsoccur only on an isolated basis in the futwieere circumstances warrant. With res
to stock options grants having an exercise priagaktp the market price of our Common Stock ondhte of grant, such options gener
gain value only to the extent our stock price eglsethe option exercise price during the life of tiption. Generally, a portion of the opti
vest over a period of time and expire no later tteanyears, and in some cases five years aftet.gearcutives will generally be subjec
limitations in selling the option stock immediatedyie to securities law considerations, and theeefoill have an incentive to incre:
shareholder value.

Timing Policies with Respect to Options
We have no plan or practice to time option grantsdordination with the release of npublic information and we do not time
release of nompublic information to affect the value of executa@mpensation. Option grant dates for options dsaaew executive office

will likely be the date of their employment or exgion of their agreements. Any such options maysbeed at a discount to take into acc
the limited public float and the wide ranges in etack price.
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Restricted Stock Unit

Another component of our executive compensatiomam is the grant of RSUs under our 2005 RSU PfaRSU represents
contingent obligation to deliver a share of our aoon stock to the holder of the RSU on a distributitate. Each RSU award made to
executives in 2005 vests ottard (1/3) upon grant and the balance in equal tiMgrincrements on the first day of each month beic
January 1, 2006 and ending December 1, 2007. Wadssile the vested shares underlying the RSU awardbe earlier of (i) a Change
Control (as defined in our 2005 RSU Plan), oriiifour annual installments starting on Januargl,1. In the event of a Change of Con
our issuance of the vested shares shall be maaduimp sum distribution. In the absence of a Charfgéontrol, the issuance of the ves
shares shall be made in four (4) equal installmentsach of January 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, datud013 and January 1, 2014. Upon
distribution of the vested shares underlying théJR8vards, the recipients must submit to us thevplre of $0.01 per share. In 2005,
granted Messrs. Reddick, Spivey, Clemens, SeisgérEamigh RSU awards with respect to 8,250,000, 6(8#Y) 4,400,000, 1,650,000 ¢
1,375,000 underlying shares, respectively. In timeof Messrs. Reddick, Spivey and Clemens, suelndavare reflected in their employm
agreements. The vesting during 2006 of the RSUsteaain 2005 is reflected in the “Stock Awarasflumn of the Summary Compensa
Table, below.

Termination/Severance Benefits

The employment agreement of each of Messrs. Redditkmens and Spivey provides severance benefitterucertail
circumstances. The severance benefits providedcath such executive differs, but includes paymefta pro rata bonus or non eqt
incentive compensation, one to two years of saég one to two years of benefits. See “EmploymegteAments” and Quantifyinc
Termination/Change of Control Paymenis'this Item 11. We believe severance arrangenfentse highest level officers help them to fo
on their respective job functions even while we experiencing some financial difficulties and giteem comfort that we will not light
terminate their employment. We believe these senerdenefits were necessary to be able to initlilg and to retain these executives
turn Messrs. Reddick, Spivey and Clemens have dgafter their employment with us ends under cert@#ioumstances not to compete
solicit our employees for hire for a limited periofitime. We believe that such non-compete andswicit provisions are important to prot
our business. The severance benefits are standardployment contracts and were the results of tiegms between us and our executives.

The other executive officers named in the Summamn@ensation Table (the “named executive officehsi{je no contractual
severance benefits if terminated by the Compangrdtian acceleration of shares underlying RSUs.

Retirement Plans

Beginning in 1998, we have maintained a 401(k) pleat allows us to make both discretionary and hiatg contributions, but w
have not done so since inception. We have no pemdéans or norgualified deferred compensation plans and, asudtyéise columns relatir
to such plans in the Summary Compensation Tablblark.

Change in Control

Currently unexercisable options vest with respectll underlying shares upon a change of contrsldafined in employme
agreements, in the case of Messrs. Reddick, SgimdyClemens and in stock option agreements, icdke of Messrs. Emigh and Seiser
all named executive officers. In addition, RSUstweith respect to all underlying shares upon a geaof control and are distributed upc
change of control (provided the requirements oftiSrel09 of the Internal Revenue Code are metaddition, Messrs. Reddick, Spivey i
Clemens receive severance and bonuses if theynatenitheir employment after a change of control dened in their employme
agreements in the case of Mr. Spivey, such termination mustfdreGood Reason), or we terminate their employnsdtér a change
control. We feel our change of control provisionsentivise our executives to seek opportunitiesudand realize benefits from a chang
control even though such change of control may tedtle termination of their positions.

Tax Reimbursements

Because of the scalled "parachute" tax imposed by Internal ReveBode Section 280G, our named executive officers b
subject to such tax upon the exercise of optiomsdistributions under RSUs upon a change of conthd currently have no agreement
reimburse our named executive officers for any saixeposed as a result of these additional excisestae will pay taxes incurred
Messrs. Reddick and Spivey on a lump sum distaoutf the value of twelve months of benefits, whibly may elect in lieu of continu
benefits, in the event their employment terminateder certain circumstances.
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Perquisites and Other Benefit:

Our named executive officers receive no perquisités have not made either discretionary or matchomgributions to their 401(
plans, although our plan provides that we may He &b do so. Our named executive officers are movided auto allowances and tl
receive no country club or golf club membershipg Way, however, consider such perquisites in thedu

Board Proces:

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directgproves all compensation and awards to the naxexltive officers ar
thereafter submits such issues to the full Boardafiproval. All such decisions are made with thesedtation of the Chief Executive Offic
With respect to equity compensation awarded torogheployees, the Compensation Committee either sne@ommendations of grants
options and restricted stock to the Board, with Board approving such awards or makes the grasif.ifEhese grants are generally b
upon the recommendation of the Chief Executive deffi For example, in awarding RSUs in 2005, theefCRixecutive Officer made
recommendation as to the amount of RSUs to bea#dcto all employees, and the recommendation wasidered by the Compensai
Committee and the Board in making such awards.

Summary Compensation Table and Discussion of Emphaynt and Incentive Arrangement

The following table sets forth a summary of the pemsation paid by us for services rendered inaghcities to us during the fis
year ended December 31, 2006 to our Chief Exec@ifieer, Chief Financial Officer and our next terenost highly compensated execu
officers (collectively, the "named executive offis§ whose total annual compensation for 2006 edee&100,000:

Fiscal Year 2006 Summary Compensation Table

Change in
Non- Pension
Equity  Value and
Incentive Nonqualified All
Plan Deferred Other
Stock  Option Compen- Compen- Compen-

Sa|ary Bonus Awards ! Awards 2 sation sation sation Total
Name and Principal Position %) ©) ©) ©) ($) Earnings ($) ($) ©)

Andrew D. Reddick

President and Chief Executive Officer 300,00 — 1,375,000 $ 77,00( — —- —- 1,752,00I
Peter A. Clemens

Senior Vice President and Chief Financ
Officer 180,00 — 733,000  23,00( — — — 936,00(
Ron J. Spivey

Senior Vice President and Chief Scienti
Officer 260,00( — 1,110,000 166,00¢ — — —- 1,536,001

James F. Emigh
Vice President, Marketing and
Administration 140,00( — 229,00 16,00( — — —  385,00(
Robert A. Seiser
Vice President, Corporate Controller an
Treasurer 133,00( — 275,00 16,00( — — —-  424,00(

1. Reflects the vesting in 2006 of outstanding R8litk respect to 2,750,000, 1,466,000, 2,200,06@,383 and 550,000 underlying shi
for Messrs. Reddick, Clemens, Spivey, Emigh ande3erespectively. The dollar amount provided & ¢bmpensation cost for such awi
recognized in 2006 in accordance with FAS 123Re#scted in our financial statements.

2. Reflects the vesting in 2006 of outstanding apiwith respect to 1,500,000, 93,750, 4,333,322 and 62,250 underlying shares

Messrs. Reddick, Clemens, Spivey, Emigh and Seisspectively. The dollar amount reported is thempensation cost for such awe
recognized in 2006 in accordance with FAS 123Re#fiscted in our financial statements.
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Other Compensatory Arrangements
The named executive officers participate in medidahtal, life and disability insurance plans pd®d to all of our employees.
Employment Agreement

Andrew D. Reddick is employed pursuant to an Empleyt Agreement effective as of August 26, 2003mended, which provid
that Mr. Reddick will serve as our Chief Execut®#icer and President for a term expiring Decenier2007. The term of the Employm
Agreement provides for automatic one (1) year rexie\iwn the absence of written notice to the cogitfeom us or Mr. Reddick at least nin
(90) days prior to the expiration of the initiairreor any subsequent renewal period. The EmployrAgreement provides for an annual k
salary of $300,000, plus the payment of annual bosfuup to one hundred percent (100%) of Mr. Rdddibase salary based on
achievement of such targets, conditions, or pararseds may be set from time to time by the Boardioéctors or the Compensat
Committee of the Board of Directors. For our 20B3&dl year, the Employment Agreement provides foash bonus equal to 100% of
Reddick’s then current base salary (the “2006 (Bashus”) upon our receipt of aggregate proceeds of at BH5t0 million on or befol
March 31, 2007 from an offering of our equity séties and/or from license fees or milestone paymémm thirdparty licensing or simil
transactions (subject to the payment of a fatta- portion of the 2006 Cash Bonus provided weivecaggregate gross proceeds from
transactions of at least $11.0 million on or befgi@ch 31, 2007). The Employment Agreement alswiges for our grant to Mr. Reddick
stock options exercisable for up to 8,750,000 shafeCommon Stock at an exercise price of $0.13share. The stock options provide
vesting of 3,000,000 shares on the date of grarthe@foption, with the balance vesting in monthlgrements of 250,000 shares at
expiration of each monthly period thereafter comaeg with the month ending August 31, 2004. Thereise price of $0.13 per shi
represents a discount to the fair market valueunfommmon stock on the date of grant. On August20®4, the date of grant of the st
options, the average of the closing bid and asked®for our Common Stock was $0.435. The Employndgreement also acknowledi
the grant to Mr. Reddick of a Restricted Stock Ukitard providing for our issuance of up to 8,25@&hares of our Common Stock.
Restricted Stock Unit vests otlerd (1/3) upon grant and the balance in equal tilgrincrements on the first day of each month beipc
January 1, 2006 and ending December 1, 2007. Téed/eshares underlying the Restricted Stock Uniaiwwill be issued by us on f
earlier of (i) a Change in Control (as defined ur @005 RSU Plan), or (ii) January 1, 2011. In¢kent of a Change in Control, we will is:
the vested shares in a lump sum distribution. énahsence of a Change of Control, the issuandeeofdsted shares shall be made in foL
equal installments on each of January 1, 2011 ,afgriy 2012, January 1, 2013 and January 1, 20fdn lissuance of the shares underl
the Restricted Stock Unit Award, Mr. Reddick muestit to us the par value of $0.01 per share. OreBwer 22, 2005, the date of gran
the Restricted Stock Unit Award, the average of ¢hwsing bid and asked prices of our common stoels %0.3325, as reported by
OTCBB. Mr. Reddick has no rights as a stockholdiecjuding no dividend or voting rights, with respdo the shares underlying !
Restricted Stock Unit Award until we issue the sisaiThe Employment Agreement contains standardnation provisions, including upt
death, disability, for Cause, for Good Reason aitlout Cause. In the event the Employment Agreenierérminated due to death
disability, we are required to pay Mr. Reddick,his designee, a pro rata portion of the annual sdhat would have been payable to
Reddick during such year assuming full achievenwnthe bonus criteria established for such bonuddittonally, Mr. Reddick or h
designees shall have a period of twelve (12) mofatewing such termination (except for “Causéy’which case it is 40 days) to exer
Mr. Reddick's vested stock options (or, for thossted stock options subject to Section 409A oflttiernal Revenue Code of 1986,
amended (“Section 409A%he lesser of (a) twelve (12) months following tth@te of termination, or (b) the maximum exerciseiqul
permitted under Section 409A). In the event thatEmployment Agreement is terminated by us witt@atise or by Mr. Reddick for Go
Reason, we are required to pay Mr. Reddick an amegnal to the bonus for such year, calculated qroarata basis assuming -
achievement of the bonus criteria for such yeanvels as Mr. Reddick's base salary for one yeae (tBeverance Pay"), payable in e
monthly installments over a period of twelve (12)nths. In addition, Mr. Reddick is at his optiortidad to continued coverage under
then existing benefit plans, including medical difel insurance, for twelve (12) months from the edaf termination or the value of st
benefits payable in a lump sum within thirty daystermination together with amount needed to payoime tax on such lump sum. ~
Employment Agreement permits Mr. Reddick to terrteriae Employment Agreement in the event of a CaandgControl (as defined in t
Employment Agreement), in which case such termmats considered to be made without Cause, emgithtr. Reddick to the benef
described above, except that (i) the Severanceifpgyable in a lump sum within thirty (30) daystbé date of termination, and (ii)
outstanding stock options granted to Mr. ReddicilIsfully vest and be immediately exercisable. Hraployment Agreement restricts |
Reddick from disclosing, disseminating or using @ personal benefit or for the benefit of othemfidential or proprietary information |
defined in the Employment Agreement) and, providechave not breached the terms of the Employmentégent, from competing with
at any time prior to one year after the terminatiémis employment with us. In addition he has agraot to (and not to cause or direct
person to) hire or solicit for employment any ofr @mployee or those of our subsidiaries or affiéfi) for six (6) months following tl
termination of his employment by us without Causédyw him for Good Reason, prior to a Change of @intii) for twelve (12) montr
following the termination of his employment for Gay prior to a Change of Control, or (iii) twerfour (24) months following a Change
Control.
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Ron J. Spivey, Ph.D., is employed pursuant to apl&pment Agreement effective as of April 5, 2004,zanended, which provic
that Dr. Spivey will serve as our Senior Vice Pdesit and Chief Scientific Officer for term expirifi@ecember 31, 2007. The term of
Employment Agreement provides for automatic oney€Br renewals in the absence of written noticéagéocontrary from us or Dr. Spivey
least ninety (90) days prior to the expirationfw tnitial term or any subsequent renewal peridte Employment Agreement provides fol
annual base salary of $260,000, plus the paymesmmfial bonus of up to one hundred percent (100%).cSpivey's base salary based or
achievement of such targets, conditions, or pararseds may be set from time to time by the Boardioéctors or the Compensat
Committee of the Board of Directors. For our 20@&dl year, the Employment Agreement provides foash bonus equal to one hunc
percent (100%) of Mr. Spivey’s then current badargathe “2006 Cash Bonus®pon our receipt of aggregate proceeds of at BHSH
million on or before March 31, 2007 from an offeyiof our equity securities and/or from license feesilestone payments from thigpghrty
licensing or similar transactions (subject to tlayment of a proata portion of the 2006 Cash Bonus provided weivecaggregate grc
proceeds from such transactions of at least $1ill@mon or before March 31, 2007. The Employmé&greement also provides for our gr
to Mr. Spivey of stock options exercisable for gp7000,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise pf $0.13 per share. The st
option provides for vesting of 1,000,000 sharesOatober 1, 2004, 333,333 shares on each Janu&g05, April 1, 2005, July 1, 2005 &
October 1, 2005, 3,888,667 shares on January B &0 778,001 on April 1, 2006. The exercise poic#0.13 per share represents a disc
to the fair market value of our common stock ondhte of grant. The Employment Agreement also astedges the grant to Dr. Spivey ¢
Restricted Stock Unit Award providing for our isaga of up to 6,600,000 shares of our Common Stblek.Restricted Stock Unit vests one-
third (1/3) upon grant and the balance in equal thignincrements on the first day of each month beijig January 1, 2006 and enc
December 1, 2007. The vested shares underlyinBéis&ricted Stock Unit Award will be issued by ustbe earlier of (i) a Change in Cont
(as defined in our 2005 RSU Plan), or (i) Janubr011. In the event of a Change in Control, wik igsue the vested shares in a lump
distribution. In the absence of a Change in Contte issuance of the vested shares shall be mafibeii (4) equal installments on eact
January 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, January 1, 26d3January 1, 2014. Upon issuance of the sharesrlyimi) the Restricted Stock U
Award, Dr. Spivey must remit to us the par valueb6f01 per share. On December 22, 2005, the dageaot of the Restricted Stock U
Award, the average of the closing bid and askezkprof our common stock was $0.3325, as reportedeb®@ TCBB. Dr. Spivey has no rig
as a stockholder, including no dividend or votiights, with respect to the shares underlying thstiRged Stock Unit Award until we iss
the shares. The Employment Agreement contains atdridrmination provisions, including upon deatbadility, for Cause, for Good Reax
and without Cause. Additionally, Dr. Spivey or higsignees have a period of twelve (12) monthswailg such termination (except
“Cause,”in which case it is 40 days) to exercise Dr. Spiwegsted stock options, (or, for those vestedkstptions subject to Section 40¢
the lesser of (a) twelve (12) months following thete of termination, or (b) the maximum exercisgqoepermitted under Section 409A).
the event that we terminate the Employment Agre¢mvéhout Cause or Dr. Spivey terminates the Empiegt Agreement for Good Reas
we are required to pay Dr. Spivey an amount equéié bonus for such year, calculated on a probasés assuming full achievement of
bonus criteria for such year, as well as Dr. Spa/bgse salary for one year (the "Severance Pagyable in equal monthly installments ¢
a period of twelve (12) months. In addition, Dr.i&y is entitled to continued coverage under owntlexisting benefit plans, includi
medical and life insurance, for twelve (12) monfttisn the date of termination. The Employment Agreatpermits Dr. Spivey to termini
the Employment Agreement in the event of a Chang@dntrol for Good Reason (as defined in the Emmpleyt Agreement),, entitling L
Spivey to the benefits described above, except (ilpdhe Severance Pay is payable in a lump surhimvithirty (30) days of the date
termination, and (ii) all outstanding stock optiogrsinted to Dr. Spivey shall fully vest and be intiagely exercisable. The Employm
Agreement restricts Dr. Spivey from disclosing,sdiminating or using for his personal benefit or tfee benefit of others, confidential
proprietary information (as defined in the Employmégreement) and, provided we have not breachedtéhms of the Employme
Agreement, from competing with us at any time pt@pne year after the termination of his employmeith us. In additionDr. Spivey ha
agreed not to (and not to cause or direct any pet@phire or solicit for employment any of our doyees or those of our subsidiarie:
affiliates (i) for six (6) months following the taination of his employment by us without Causeyhim for Good Reason, prior to a Cha
of Control, (i) for twelve (12) months followindné termination of his employment for Cause, prioa tChange of Control, or (iii) twenfpur
(24) months following a Change of Control.
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Peter A. Clemens is employed pursuant to an Emptoyrmgreement effective as of March 10, 1998, aeratad, which provids
that Mr. Clemens will serve as our Senior Vice Ri@st and Chief Financial Officer for a term expgiDecember 31, 2007. The term of
Employment Agreement provides for automatic oney&Br renewals in the absence of written notidl¢ocontrary from the Company or |
Clemens at least ninety (90) days prior to the ratipin of any renewal period The Employment Agreenpeovides for an annual base sa
of $180,000 plus the payment of an annual bonbe tdetermined based on the satisfaction of sugetsrconditions or parameters as me
determined from time to time by the Compensatiom@ittee of the Board of Directors. For our 200@disyear, the Employment Agreem
provides for a cash bonus equal to 100% of Mr. @leshthen current base salary (the “2006 Cash Bdruson our receipt of aggreg
proceeds of at least $15.0 million on or before dlaB1, 2007 from an offering of our equity secestand/or from license fees or milest
payments from third-party licensing or similar tsantions (subject to the payment of a @ta portion of the 2006 Cash Bonus providec
Company receives aggregate gross proceeds fromtrarddactions of at least $11.0 million on or befbtarch 31, 2007). The Employm
Agreement also provides for the grant of stockastion March 10, 1998 to purchase 300,000 sharegrafommon stock at an exercise [
of $2.375 per share, which options vest in equalements of 25,000 option shares at the end of gaalterly period during the term of
Employment Agreement (as such vesting schedule meagmended by mutual agreement of Mr. Clemens ladBbard of Directors)
addition, in August 2004, the Company granted stogtions to Mr. Clemens to purchase 375,000 shafré3ommon Stock at an exerc
price of $0.13 per share, which exercise priceasgmts a discount to the fair market value of @amroon stock on the date of grant. S
stock options vest in four equal portions at thed eh each annual period commencing March 9, 200& Employment Agreement a
acknowledges the grant to Mr. Clemens of a Restti&tock Unit Award providing for our issuance pfto 4,400,000 shares of our Comr
Stock. The Restricted Stock Unit vests dhied (1/3) upon grant and the balance in equal tirlgrincrements on the first day of each mc
beginning January 1, 2006 and ending Decemberd7.20e will issue the vested shares underlyingRhstricted Stock Unit Award on t
earlier of (i) a Change in Control (as defined ur @005 RSU Plan), or (ii) January 1, 2011. In¢kent of a Change in Control, we will is:
the vested shares in a lump sum distribution. énahsence of a Change in Control, our issuandeeofested shares shall be made in foL
equal installments on each of January 1, 2011,afgriy 2012, January 1, 2013 and January 1, 20fdn issuance of the shares underl
the Restricted Stock Unit Award, Mr. Clemens mushit to us the par value of $0.01 per share. OrebBber 22, 2005, the date of gran
the Restricted Stock Unit Award, the average of ¢hwsing bid and asked prices of our common stoels %0.3325, as reported by
OTCBB. Mr. Clemens has no rights as a stockholdeluding no dividend or voting rights, with respeao the shares underlying !
Restricted Stock Unit Award until we issue the sisaiThe Employment Agreement contains standardnation provisions, including upt
death, disability, for Cause, for Good Reason aitkdout Cause. In the event the Employment Agreeriset@rminated by us without Caust
by Mr. Clemens for Good Reason, we are requirgzh{oMr. Clemens an amount equal to $310,000 orethis then base salary, whicheve
greater, payable in a lump sum within 30 days whieation and to continue to provide Mr. Clemensarage under our then existing ber
plans, including medical and life insurance, fdean of 24 months. Additionally, Mr. Clemens or Hissignees shall have a period of tw
(12) months following termination (except for “Caiisin which case it is 40 days) to exercise Mer@éns'vested stock options (or, for the
vested stock options subject to Section 409A, &ssdr of (a) twelve (12) months following the datgermination, or (b) the maximt
exercise period permitted under Section 409A). Ehmloyment Agreement permits Mr. Clemens to termairiae Employment Agreement
the event of a Change in Control (as defined inEhgloyment Agreement). The Employment Agreemes aéstricts Mr. Clemens frc
disclosing, disseminating or using for his persdyeiefit or for the benefit of others confidentalproprietary information (as defined in
Employment Agreement) and, provided we have noadited the terms of the Employment Agreement, frompeting with us at any tir
prior to two years after the earlier to occur of txpiration of the term and the termination ofdmsployment. In addition, for a period of t
(2) years from and after the effective date oftirenination of his employment with us (for any m@svhatsoever), (i) induce or attemp
influence any employee of the Corporation or anytobubsidiaries or affiliates to leave its employ (ii) aid any person, business, or fi
including a supplier, a competitor, licensor ortouser of or our manufacturer for the Corporationany attempt to hire any person who ¢
have been employed by us or any of our subsidiariedfiliates within the period of one (1) yeartbé date of any such requested aid.

Messrs. Seiser and Emigh are not parties to emmayagreements.
Stock Option Plan:

We currently maintain two stock option plans addgte 1995 and 1998, respectively. In the past weslpand may continue to u
stock options to attract and retain key employeeshe belief that employee stock ownership andkstetated compensation devir
encourage a community of interest between emplogedshareholders.

The 1995 Stock Option Plan

The 1995 Stock Option Plan was approved by ouretitddlers in September, 1995. As of December 316 2@fentive stock optiol

(“1SO's”) to purchase 262,510 shares and goalified options to purchase 116,390 shares watstanding under the 1995 Stock Op

Plan. In May, 2005 the 1995 Stock Option Plan eegiand the remaining unissued shares allocatdwet®lan were terminated. The avel
per share exercise price for all outstanding ogtiamder the 1995 Stock Option Plan is approximaiel$7.
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The 1998 Stock Option Plan.

The 1998 Stock Option Plan was adopted by the Bo&firectors in April, 1998 and approved by oumstholders in June, 19!
The 1998 Stock Option Plan permits the grant of'$Sd norgualified stock options to purchase shares of com@on Stock. The 19!
Stock Option Plan was amended by the Board of Biredn April, 1999 to increase the number of shareailable for the grant of optic
under the Plan from 2,600,000 to 3,600,000 sh&asshareholders ratified the Plan amendment orusiug9, 1999. The 1998 Stock Opt
Plan was further amended by Board of Directors milA2001 to increase the number of shares aveilfdy grant of options under the P
from 3,600,000 to 8,100,000 shares. Our sharelwidified the Plan amendment on June 14, 2001.1888 Stock Option Plan was furt
amended by the Board of Directors on May 5, 2004ntoease the number of shares available for goamptions under the Plan frc
8,100,000 to 20,000,000 shares. Our shareholdgfigdathe Plan amendment on August 12, 2004. T9@81Stock Option Plan was furtl
amended on February 8, 2006 to make such plan camplith Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Gaateamended. Our sharehol
ratified the amendment on December 14, 2006. ABewfember 31, 2006, stock options to purchase 18)8%6hares of Common Stock
been granted under the 1998 Stock Option Plan.uoi ption grants, 869,826 are 1SOs and 17,746a2690onqualified options. Th
average per share exercise price for all outstgndptions under the 1998 Stock Option Plan is apprately $0.23. No exercise price of
ISO was set at less than 100% of the fair markéievaf the underlying Common Stock. The exerciseepof nongualified option
exercisable for 16,994,145 shares of common st@skleen set at less than the fair market valueherdate of grant of the underly
Common Stock. Subject to the terms of the 1998kKS@yation Plan, the Board of Directors, or a Comedtappointed by the Board determ
the persons to whom grants are made and the vesitingg, amounts and other terms of such grant.efiployee may not receive IS
exercisable in any one calendar year for shards avifair market value on the date of grant in exa&s$100,000. No quantity limitatio
apply to the grant of non-qualified stock options.

Restricted Stock Unit Award Pla

On December 22, 2005, the Board of Directors apgtawur 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan (tB@05 RSU Plan”for out
employees and noemployee directors. The RSU Plan was amended bBdhed of Directors on October 26, 2006 to alloansfer of RSU
under limited circumstances. A RSU represents timtigent obligation of the Company to deliver arghof our common stock to the hol
of the RSU on a distribution date. RSUs for up@ardllion shares of common stock are authorizeddsuance under the 2005 RSU Plan.
believe that the 2005 RSU Plan does not requireebbéder approval. Nevertheless, on December 1@6,20ur shareholders ratified the 2
RSU Plan, as amended, at our 2006 Annual Sharelsbleeting.

The purpose of the 2005 RSU Plan is to attractjvate and retain experienced and knowledgeable ®rapk by offering addition
stock based compensation and incentives to deférpatentially enhance their compensation and too@rage stock ownership in
Company and to attract and retain qualified eomployee directors. The 2005 RSU Plan is intendedomply with Section 409A of tl
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended andsigrél to confirm that compensation deferred utiderPlan which is subject to Cc
Section 409A is not included in the gross income@®5 RSU Plan participants until such time asst@es of common stock underly
RSUs are distributed as set forth in the Plan andeCSection 409A.

The RSU Plan is administered by our Board of Doexbr a Committee appointed by the Board of DaoectHowever, with respe
to non-employee directors, the Board administeesRlan, and the Committee has no discretion witheaet to any grants to namploye:
directors. RSUs granted under the RSU plan vest snhedule determined by the Board of Directorsumh Committee as set forth i
restricted stock unit award agreement. Unless wfilserset forth in such award agreement, the RSWs\fast upon a change in control
defined in the 2005 RSU Plan) of the Company ornufgmination of an employee’employment us without cause or due to dea
disability, and in the case of a non-employee dinesuch persos’death or disability or if such person is not rairated as a director (ott
than for “cause” or refusal to stand forakection) or is not elected by our stockholders)dminated. Vesting of an RSU entitles the hc
thereof to receive a share of common stock of th@ny on a distribution date (after payment ofd1 par value per share).

Absent a change of control, ofmirth of vested shares of common stock underlgindRSU award will be distributed (after payn
of $0.01 par value per share) on January 1 of e&2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014. If a change in cbotrours (whether prior to or after 201
the vested shares underlying the RSU award witlisteibuted at or about the time of the changeontml. No dividends accrue on the sh
underlying the RSUs prior to issuance. The recigieri RSU awards need not be employees or directotise Company on a distributi
date.
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RSUs may not be sold, pledged, assigned, hypotcatinsferred, or disposed of in any manner byrétipients other thanby
will or by the laws of descent or distribution atal (i) the spouse, children or grandchildren of #wardee (the "Immediate Fan
Members"), (ii) a trust or trusts for the exclusihvenefit of such Immediate Family Members, or @ipartnership in which such Immed
Family Members are the only partners, provided (tthere may be no consideration for any suchstier, (y) subsequent transfers
transferred RSUs shall be prohibited except thoadenby will or by the laws of descent or distributiand (z) such transfer is approve
advance by the Committee (or Board in absence@bramittee). A married recipient may generally deaitg only a spouse as a benefic
unless spousal consent is obtained.

Recipients of RSUs generally will not recognizeome when they are awarded RSUs (unless they eleccbgnize income |
making a Section 83(b) election). RSU recipientt rgcognize ordinary income in an amount equathi® fair market value of the share:
our common stock issued pursuant to a distributioter the RSU. We will generally be entitled t@a deduction in the same amount.

As of the December 31, 2006 we had granted RSU¢ding for our issuance of up to an aggregate gb6@9,000 shares of ¢
common stock. 27,500,000 of such RSU Awards vestiond (1/3) on grant and the balance vest in equahthly increments on the first c
of each month beginning January 1, 2006 and erndemember 1, 2007. The remaining 2 million RSU Avgavdst 777,778 shares on g
and the balance vest in equal monthly incrementhefirst day of March 1, 2006 and ending Decembe&007.

Quantifying Termination/Change of Control Payments
Messrs. Emigh and Seiser

If we terminate Robert Seiser’s or James Enmsgdrhployment other than for cause (as definedeér2005 RSU Plan) all unves
RSUs granted to such executive vest in full. ADetember 31, 2006, RSUs for 550,000 and 458,33@sHar Messrs. Seiser and Em
respectively, remained unvested. As a result, haddié. Seiser and Emigh been terminated otherftharause at December 31, 2006, !
would have realized a benefit of $53,000 and $4%,08spectively.

If a change of control occurs (which constituteshange of control under the 2005 RSU Plan) thenskdesSeiser's and Emigh’
previously unvested RSUs vest with respect to mdleulying shares. In addition, previously unvestptions vest (if the change of con
qualifies under their stock option agreements) wépect to all underlying shares (options undegyi?24,500 and 124,500 shares, in the
of Messrs. Seiser and Emigh, respectively, as afebBder 31, 2006). Messrs. Seiser and Emigh wowltizeea benefit of $124,000 &
$124,000, respectively, from such option vestingui€h change of control occurred on December 316.20he combined benefit to Mes:
Seiser and Emigh from RSU vesting and option vgstin a change of control occurring on December2®06 is $177,500 and $168,5
respectively. If such a change of control occurd aiso meets the requirements of Section 409A efitkernal Revenue Code, the RSUs
fully distributable for shares upon payment of $h@1 par value per share, instead of under theinabexercisability schedule.

The dollar benefits described above are the congpiemscost for such awards that would have beeogrzed in 2006 in ol
financial statements in accordance with FAS 123#), $uch accelerated vesting/distribution occurred.

Messrs. Reddick, Spivey and Clemens

Based upon a hypothetical triggering date of Deaan@i, 2006, the quantifiable benefits for Mesgxadrew Reddick, Pet
Clemens and Ron Spivey upon a termination/changermfol would have been as set forth the tablevoel
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Qualifying Termination Benefit ($)
Value of  Medical, Dental,

Value of Options  Health, Disability
RSUs Vestin¢ Vesting and Life Insurance Total
Triggering Event Executive Severance (2) Bonus (4) Benefits (7)
Termination by Andrew D. Reddick 300,000 (1)(8) 264,000 300,000 (3) (5) 26,270 (6) 890,27(
Company without Caut . |
or v sl o Ron J. Spivey 260,000 (1)(9) 213,000 260,000 (3) (5) 7,875 (6) 740,87!
Good Reason Peter A. Clemens 360,000 (3)(11) 141,000 180,000 — 52,540 (12) 733,54(
Termination by
Employee for Good  Angrew D. Reddick S 264,000 300,000 3)  (5) 26,270 (6) 890,27
Reason (or any reasor (1)(8)
case of Reddick or
Clemens) after a Chan 260.000
of Control or by Ron J. Spivey ’ 213,000 260,000 (3) (5) 7,875 (6) 740,87!
1)(©)
Company (other than f
Cause) after a Change
Control Peter A. Clemens 360,000 (3)(11) 141,000 180,000 (3) 12,728 52,540 (12) 746,26!
Andrew D. Reddick — 264,000 300,000 (3) — — 564,00(
Termination for Death Ron J. Spivey — 213,000 — — — 213,00(
Peter A. Clemens — 141,000 — — — 141,00(
Termination for Andrew D. Reddick — 264,000 300,000 (3) — — 564,00(
Disabilit Ron J. Spivey — 213,000 — — — 213,00(
y Peter A. Clemens — 141,000 — — — 141,00(
Andrew D. Reddick — — — — — —
Termination with CausRon J. Spivey — — — — — —
Peter A. Clemens — — — — — —
Chanae of Control Andrew D. Reddick — 264,000 — (5) — 264,00(
Witho%t Termination Ron J. Spivey — 213,000 — (5) — 213,00(
Peter A. Clemens — 141,000 — 12,728 — 153,72¢

The terms "Change of Control", "Cause”, and "Goed$dn" have the meanings in the listed executamsloyment agreements.

(1) Payable in 12 monthly installments, exceptemmination after a Change of Control, in which caseh amount is payable in a lump ¢
within 30 days after termination.

(2) The dollar amount reported is the compensatast for such awards that would have been recodniz2006 in our financial statement:
accordance with FAS 123R, had the unvested RSWxa¢mber 31, 2006 vested at such date, (2,7500R00,000 and 1,466,667, in
case of Reddick, Spivey and Clemens, respectively).

(3) Payable in a lump sum within 30 days after taation.
(4) The dollar amount reported is the compensatast for such awards that would have been recodniz2006 in our financial statement:
accordance with FAS 123R had the unvested stodkraptit December 31, 2006 vested at such dateEBgdoyment Agreements fol

description of the exercise periods following taration.

(5) Messrs. Reddick and Spivey have no outstandmgested options. See Employment Agreements faussson of option vesting a
exercisability upon termination.

(6) Represents the value of medical, dental, disalasind life insurance for the twelve months felimg termination and a tax gross up
such amounts. Payable in lump sum within thirtysdafter termination. Assumes executive has seldatagd sum payment option, in lieu



continued benefits. This amount is estimated.
(7) Excludes accrued vacation.

(8) Represents one year of salary. Mr. Reddickigled to the greater of the salary remaining lo& term of his employment agreement
12 months of salary.

(9) Represents one year of salary.

(10) Assumes the change of control also constitatesange of control for the vesting provisionghaf 2005 RSU Plan. If such a chang
control occurs and also meets the requirementectidh 409A of the Internal Revenue Code, the shanelerlying the RSUs are issued (L
payment of the $.01 par value per share).

(11) Represents two years of base salary.

(12) Represents the estimated value of medicatajatisability and life insurance for the twerfour months following termination. Paya
in lump sum within thirty days after termination.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at 2006 Year End and @ptiExercises in 2006

The following table presents information regardmgstanding stock options and RSU awards at DeceBhe2006 for each of tl
named executive officers:

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT 2006 YEAR-END

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Number of
Securities Securities Number of Market Value of
Underlying Underlying Shares or Units  Shares or Units
Unexercised Unexercised  Option Exercise of Stock That of Stock That
Options (#) Options (#) Price Option Have Not Vestec Have Not Vestet
Name Exercisable Unexercisable (%) Expiration Date (#) ($)(1)
Andrew D. Reddick 8,750,001 — 3 0.1z 08/12/201: 2,750,000 $ 2,035,001
300,00( — $ 2.37¢ 02/19/200:
100,00( — 3 1.12¢ 03/08/200!
125,00( — $ 1.87¢ 02/17/2011
100,00( — $ 1.112¢ 06/29/2011
Peter A. Clemens 187,50( 187,50( $ 0.1z 03/09/201- 1,466,66° $ 1,085,33:
3,000,00( $ 0.1z 04/15/201-
Ron J. Spivey 4,000,001 — $ 0.1z 12/09/201! 2,200,000 $ 1,628,00!
40,00( — $ 2.5C 05/29/200:i
16,00( — $ 1.12¢ 03/08/200!
30,00( — $ 1.87¢ 02/17/2011
40,00( — $ 1.112¢ 06/29/2011
25,00( — 3 2.4€ 11/15/201:
Robert A. Seiser 249,00( 124,75( $ 0.1z 03/09/201- 550,000 $ 407,00(
10,00( — 3 2.5C 05/29/200:
10,00( — $ 1.5C 10/13/200:
16,00( — 3 1.12¢ 03/08/200!
50,00( — 3 1.87¢ 02/17/2011
40,00( — $ 1.112¢ 06/29/2011
25,00( — $ 2.4¢ 11/15/201:
James F. Emigh 249,00( 124,75( $ 0.1t 03/09/201 458,33! $ 339,16¢

(1) Based on the Closing Price of $0réported on the OTCBB on December 30, 2006. Doetake into account the $.01 par value per <
that must be paid on the distribution of sharesdythg the RSUs.
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The following table presents information regardihg value realized on the vesting during 2006 of/R®ards to the named
executive officers. No stock options were exercisgthe named executive officers during 2006.

OPTION EXERCISE AND STOCK VESTED IN FISCAL YEAR 200 6

Stock Awards
Number of Value Realized
Shares Vested on Vesting

Name (#) @ %@
Andrew D. Reddick 2,750,000 $ 1,860,83.
Peter A. Clemens 1,466,66 992,44
Ron J. Spivey 2,200,001 1,488,66
James F. Emigh 458,33: 310,13¢
Robert A. Seiser 550,00( 372,16°

(1) The vested shares underlying the RSUs will ds21eéd by us on the earlier (i) a Change of Corfasldefined in our 20(
Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan), or (ii) ) in foannual installments starting on January 1, 20i1he event of a Change of Control,
issuance of the vested shares shall be made m@mdum distribution. In the absence of a Changeanttrol, the issuance of the vested s
shall be issued in four (4) equal installments anheof January 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, Janua2@13 and January 1, 2014. Upon
distribution of the vested shares underlying th&JRShe recipients must submit to us the par vafu®0.01 per share. The recipients of
RSUs have no rights as a stockholder, includingimmend or voting rights, with respect to the sisaunderlying such awards until the sh
are issued by us.

(2) Value is determined by subtracting the $.01\@duoe required to be paid on exchange of eactesioarRSUs from the closii
price of our Common Stock on the OTCBB on eachinggdate and multiplying the result by the numbksttares underlying the RSUs t
vested on such date and then aggregating thoséstesu

Securities Authorized For Issuance Under Equity Cpansation Plans

The following table includes information as of Deteer 31, 2006 relating to our 1995 and 1998 Stopkdd@ Plans and our 20
Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan, which compriskadlour equity compensation plans. The table ptesithe number of securities to
issued upon the exercise of outstanding options disiibutions under outstanding Restricted Stoakt Awards under such plans,
weightedaverage exercise price of outstanding options hadtimber of securities remaining available foufatissuance under such eq
compensation plans:

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of
Securities
Remaining
Number Of Available for
Securities Future Issuance
to Be Issued Weighted- Under Equity
Upon Average Compensation
Exercise of Exercise Price « Plans
Outstanding Outstanding (Excluding
Options, Options, Securities
Warrants and Warrants and Reflected in
Rights Rights Column(a)
Plan Category (@) (b) (c)
Stock Option Equity Compensation Plans Approve&bgurity Holders 18,994,999 $ 0.2¢ 926,65!
Stock Option Equity Compensation Plans Not Approgdecurity Holders 0 0 0
Restricted Stock Unit Equity Compensation Plansraped by Security Holder 29,500,00 0.01 500,00t
Restricted Stock Unit Equity Compensation Plans Ajgtroved by Security
Holders 0 0 0
TOTAL 48,494,999 $ 0.11 1,426,65!
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Director Compensatiot

The following table sets forth a summary of the pemsation paid by us to our Directors (other thamrdw Reddick, who:
compensation, is reflected in the Summary Compensdtable) for services rendered in all capacitesus during the fiscal year enc
December 31, 2006:

YEAR 2006 DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Fees Earnec Stock Option
or Paid in Awards Awards Total
Director Cash ($) ($)W ($) @ %)
William G. Skelly 8,50( 340,00( — 348,50(
William A. Sumner 9,50( 340,00( — 349,50(
Bruce F. Wesson 4,75( — — 4,75(
Richard J. Markham 2,50( — — 2,50(
Immanuel Thangaraj 4 — — —
Jerry Karabela® 75C — — 75C

(1) Messrs. Skelly and Sumner each held RSUs vesipect to 1,000,000 underlying shares, as of Deeef@b, 2006, Messrs. Wess
Markham, Tharangaj and Karabelas held no RSUsdoliar amount provided is the compensation cossfmh awards recognized in 2001
reported in our financial statements in accordamitte FAS 123R.

(2) Messrs. Skelly, Sumner, Wesson, Markham, Thgagmand Karabelas held options with respect tg80) 250,000, 150,000, 0, 100,
and 100,000 underlying shares, respectively, d&3eaember 31, 2006. The dollar amount provided éscitmpensation cost for such awi
recognized in 2006 as reported in our financiakstents in accordance with FAS 123R.

(3) Dr. Karabelas resigned as our director effeciday 11, 2006.
(4) Fee waived.

Directorswho are also our employees receive no additionapecial remuneration for their services as DinectDirectors who a
not our employees are eligible to receive, at ttserdtion of the Company, an annual grant of otitm purchase 50,000 shares of
common stock. No such option grants were made yodaector in 2005 or 2006. Additionally, Directongho are not our employees rece
$500 for each meeting attended ($250 in the caselehonic meetings). We also reimburse Diredimréravel and lodging expenses, if &
incurred in connection with attendance at Boardtings. Directors who serve on any of the Commiteesiablished by the Board of Direct
receive $250 for each Committee meeting attendéelsarheld on the day of a full Board meeting. Idion, on February 11, 2006,
granted to each of Messrs. William Sumner and ®@filliSkelly Restricted Stock Unit Awards providing fur issuance of up to 1 milli
shares of our common stock. The Restricted Stodk Aimards are made pursuant to our 2005 Restri€ietk Unit Award Plan and are
consideration of the services provided to us by dviesSumner and Skelly as independent membered@dlard and as representatives o
Independent Committee of the Board of Directorsvfarious material transactions undertaken by usnduhe period 2002 through 20
including, without limitation, our debenture offiegs in 2002 and 2004, the conversion of our prefestock into common stock and vari
bridge loans financing transactions, as well asttieir continued service as directors of the Compdine Restricted Stock Unit Awards
each of Messrs. Sumner and Skelly vest 388,88%®shar grant and the balance in equal monthly ins¢alts on the first day of each mo
beginning March 1, 2006 and ending December 1, 208& vested shares underlying the Restricted Stiék Awards will be issued by
on the earlier of (i) a Change in Control (as dediin our 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plam)(ii ) in four annual installments starti
on January 1, 2011. In the event of a Change irtrGlorve will issue the vested shares underlyirg Restricted Stock Unit Award in a lul
sum distribution. In the absence of a Change int@grthe issuance of the vested shares shall lierimafour (4) equal installments on e
of January 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, January 13 20dl January 1, 2014. Upon the issuance of thedehares underlying the Restric
Stock Unit Awards, Messrs. Sumner and Skelly magtys the $0.01 par value per share.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Paifiation
Our Compensation Committee consists of Messrs. Mark Skelly and Reddick. Except for Mr. Reddick,ows our President a

Chief Executive Officer, there were no Compensatidommittee interlocks or insider participation ingpensation decisions. ¢
Employment Agreements” for a discussion of Mr. Rekid employment agreement.
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Compensation Committee Report

The following report of the Compensation Commitie@ot deemed to be “soliciting material” or to fitked” with the Commissia
or subject to Regulation 14A or 14C [17 CFR 240-14&t seq. or 240.14c-1 etseq.], other than as specified, or to the liabilita@sSectior
18 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 78r[The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directwir the Company (the "Compensa
Committee") was composed of three directors du2idgé. In May 2006, Mr. Markham replaced Dr. Karalsglwho resigned as director)
member of the Compensation Committee.

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and disdub&® Compensation Discussion and Analysis inRigigort with Compar
management. Based on such review and discussibasCbompensation Committee recommended to the BofrBirectors that th
Compensation Discussion and Analysis be includedigmReport.

Richard J. Markham, William G. Skelly, and Andrew D. Reddick

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth information regarglithe beneficial ownership of the Common Stockpf&ebruary 1, 2007, f
individuals or entities in the following categori€g each of the Company's Directors and nomiriee®irectors; (ii) the Compang’principa
executive officer, the Compars/principal financial officer and the next thregliest paid executive officers of the Company whiose!
annual compensation for 2006 exceeded $100,000'f#m@ed executive officers"); (iii) all Directorsiéh executive officers as a group; .
(iv) each person known by the Company to be a li@akbwner of more than 5% of the Common Stockledsa indicated otherwise, eact
the shareholders has sole voting and investmenépaith respect to the shares beneficially owned.

PERCENT
AMOUNT OF
NAME OF BENEFICIAL OWNER OWNED CLASS (1)
GCE Holdings LLC, c/o Galen Partners Ill, L.P. 88@shington Boulevard
Stamford, CT 06901 256,325,50(2) 77.5%
Andrew D. Reddick 8,750,00(3) 2.6%
Ron J. Spivey 7,000,00(4 ) 2.1%
William G. Skelly 401,00(5) *
Bruce F. Wesson —(2) *
William A. Sumner 250,00((6) *
Peter A. Clemens 1,221,57(7) *
Richard J. Markham —2) *
Immanuel Thangaraj —(2) *
Robert A. Seiser 337,628) *
James F. Emigh 382,62Y9) *
All Directors and Officers as a Group (10 persons) 18,342,82(10) 5.2%
* Represents less than 1% of the outstanding sluditb® Company's Common Stock.
(1) Shows percentage ownership assuming (i) such pmamyerts all of its currently convertible secustier securitie

convertible within 60 days of February 1, 2006 ithe Company's common stock, and (ii) no other Comgpsecurityholder conve
any of its convertible securities. No shares hgl@iy Director or named executive officer has bgledged as collateral security.

2 GCE Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liityi company, is the assignee of all of the Comparpreferred stock (prior
its conversion into common stock) formerly held égch of Galen Partners lll, L.P., Galen Partnetsriational Ill, L.P., Gale
Employee Fund Ill, L.P. (collectively, “Galen;are Capital Investments Il, LP, Care Capital Qffehinvestments II, LP (collective
“Care Capital”) and Essex Woodlands Health Ventiwes.P. (“Essex”).Galen, Care Capital and Essex own 43%, 27% and
respectively, of the membership interests in GCHdidgs LLC. The following natural persons exerciggting, investment ar
dispositive rights over the Compasysecurities held of record by GCE Holdings LLQ: Galen Partners lll, L.P., Galen Partr
International 11, L.P. and Galen Employee Fund LIP., William Grant, Bruce F. Wesson, L. John k&ison, David W. Jahns, ¢
Zubeen Shroff; and (ii) Care Capital Investmentd P and Care Capital Offshore Investments Il, 08y Leschly, Jerry Karabel
David Ramsay and Richard Markham; and (iii) Essebo#fands Health Ventures V, L.P., Immanuel Tharjgara
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3) Includes 8,750,000 shares subject to currentlyaisale stock options. Excludes 8,250,000 resttisteck unit awarc
(“RSUs") granted to Mr. Reddick. Mr. Reddick has no rightsaastockholder, including no dividend or votingftis, with respect to tl
shares underlying the RSUs until the shares avedsby the Company pursuant to the terms of Comiga205 Restricted Stock U
Plan.

4) Includes 7,000,000 shares subject to currentlycisanle stock options. Excludes 6,600,000 RSUstgdato Dr. Spivey. D
Spivey has no rights as a stockholder, includinglivadend or voting rights, with respect to the r@saunderlying the RSUs until 1
shares are issued by the Company pursuant tortine tf Company’s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Plan.

(5) Includes 390,000 shares subject to currently esabde stock options. Excludes 1,000,000 RSUs gilantdir. Skelly. Mr
Skelly has no rights as a stockholder, includingdinédend or voting rights, with respect to the igsaunderlying the RSUs until 1
shares are issued by the Company pursuant torths t#f the Company’s 2005 Restricted Stock UnihPla

(6) Includes 250,000 shares subject to currently esabdé stock options. Excludes 1,000,000 RSUs gitant&ir. Sumner. M
Sumner has no rights as a stockholder, includingimalend or voting rights, with respect to the isaunderlying the RSUs until 1
shares are issued by the Company pursuant tortine t&f the Company’s 2005 Restricted Stock UnihPla

(7 Includes 906,250 shares subject to currently esabbé stock options. Excludes 4,400,000 RSUs gilaiotéMr. Clemen:
Mr. Clemens has no rights as a stockholder, inolyidio dividend or voting rights, with respect te #hares underlying the RSUs
the shares are issued by the Company pursuarg tertms of Company’s 2005 Restricted Stock UnihPla

(8) Includes 337,625 shares subject to currently esabdé stock options. Excludes 1,650,000 RSUs gitaotddr. Seiser. M
Seiser has no rights as a stockholder, includinglimmend or voting rights, with respect to the msaunderlying the RSUs until 1
shares are issued by the Company pursuant tortine tf Company’s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Plan.

9) Includes 337,625 shares subject to currently esabté stock options. Excludes 1,375,000 RSUs gilantér. Emigh. Mr
Emigh has no rights as a stockholder, includingdividend or voting rights, with respect to the gwunderlying the RSUs until 1
shares are issued by the Company pursuant torthe t§ Company’s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Plan.

(10) Includes 17,971,500 shares which Directors and wgkex officers have the right to acquire within @ays of February 1, 20
through exercise of outstanding stock options.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

GCE Holdings LLC, our 77%stockholder (“GCE”) is the assignee of all of ti®s of the Companypreferred stock (prior to
conversion into common stock) formerly held by eatksalen Partners Ill, L.P., Galen Partners Iragamal Ill, L.P., Galen Employee Fu
lll, L.P. (collectively, “Galen”), Care Capital lestments Il, LP, Care Capital Offshore InvestméintsP (collectively, “Care Capital”anc
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., (“Essesalen, Care and Essex own 43%, 27% and 30%, résggctof the membersh
interest in GCE. Messrs. Wesson, Markham and Thapgsach a Director of the Company, exercise itmeat control over the members
interests in GCE held by Galen, Care and Esseggotisely, and correspondingly exercise investnoamitrol over the Company’securitie
held by GCE.

As a condition to the completion of the Compang004 debenture offering, we, the investors in2b@4 debentures and the holc
of our outstanding 5% convertible senior securededaires due March 31, 2006 issued by us duringoénied from 1998 through 20
executed a certain Voting Agreement dated as ofueeh 6, 2004 (the "Voting Agreement”). The VotiAgreement provided that each
Galen, Care and Essex (collectively, the "Lead 2D8Benture Investors") had the right to designatenémination one member of our Bo
of Directors, and that the Lead Debenture 2004 dtors collectively may designate one additional inenof the Board (collectively, t
"Designees"). In connection with the conversionoof preferred shares into common stock completetNoamember 2005, the Votil
Agreement was amended to reflect the conveyanceabii of Galen, Care and Essex of their holdingsuinpreferred shares (prior to
conversion into common stock) to GCE. As amendagl Moting Agreement provides that our Board of Blioes shall be comprised of |
more than seven (7) members, four (4) of whom shalldesignees of GCE. The designees of GCE arerdledgsson, Markham a
Thangaraj. As of the date of this Report, the fodiesignee of GCE had not been determined.
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It was a condition to the completion of our 2004a®ure offering that our senior term loan agredn{dre “Watson Loa
Agreement”) with Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“8daf’) be restructured to provide for a reduction in thi@gpal amount of the Wats
term loan and for the assignment of the Watson tean as restructured to Galen, Care and Essextandther investors in our 2C
debentures as of February 10, 2004 (collectivdlg, "MWWatson Note Purchasers"). Accordingly, simwtars with the initial closing of o
2004 debenture offering, we, Watson and the Wakémte Purchasers executed an Umbrella Agreemend detef February 10, 2004 (
"Umbrella Agreement"). The Umbrella Agreement pdwd for (i) our payment to Watson of approximat®y3 million in consideration
amendments to the Watson term notes in the aggregatcipal amount of approximately $21.4 millioridencing the Watson term loan (
"Watson Notes") (A) to forgive approximately $1@mllion of indebtedness under that Watson Notesvilgg a $5.0 million principal balan:
(B) to extend the maturity date of the Watson Ndétesy March 31, 2006 to June 30, 2007, (C) to pmtevior the satisfaction of future inter
payments under the Watson Notes in the form ofcounmon stock, and (D) to provide for the forbeaeafrom the exercise of rights ¢
remedies upon the occurrence of certain eventefaiutt under the Watson Notes (the Watson Note® asnended, the "2004 Note"), and
Watson's sale and conveyance of the 2004 Notesttvditson Note Purchasers for cash considerati$a.6fmillion.

The 2004 Note in the principal amount of $5.0 rillis secured by a lien on all of our and our slibsj’s assets, carries a float
rate of interest equal to the prime rate plus 4d&%® matures on June 30, 2007. The allocation ofecstnip of the $5.0 million 2004 Nc¢
among each of the Watson Note Purchasers was loasiie quotient of the principal amount of our 2@®&bentures purchased by s
Watson Note Purchaser, divided by approximately. 3idllion, representing the aggregate principabant of the 2004 debentures issue
us on February 10, 2004. As such, of the $5.0 aenillprincipal amount of the 2004 Note, approximat®ly352,000, $1,754,000, ¢
$1,754,000, is owed by us to Care, Essex and Gedspectively (representing approximately 27%, 5% 35%, respectively, of the 2(
Note). During 2006, we paid interest under the 20ide in the aggregate amount of $623,942, whick satisfied by the issuance of
aggregate of 854,659 shares of our common stocklfath 231,108 shares, 299,895 shares and 299t@06sswere issued to Care, Essex
Galen, respectively).

We are a party to four (4) loan agreements comghlgtelanuary 2006, November, 2005, September, 20085June, 2005, each
amended to date, pursuant to which we have recdivielde financing installments in the aggregatex@pal amount of $ 8,744,00@he
“Bridge Loans”) from Galen, Care and Essex (coilaty, the “VC Lenders”and certain of our other shareholders listed orsitpeature pag
to such Bridge Loan agreemernitée net proceeds from the Bridge Loans, after #tisfaction of related legal expenses, have beed bg u
to continue development of our Aversioff@chnology and to fund related operating experiBes.Bridge Loans are secured by a lien o
of our assets, senior in right of payment and peiority to all of our other indebtedness. The BedLoans bear interest at the rate of
percent (10%) per annum, payable quarterly, andimaain March 31, 2007. Interest was paid in casbutfh the June 30, 2006 intel
payment date. Commencing with the September 30 &@8rest payment date, interest is payable, abption, in our common stock ba:
upon the average of the closing bid and asked préehe common stock for the five (5) trading daysnediately preceding an inter
payment date. The Bridge Loans are subject to ntandarepayment upon our completion of equity or debt fiiag or any sale, transf
license or similar arrangement pursuant to whictsele license or otherwise grant rights in anyemat portion of our intellectual property
any third party, provided that the consummatiommy such transaction results in certain minimum am® of cash proceeds to us, net ¢
costs and expenses. The Bridge Loans restricthilityao issue any shares of our currently authed Series A, B or C convertible prefel
stock without the prior consent of the bridge lesdand grants the bridge lenders preemptive rigdiéding to the issuance of our Series ;
and C convertible preferred stock. The Bridge Loamstain cross default provisions with the 2004eNahd each of the outstanding Bri
Loans. The Bridge Loans also contain normal andocusry affirmative and negative covenants, inclgdiestrictions on our ability to inc
additional debt or grant any lien on our assethermssets of its subsidiary, subject to certaimjied exclusions.

In August 2006, the Bridge Loans were amendedltawathe bridge lenders to convert all or a portafrthe Bridge Loans into o
common stock upon our completion of an equity foiag. The Bridge Loans and the August 2006 amendmwene further amended
November 2006 to permit the bridge lenders to canbe Bridge Loaninto our common stock upon the completion of addpiarty equit
financing providing gross proceeds to us in theregate amount of at least $8 million (a “Third R&tuity Financing”)a Change of Contr
Transaction or upon the maturity date of the Britigans (each a “Triggering Event'Qpon the occurrence of a Triggering Event, the
Lenders may convert $2.0 million iBridge Loansnto the common stock at a conversion price equéd] in the case of the completion ¢
Third Party Equity Financing, the lesser of (i) 8@¥the average closing bid and asked prices ofcoutmon stock for the twenty trad
days immediately preceding the public announceroktite Third Party Investor Financing, (ii) the eage price of the securities sold by u
such Third Party Equity Financing, and (iii) $0ddr share, and (B) in the case of a Change of Gloftansaction or upon the maturity ¢
of the Bridge Loans , the less of (i) 80% of the average closing bid and asgedes of our common stock for the twenty tradirays
immediately preceding the public announcement ef@hange of Control Transaction or the maturityedas applicable, and (ii) $0.44
share. In addition, upon a Triggering Event, thield® lenders may convert $2.55 million of Bridgeabsinto our common stock at
conversion price of $0.20 per share, $2.3 milliérthe Bridge Loans at a conversion price of $0.225 peretand $1.894 million ahe
Bridge Loans at a conversion price of $0.25 per share. Undereatiaccounting guidance, certain provisions ofaieended conversi
feature required the Company to separate the \ailtlee conversion feature from the debt and resoich value as a separate liability wi
must be marked-to-market each balance sheet date.
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The November and December 2006 issuances of Blidgas for an aggregate face value of $1,104,00luded this amendkt
conversion feature which the Company valued at ggremate of $1,034,000. This value was recorded &ability with an offsettin
$1,025,000 debt discount (which will be amortizegrothe term of the Bridge Loans) and $9,000 afasse loss. However, as the debt
issued to shareholders who control the Company Jtiss was recorded as a non-cash deemed dividdrat than effecting net loss.

The November 2006 amendment of the conversionreatu all of the then outstanding Bridge Loans pbed with the requiremer
to separate the value of the conversion featuma fitte debt, required the Company to record theevafithe amended conversion featur:
that outstanding debt as a liability and a losgt@nmodification of debt. The Company assignedlaevaf $19,951,000 to these conver:
features and reflected the modification loss asracash deemed dividend. While the aggregatecash-deemed dividend of $19,960,00C
not impact reported net loss, it does have an ilnpadoss per common share.

Upon revaluing the aggregate conversion featureallooutstanding Bridge Loans as of December 30626he Company record
the resulting decrease in value as a $4,235,000 §he decrease in the Compagbmmon stock trading price from November 200ge@
end resulted in the decrease in the value of thearsion liability.

During 2006, we paid an aggregate of $193,739 & daterest under the Bridge Loans (of which $58,3%8,289 and $58,289 v
paid to Galen, Care and Essex, respectively) asueds an aggregate of 426,501 shares of our commook $ satisfaction of intere
payments under the Bridge Loans (of which 139,3d&res, 139,342 shares and 139,342 shares weral issugalen, Care and Ess
respectively).

The Board has not adopted formalized written pedicand procedures for the review or approval @fteel party transactions. A
matter of practice, however, the Board has requihed all related party transactions, includingthwut limitation, each of the transacti
described above in this Item 13, be subject toengvaind approval by a committee of independent wireaestablished by the Board. -
Board’s practice is to evaluate whether a related pamtfuding a director, officer, employee, GCE, Gal@are, Essex or other signific
shareholder) will have a direct or indirect intéti@sa transaction in which the Company may beréyp®Vhere the Board determined that ¢
proposed transaction involves a related partyBibard formally establishes a committee comprisdelsof independent directors to revi
and evaluate such proposed transaction (the “Inttepg Committee”)The Independent Committee is authorized to review and al
information it deems necessary and appropriatevétuate the fairness of the transaction to the Gowiand its shareholders (other thar
interested related party to such transaction)uilioly meeting with management, retaining third ypastperts (including counsel and finan
advisors if determined necessary and appropriatehby Independent Committee) and evaluating altemmadiransactions, if any. T
Independent Committee is also empowered to negatiet terms of such proposed related party traiosaoh behalf of the Company. T
proposed related party transaction may proceedfoliwing the approval and recommendation of th@elpendent Committee. Following
Independent Committeg’approval, the related party transaction is stliedinal review and approval of the Board as aolghwith an
interested director abstaining from such action.

Each of the transactions described above in tleis1 113 were subject to the review, evaluation, riaioh and approval of :
Independent Committee of the Board. In each of sasle, the Independent Committee was comprisedesbid. Sumner and Skelly.

Director Independenct

In assessing Director independence as it relatéiset®@oard as a whole and committees of the BaardBoard has reviewed
analyzed the standards for independence provideseations 121A, 803 and 805 of the American StogkhBnge Company Guide
Listing Requirements (the “American Stock Exchabgector Independence Requirement$jhile we are not subject to the American S
Exchange Director Independence Requirements, dacllards allow our Board to evaluate the indepecel@fi the directors on our Boa
Based on an analysis of these standards, our Bamrdletermined that each of Messrs. Sumner andy3kel independent directors. W
respect to our Board committees, our Board hagméted that Messrs. Wesson and Thangaraj, eachhebareof our Audit Committee, a
Messrs. Reddick and Markham, each a member of amp@nsation Committee, do not meet the AmericartkStexchange Directi
Independence Requirements.

m Q)
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The Companys registered independent public accounting firB¥D Seidman, LLP. The fees billed by this firm i@0® and 200
were as follows:

2006 2005
Audit Fees $ 8582 $ 67,86
Audit-Related Fees - 7,48(
Total Audit and Audit-Related Fees 85,82¢ 75,347
Tax Fees 30,16¢ 28,00(
All Other Fees - -
Total for BDO Seidman, LLP $ 115,99: $ 103,34

Audit Fees include professional services rendemezbnnection with the annual audits of our finahstatements, and the review
the financial statements included in our Form3fr the related annual periods. Additionally, Auekes include other services that onl
independent registered public accountiingn can reasonably provide, such as services @tsdcwith Securities and Exchange Commis
registration statements or other documents filgtl thie Securities and Exchange Commission or usedrinection with financing activities.

Audit-Related Fees include the audits of employee bepddits and accounting consultations related to watt@ng, financie
reporting or disclosure matters not classified Agdit Fees."Tax Fees include tax compliance, tax advice andptarning services. The
services related to the preparation of variougestatl federal tax returns and review of Sectionetdfipliance.

Audit Committee's P-Approval Policies and Procedures

Consistent with policies of the Commission regagdanuditor independence and the Audit Committee €hathe Audit Committe
has the responsibility for appointing, setting cemgation and overseeing the work of the registar@elpendent public accounting firm (
“Firm”). The Audit Committee's policy is to pre-amye all audit and permissible non-audit servicesvigled by the Firm. Prapproval i
detailed as to the particular service or categdrgeovices and is generally subject to a specifidget. The Audit Committee may also pre-
approve particular services on a casezhge basis. In assessing requests for servicdeliyirm, the Audit Committee considers whether

services are consistent with the Fisndependence, whether the Firm is likely to pievihe most effective and efficient service bagsar
their familiarity with the Company, and whether #ervice could enhance the Company's ability toagaror control risk or improve au

quality.

All of the auditrelated, tax and other services provided by BDQli8an in 2006 and 2005 and related fees (as dedcitibthe
captions above) were approved in advance by thét Aahmittee.

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following documents are filed as part @ tieport:
1. All Financial Statements: See Index to FinanSiatements
2. Financial Statement Schedules: None

3. Exhibits: See Index to Exhibits

56




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&fdhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this reg
to be signed on its behalf by the undersignedetien duly authorized.

Date: March 14, 200 ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ ANDREW D. REDDICK

Andrew D. Reddicl
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated.

Signature Title(s) Date

/s Andrew D. Reddick President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer) March 14, 2007

Andrew D. Reddick

s/ Peter A. Clemens Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 14, 2007
Peter A. Clemens

/s/ William G. Skelly

Director March 14, 2007
William G. Skelly
/s/ Bruce F. Wesson

Director March 14, 2007
Bruce F. Wesson
/s/ William A. Sumner

Director March 14, 2007
William A. Sumner
/s/Richard J. Markham

Director March 14, 2007
Richard J. Markham
/sl Immanuel Thangaraj

Director March 14, 2007

Immanuel Thangaraj
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Palatine, lllinois

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Sabgids of December 31, 2006
2005 and the related consolidated statements ghtipes, stockholdergsieficit, and cash flows for each of the three yéaithe period ende
December 31, 2006. These financial statementsheradsponsibility of the Comparsymanagement. Our responsibility is to expres
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversightuBo(United States). Thc
standards require that we plan and perform thetsitmiobtain reasonable assurance about whethéindreial statements are free of mate
misstatement. The Company is not required to hawewere we required to perform, an audit of iteiinal control over financial reportir
Our audits included consideration of internal cohbver financial reporting as a basis for designaudit procedures that are appropria
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of esgimg an opinion on the effectiveness of the Comisamternal control over financ
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinidn.audit also includes examining, on a test basiglence supporting the amounts
disclosures in the financial statements, assegbi@gaccounting principles used and significantnesties made by management, as we
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@raWe believe that our audits provide a reastmbhsis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteaeferred to above present fairly, in all matergspects, the financial position of Ac
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary at Decembg@16 and 2005, and the results of their operatand their cash flows for each of
three years in the period ended December 31, 2@06pnformity with accounting principles generaligcepted in the United States
America.

The accompanying financial statements have begraprd assuming that the Company will continue gsiag concern. As described in N
B to the financial statements, the Company hassedfrecurring losses from operations and has aapétal deficiency that raise substar
doubt about its ability to continue as a going @nc Managemenrd’ plans in regard to these matters are also desciib Note B. Th
financial statements do not include any adjustm#érasmight result from the outcome of this undetia

As described in Note A.14 to the consolidated feiaihstatements, effective January 1, 2006, the fgzom adopted the fair value methot
accounting provisions of Statement of Financial &gtting Standard No. 123 (revised 2004), “ShareeBd&ayment”.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP

Chicago, lllinois
March 13, 2007




ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31, 2006 and 2005
(in thousands)

2006 2005
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 22¢ $ 26C
Prepaid insurance 17¢ 17¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 60 5
Total current assets 467 444
PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT, NET 1,14¢ 1,341
DEPOSITS 7 7
TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,61¢ $ 1,792
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Senior secured convertible term notes payable, net $ 7,00t $ 2,55(
Conversion features on notes payable 16,75( -
Secured term note payable 5,00( -
Current maturities of capital lease obligations 25 31
Accrued expenses 32¢ 341
Total current liabilities 29,10¢ 2,92
SECURED TERM NOTE PAYABLE - 5,00(
COMMON STOCK WARRANTS 10,78¢ -
CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS, less current maturities 7 32
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 39,89¢ $ 7,954
STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT
Common stock - $.01 par value; 650,000,000 shardmezed; 330,998,468
and 329,293,53shares issued and outstanding in 2006 and 20Qeatdeely 3,31( 3,29:
Convertible preferred stock - $.01 par value; 72,024 shares
authorized and available for issuance - -
Additional paid-in capital 275,95: 287,88!
Unearned compensation - (5,729
Accumulated deficit (317,54) (291,619
STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT (38,280 (6,162)
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS'’ DEFICIT $ 1,61¢ $ 1,792

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteiements.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
(in thousands, except per share data)

Net product revenue

Cost of manufacturing
Research and development
Selling, marketing, general and administrative

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)

Interest expense

Interest income

Write-off of debt discount and deferred private teffering costs
Amortization of debt discount and deferred privdgbt offering costs
Gain on debt restructuring

Gain on fair value change of conversion features

Gain on fair value change of common stock warrants

(Loss) gain on asset disposals

Other

TOTAL OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
NET LOSS

Basic and diluted loss per common st
applicable to common stockholders (Note A)

Weighted average number of outstanding common share

2006 2005 2004
- % - % 83¢
- - 1,43t
5,172 6,26¢ 4,13(
5,65¢ 5,29¢ 5,23¢
(10,826 (11,56)) (9,965)
(1,140 (63€) (2,962)
18 36 59
- - (41,80
(189 - (30,689
) - 12,40:
4,23¢ - )
2,164 - ]
(22) 81 2,35¢
(219 5 602
4,85¢ (514) (60,032
(5,967 $ (12,079 $ (69,996
(0.0§ $ (0.1 $ (3.20)
344,95¢ 66,79¢ 21,86

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbesteiements .
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Balance at January 1, 2004

Net loss for the year end:
December 31, 2004

Intrinsic value of issued options

Amortization of unearned
compensation

Issuance of Common Shares
for payment of interest

Issuance of Preferred Shares
for convertible debentures:

Series A Convertible

Series B Junior Convertible
Series C-1 Junior Convertible
Series C-2 Junior Convertible

Series C-3 Junior Convertible
Beneficial conversion features in
conjunction with issuance
of convertible debentures

Balance at December 31, 2004

Net loss for the year end:
December 31, 2005

Intrinsic value of issued options

and restricted stock units

Amortization of unearned
compensation

Issuance of Common Shares
for exercise of options

Issuance of Common Shares
for interest

Conversion of Preferred Shares:
Series A Convertible Preferred
Series B Junior Convertible
Series C-1 Junior Convertible
Series C-2 Junior Convertible
Series C-3 Junior Convertible

Balance at December 31, 2005

Net loss for the year end:
December 31, 2006
Deemed dividend related
to debt modification

Adoption of FAS 123R
Issuance of restricted stock units

Other stock based compensation
Reclassification of value
of common stock warrants
to liabilities
Issuance of Common Shares
for exercise of options
Issuance of Common Shares
for interest
Issuance of Common Shares
for cashless exercise of warrant

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006, 2005 AND 2004
(in thousands, except par values)

Preferred Stock
$0.01 Par Value

Common Stock
$0.01 Par Value

Additional
Paid-in Unearned  Accumulated

Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Compensatior Deficit Total
21,60. $ 21€ - $ - $ 157,26 $ - $ (209,549 $ (52,067
B B} B - . - (69,996 (69,99¢)
- - - - 3,03( (3,030 - -
- - - - 55 1,952 - 2,007
86E 9 - - 391 - - 40C
- - 21,96¢ 22C 13,89: - - 14,112
- - 20,24¢ 20z 6,722 - - 6,92¢
- - 56,42" 564 32,02¢ - - 32,58¢
- - 37,43: 374 22,05¢ - - 22,43
- - 81,907 81¢ 27,69: - - 28,51:
- - - - 14,00 - - 14,00(
22,467 228 217,97 2,18( 277,12 (1,079 (279,54) (1,089
) B ) - - - (12,079 (12,079
- - - - 11,10¢ (11,109 - -
- - - - - 6,45¢ - 6,45¢
35 1 - - 4 - - 5
96 10 - - 52¢ - - 53t
109,81¢ 1,09¢ (21,969 (220) (879) - - -
20,24¢ 20z (20,246 (209 - - - -
56,42 564 (56,429 (564) - - - -
37,43: 374 (37,439 (374 - - - -
81,907 81¢ (81,907 (819) - - - -
329,29: 3,297 - - 287,88! (5,729 (291,619 (6,162)
) B ) - - - (5,967 (5,967
(19,960 (19,960)
- - - - (5,729 5,72¢ - -
- - - - 68C - - 68C
- - - - 5,04¢ - - 5,04¢
B} - - (12,94¢) - > (12,949
40C 4 - - 94 - - 98
1,281 13 - - 92¢C - - 93z

24




Balance at December 31, 2006 330,99¢ $ 3,31( - $ - $ 27595 $ - $ (317,54)$ (38,280

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbesteiements .




ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004
(in thousands, except supplemental data)

2006 2005 2004

Cash flows from Operating Activities:

Net loss $ (5,967 $ (12,079 $ (69,996
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortization 11¢€ 137 291
Amortization of debt discount and deferred privagdt offering costs 18: - 30,68¢
Write off unamortized debt discount and deferrauaie debt offering cost - - 41,80
Gain on the fair value change of conversion feature (4,235 - -
Gain on the fair value change of common stock wesra (2,169 - -
Gain on debt restructuring - - (12,407
Non-cash stock compensation expense 5,72¢ 6,45¢ 2,007
Gain on Department of Justice settlement - - (402
Amortization of deferred product acquisition costs - - 6
Provision for losses on accounts receivable - - (42¢)
Loss (gain) on asset disposals 22 (82) (2,359
Stock issued for interest expense 93¢ 53t 401
Impairment charge against fixed assets 71 - -
Changes in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable - - 72¢
Inventories - - 312
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (55) 121 94
Other assets and deposits - (5) 184
Accounts payable - - (1,882
Accrued expenses (13 (618) 1,46(
Total adjustments 584 6,54¢ 60,50:
Net cash used in operating activities (5,389 (5,527 (9,499

Cash flows from Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures (85) (35 (444)
Proceeds from asset disposals 70 192 4,53¢
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (15) 15€ 4,097

Cash flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from issuance of senior secured bridgerlotes payable 5,29¢ 2,55( -
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 98 5 -
Proceeds from issuance of subordinated convedidbentures - - 11,95!
Payments on senior secured term notes payable - - (4,000
Payments to Department of Justice - - (32
Payments on capital lease obligations (31) (29 (45)
Payments of private offering costs - - (315
Net cash provided by financing activities 5,36¢ 2,52¢ 7,56(
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (33 (2,849 2,161

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 26C 3,10° 942




Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 228 $ 26C $ 3,10¢

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbesteiements .
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004
Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing erah¢ing activities:

Year ended December 31, 2006

1. The Company issued 854,649 shares of Common Stopkyanent of $624,000 of Secured Term Note Paysatdried interest.
2. The Company issued 426,501 shares of Common Sgopkyanent of $309,000 of Bridge Loan Notes Payabbeued interest.

3. Warrants to purchase 165,934 shares of Common Steck exercised in March 2006 at an exercise @ic.48 per share in a cashl
exercise transaction resulting in the issuanced@¥ab shares of Common Stock.

4. Warrants to purchase 30,698 shares of Common Steck exercised in May 2006 at an exercise pricB0od7 per share in a cashl
exercise transaction resulting in the issuance % shares of Common Stock.

5. A warrant to purchase 150,000 shares of CommonkSias modified due to its antifution clause resulting in a $142,000 st
compensation expense.

6. The modification of conversion features embeddethiwiBridge Loan Notes Payable was valued at $190#® and the issuance
$1,104,000 of Bridge Loan Notes Payable contaimewersion features valued at $1,035,000. The chanthee conversion featurefai
value through December 31, 2006 resulted in a ga$#,235,000.

7. Due to certain debt conversion feature modificatjadhe then current fair value of all 16,331,00@standing common stock warrants
$12,948,000 was reclassified from equity to lidigii. The change in the common stock warrantsvidire through December 31, 2(
resulted in a gain of $2,164,000.

8. Bridge Loan Notes Payable of $1,104,000 contairigd2®,000 of debt discount.

Year ended December 31, 2005

1. The Company issued 963,000 shares of commok atopayment of $535,000 of Secured Term Note Rayaicrued interest.

2. 217,973,000 shares of Convertible Preferredk3ta@re converted into 305,828,000 shares of Com&took.

Year ended December 31, 2004

1. The Company's Convertible Subordinated Debentwetamed beneficial conversation features whichewedued at $14,000,000.

2. The Company repaid $166,000 of indebtedness ifotine of product deliveries.

3. Bridge Loans of $2,000,000 and accrued intere$48f000 were converted into like amounts of CoriblertSubordinated Debentures.
4. The Company issued 865,000 shares of common sgop&yanent of $400,000 of Senior Secured Term Nayalfle accrued interest.

5. Convertible Subordinated Debentures of $100,632 &0 accrued interest of $3,939,000 were convarted 217,973,000 shares
Convertible Preferred Stock.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteigements .






ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
NOTE A - DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a New York corporateamd its subsidiary (the “Companyi¥ a specialty pharmaceutical company engag
research, development and manufacture of innovaiiersion® (abuse deterrent) Technology and relggextiuct candidate<OxyADF
Tablets, the Company’s lead product candidatezirtdi Aversion®Technology, is being developed pursuant to an adtivestigational ne
drug application (“IND”) on file with the U.S. Foaghd Drug Administration (“FDA").

Prior to the restructuring of its operations (asalibed below), the Company was engaged in thelo@wvent, manufacture, sale ¢
distribution of generic finished dosage pharmacelitproducts (“Generic Productsdnd active pharmaceutical ingredients ("APIs").
November 6, 2003, the Compaannounced a restructuring plan to focus on reseandhdevelopment related to its Aversiofi@hnolog'
and Opioid Synthesis Technologies (as describeal)eDuring the first quarter of 2004, the Compaegsed its Generic Products operal
and during the nine months ended September 20, 2004 ompany sold to third parties substantidllyfits assets used in the manufac
and sale of its Generic Products for $4.5 milliba.ring 2004 and early 2005, the Company was alsogatym development of novel opi
manufacturing processes (the "Opioid Synthesis i@ldgies”) intended for use in the commercial mantifre of certain bulk opioid acti
pharmaceutical ingredients. In early 2005, the Camypannounced suspension of activities relatinghéo Opioid Synthesis Technolog
pending the deputy DEA Administrator's determimatielating to the Company’pending application for registration to importaaic raw
materials (the "Narcotic Raw Materials Import Aggaliion") filed with the DEA in early 2001. In |ag006, the Company notified the DI
that it was withdrawing the Narcotic Raw Materiltgport Application and subsequently the Companydiasontinued all activities relati
to the Opioid Synthesis Technologies. The withdiaxfidéhe Narcotic Raw Material Import Applicatiométhe discontinuation of all activiti
relating to the Opioid Synthesis Technologies allthe Company to focus all of its resources on dgiah and commercializing
Aversion® Technology and related product candidates

The Company conducts internal research, developriadratory, manufacturing and warehousing aégisifor Aversion®rechnology at il
Culver, Indiana facility. The 28,000 square fodtility is registered by the DEA to perform researdbvelopment and manufacture for cel
Schedule 1l - V finished dosage form produdis. addition to internal capabilities and activitite Company engages a numbe
pharmaceutical product contract research organizat{“CROs")with expertise in regulatory affairs, clinical tridesign and monitoring, a
clinical data management, biostatistics, medicdling, laboratory testing and related services.'SGROs perform development services
OxyADF Tablets and other product candidates ungedirection of the Company.

To generate revenue e Company plans to enter into development and ancialization agreements with strategically foct
pharmaceutical company partners (the "Partnergljiging that such Partners license product candgatilizing the Company’s Aversiad
Technology and further develop, register and cornsrakize multiple strengths and packing sizes ofhspoduct candidates. The Comp
expects to receive revenue in the form of milestpagments and a share of profits and/or royaltynpts derived from the Partners' fu
sale of products incorporating Aversion ® Technglofs of the date of this Report, the Company did mmte any executed collaborat
agreements with Partners, nor can there be anyamgsuthat the Company will successfully enter such collaborative agreements in
future.

Summary of Accounting Policies

A summary of the significant accounting policiesisistently applied in the preparation of the accanying consolidated financial statem
follows.

1. Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include theoants of the Company and its whotiwned subsidiary, Acura Pharmaceut
Technologies, Inc. All material intercompany acdsuand transactions have been eliminated. In 2@®6,Company dissolved Axic
Pharmaceutical Corporation. During 2003, the Comdissolved all of its inactive subsidiaries witietexception of Acura Pharmaceut
Technologies, Inc. and Axiom Pharmaceutical Corfiona The dissolution of these subsidiaries hadmpact on the consolidated finant
position, results of operations or cash flows ef @ompany.
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2. Statements of Cash Flows

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, tragany considers all highly liquid debt instrumeptschased with an original maturity
three months or less to be cash equivalents. Tmep@oy paid no income taxes for the years endedbleee31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
addition, the Company paid cash interest of appnateély $207,000,$101,000 and $47,000 for the years ended Decenih@086, 2005 ar
2004, respectively.

3. Accounts Receivable - Trade and Allowance Accounts

Consistent with the cessation of the manufactuie sale ofGeneric Products in the first quarter of 2004, @empany had no accou
receivable from customers at each of December @16 2nd 2005. For prior periods, the Company'swausaeceivable trade were due fro
customers for the purchase of Generic ProductdiOnas extended based on evaluation of a custerfieéncial condition and, genera
collateral was not required. Estimates that weexuis determining allowances were based on the @agip historical experience, curr
trends, credit policy and a percentage of its astoreceivable by aging category.

Changes in the Company's trade allowance accotm@ssdollows (in thousands):

2004
Beginning balance $ 42¢
Provision for losses on accounts receivable -
Provision for all other allowances -
Write-offs (42¢)

Ending balance $ =

4. Inventories

The Company had no inventories at each of DecerBber2006 and 2005. Purchases of active ingrediergsired for the Company’
development and manufacture of product candiddtiézing its Aversion® Technology, are expensedrasirred.

5. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at €mgpreciation is recorded on a straifjhe basis over the estimated useful lives of
related assets. Amortization of capital lease assencluded in depreciation expense. Leasehoftarements are amortized on a strailjtnd-
basis over the shorter of their useful lives or tédmens of their respective leases. Bettermentsapéalized and maintenance and repair:
charged to operations as incurred. The estimated bf the major classification of depreciable esaee:

Building and building improvements 10 -40 year
Land improvements 20 -40 year
Machinery and equipment 7 -10 year
Scientific equipment 5-10 year
Computer hardware and software 3-10 year
Office equipment 5-10 year
Furniture and fixtures 10 year

6. Asset Impairment

Longdived assets are reviewed for impairment whenewam&s or changes in circumstances indicate theyiogrrvalue may not t
recoverable. Impairment is measured by compariag#urying value of the lonlijved assets to the estimated undiscounted futasé dow:
expected to result from use of the assets and dlteirate disposition. To the extent impairment basurred, the carrying amount of the a
would be written down to an amount to reflect thi falue of the asset. During the fourth quarfe2@)6, the Company provided a $71,
reserve against assets assigned to the Congp@npibid Synthesis Technologies. The Company hssodtinued all activities relating to
Opioid Synthesis Technologies.
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7. Deferred Private Debt Offering Costs

Private debt offering costs represented costs iadury the Company in conjunction with securingtdetancing in February 2004. In Aug
2004, all outstanding debentures were convertamvatious series of preferred stock and approxin#i@17,000 of unamortized defer
private debt offering costs were charged to expellb@utstanding series of preferred stock wasssgjnently converted into common stoc
2005.

8. Debt Discount

Debt discount resulting from the issuance of comratmtk warrants in connection with the issuancesuifordinated debt and other n¢
payable in 2004 as well as from beneficial conwerdeatures contained in convertible debt instruséssued in 2004 and prior years,

recorded as a reduction of the related obligatamswas amortized over the remaining life of tHateel obligations. Debt discount relate:
the common stock warrants issued was determineal dafculation based on the relative fair valuesibsd to such warrants determinec
management's use of the Black-Scholes valuatiorembtherent in the Blackcholes valuation model are assumptions made bygeamer
regarding the estimated life of the warrant, thinested volatility of the Company's common stoc& ¢(getermined by reviewing its histori
public market closing prices) and the expectedddind yield. In August 2004, all related debt wasvested into various series of prefel
stock and the entire remaining unamortized dehtodist of $41,090,000 was charged to expense. Subs#y, all outstanding series
preferred stock was converted into common sto@Ob.

As described more fully in Note F, additional delstcount of $1,025,000 was recorded in 2006 axisg amortized through the March
2007 maturity of the related debt.

9. Conversion Features and Common Stock Warrants

Certain provisions of the amended conversion featwontained in the Compasybutstanding Bridge Loans, required the Compal
separate the value of the conversion feature flasdebt and record such value as a separatetijabhich must be marked-tmarket eac
balance sheet date. Future period fair value adjsts to the conversion feature could result inh&mr gains or losses. To compute
estimated value of the conversion features, thegamy used the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

As a result of the November 2006 amendment to tiwgB Loans, all outstanding common stock purcheesgants were fair valued using
Black - Scholes option-pricing model and recordsddiability with corresponding reduction in adifital paidin capital. The liability mu
be marked-to-market each balance sheet. Futuredofair value adjustments to the warrant liabitiuld result in further gains or losses.

10. Revenue Recognition

The Company recorded no Generic Product sales wegeadter the second quarter of 2004. Prior tg thetCompany recognized revenue,
of sales discounts and allowances, when title ¢oGleneric Products passed to the customer, whichr@z upon shipment. The Comp
established sales provisions for estimated chadisbaliscounts, rebates, returns, pricing adjustsnamnd other sales allowances concurrt
with the recognition of revenue. The sales provisiovere established based upon consideration afriaty of factors, including, but r
limited to, actual return and historical experierme product type, the number and timing of compatitproducts approved for sale,
expected market for the product, estimated custanventory levels by product, price declines and&nt and projected economic conditi
and levels of competition. Actual product returhagebacks and other sales allowances incurred, wereever, dependent upon fut
events.

11. Shipping and Handling Costs
Prior to cessation of the manufacture and sale eiedc Products in the second quarter of 2004 Ghmpany included all shipping &

handling expenses incurred as a component of éosaoufacturing.

F-10




12. Research and Development

Prior to the cessation of development, manufacame sale of Generic Products, research and develup(tR&D”) expenses consist
primarily of activities associated with developmetGeneric Products and the Compan®@pioid Synthesis Technologies. Since the
quarter of 2004, R&D expenses were primarily asged with the Company’s Aversion®echnology and, to a much lessor extent
Companys Opioid Synthesis Technologies. R&D expensesudelinternal R&D activities and external CROs. etntal R&D expenst
include facility overhead, maintenance, repair as&preciation, laboratory supplies, plaiical laboratory experiments, equipm
maintenance, repairs and depreciation, salarie®fit® incentive compensation and other admirtisgaexpenses. CRO expenses inc
preclinical laboratory experiments, clinical triatdinical trial and regulatory consulting, regagat counsel and patent counsel. R&D expe
are charged to operations as incurred. The Comparigws and accrues clinical trial expenses basedork performed and relies on
estimate of the costs applicable to the stage ofpbetion of a clinical trial as provided by the CR@ccrued clinical costs are subjec
revisions as such trials progress to completiorvidtons are charged to expense in the period ichwihe facts that give rise to the revis
become known. The Company has binding researcldevelopment commitments, of which $162,000 hatg/ée incurred and recorded
December 31, 2006. This amount is expected to lkeetspy March 31, 2007. The Company had no bindegparch and developm
commitments with third parties at December 31, 2005

13. Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under thditiamethod in accordance with Statement of FziahAccounting Standards No. 1
("SFAS No. 109"), "Accounting for Income Taxes." dém this method, deferred income tax assets abditi@s are determined based
differences between financial reporting and taxdasassets and liabilities and are measured ubm@nacted tax rates and laws that wi
in effect when the differences are expected toreeveAdditionally, income tax credit carryforwara® reported as deferred income tax as
SFAS 109 requires a valuation allowance againgrded tax assets if, based on the weight of availatidence, it is more likely than not t
some or all of the deferred tax assets may notakized. At both December 31, 2006 and 2005, aatialu allowance equal to 100% of the
deferred income tax assets was used and primamitpips to uncertainties with respect to futuréaatiion of net operating loss carryforwai
In the event the Company were to determine thatotild be able to realize some or all its defernecbine tax assets in the future,
adjustment to the deferred income tax asset wawletase income in the period such determinationmsde.

14. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The computation of basic earnings (loss) per stloireommon stock is based upon the weighted averageber of common shai
outstanding during the period, including shareatesl to vested restricted stock units (See Notilljited earnings (loss) per share is base
the same number of common shares adjusted forftibet ©f other potentially dilutive securities. Mdoich adjustments were made for 2!

2005 or 2004 as their effects would be antidilutive

Net loss used in the Compé's earnings (loss) per share computations incldgegipact in 2006 of dividends deemed to have lered t
certain common shareholders as a result of motifica to debt agreements with those shareholdegther described in Note F.

Year ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2006 2005 2004
Numerator:
Net loss $ (5,967 $ (12,079 $ (69,99¢)
Deemed dividend from modification of debt (19,960) - -
Net loss applicable to common stock holders $ (25,92) $ (12,079 $ (69,99¢)

Denominator:
Weighted average number of outstanding -

Common shares 329,85¢ 66,57- 21,86
Vested restricted stock units 15,10: 22€ -
344,95¢ 66,79¢ 21,86!

Basic and diluted loss per common share $ (0.08) $ (0.1¢) $ (3.20)

Potentially dilutive securities:
Common stock issuable (1) -



Employee and director stock options 18,99¢ 19,75¢ 17,49¢

Common stock warrants 16,33: 16,24: 32,87
Non-vested restricted stock units 9,83: 18,33: -
Convertible debt 33,057 - -
Convertible preferred stock - - 305,82¢

78,21¢ 54,33( 356,20

(1) Number of shares issuable is based on maximumbar of shares issuable on exercise or convediitire related securities as of year
end. Such amounts have not been adjusted forahstury stock method or weighted average outstardileglations required if the securities
were dilutive.
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15. Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has three stoolised compensation plans covering stock optionsrestdicted stock units for its employees and daex
which are described more fully in Note I.

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Finandebdnting Standards Board Statement No. 123 (ré\2604), “Share-Based Payment”
(“FASB 123R"). This change in accounting replaces existing reqergs under Statement of Financial Accounting Stedsd No. 12!
"Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (“SFAS "128d eliminates the ability to account for shaesed compensation transac
using Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 2B¢ctounting for Stock Issued to Employees," andteeldnterpretations ("APB No. 25
The compensation cost related to shaaeed payment transactions is now measured baskdr aralue of the equity or liability instrume
issued. For purposes of estimating the fair valueagh stock option unit on the date of grant,Gloenpany utilized the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. The Blaclscholes option valuation model was developed ferinsestimating the fair value of traded optionkjalk have n
vesting restrictions and are fully transferableatfdition, option valuation models require the inpuhighly subjective assumptions includ
the expected volatility factor of the market primethe Companys common stock (as determined by reviewing itsohistl public marke
closing prices). Because the Compangmployee stock options have characteristics feggntly different form those of trade options .
because changes in the subjective input assumptaonmaterially affect the fair value estimatemanagemens opinion, the existing mods
do not necessarily provide a reliable measureefdir value of its employee stock options.

The Company had previously accounted for stoaked compensation using the intrinsic value methatcordance with APB No. 25 ¢
had adopted the disclosure provisions of StatemhRinancial Accounting Standards No. 148, "Accinmtfor Stock-Based Compensation -
Transition and Disclosure, ("SFAS No. 148"), an adment of SFAS 123. Under APB No. 25, when the @gerprice of the Compan
employee stock options equaled the market pricéhefunderlying common stock on the date of graot,compensation expense \
recognized. Accordingly, no compensation expenskeblegn recognized in the consolidated financiaéstants in connection with these ty

of grants for 2005 and earlier. When the exerciseepof the Company's employee stock options was than the market price of
underlying common stock on the date of grant, camepton expense was recognized. Equity instrumisstied to nonemployees in exche
for goods, fees and services are accounted forruhddair value-based method of SFAS No. 123(R).

The Company’s accounting for stock-based compesrsédi restricted stock units (‘RSUs”) has beenedasn the faivalue method. The fe
value of the RSUs is the market price of the Corgisacommon stock on the date of grant, less itsase cost.

The following table illustrates the effect on net$ and loss per share had the Company appliddithealue recognition provisions of SF.

123 to stock-based employee compensation fosiitalk option grant awards. Pro forma compensatiper®se may not be indicative of fut
expense.
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Year ended December 31,

(in thousands,
except per share data)

2005 2004

Net loss, as reporte $ (12,079 $ (69,99¢)
Add: total stock-based employee compensation expiectuded in reported net loss 6,45¢ 2,007
Deduct: total stock-based employee compensatioaresgdetermined under fair valbased metha

for all awards (7,242) (3,059
Net loss, pro form $ (12,859 $ (71,047
Loss per share:

Basic and Diluted EPS - as reported $ (0.19) $ (3.20

Basic and Diluted EPS - as pro forma $ (0.19 $ (3.29)

16. Use of Estimates in Consolidated Financial Statemén

The preparation of consolidated financial stateséntconformity with accounting principles geneya#iccepted in the United States
America requires management to make estimates smdasumptions that affect the reported amourdssats and liabilities and disclosur
contingent liabilities at the date of the consdidhfinancial statements, as well as the reponeduats of revenues and expenses durin
reporting period. Actual results could differ frahose estimates.

Management periodically evaluates estimates usdbeimreparation of the consolidated financialestants for continued reasonabler
Appropriate adjustments, if any, to the estimateduare made prospectively based on such periediaations.

17. Carrying Amount and Fair Value of Financial Instrum ents
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalerisoapnates fair value due to the shtatm maturities of the instruments. The carr
value of the Compang’debt approximates fair value because the delo$ berans that are reflective of those terms shthédCompany sect
additional financing.
18. Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to thr pgars' amounts to conform to the current ygmesentation.
19. New Accounting Pronouncements

Changes and Error Corrections
In May 2005, the Financial Accounting Standardsda-FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accougtitandards No. 154Atcounting
Changes and Error Corrections - A Replacement d8 &pinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3", (“SFAS4"). SFAS 154 primaril
requires retrospective application to prior periofilsancial statements for the direct effects of demin accounting principle, unless i
impracticable to determine either the perggkcific effects or the cumulative effect of theaohe. SFAS 154 was effective for accour
changes and corrections of errors made in fiscaisykeginning after December 15, 2005.

Share-Based Payment
The Company adopted FASB 123R effective Janua3006 under the modified prospective method, whatognizes compensation ¢
beginning with the effective date (a) based onrémriirements of FASB 123R for all shdrased payments granted after the effective dat

to awards modified, repurchased, or cancelled #ffter date and (b) based on the requirements oBF8atement No. 123 for all awa
granted to employees prior to the effective datEA®% 123R that remain unvested on the effective.dete only cumulative effect of initia



applying this Statement for the Company was toassify $5,724,000 of previously recorded unearmedpensation into paidh capital. Th
Company has estimated that an additional $5,827y@i0(be expensed over the applicable remainingtimgsperiods for all sharbase!
payments granted to employees on or before DeceB1he2005 which remained unvested on January 16.2D8 Company anticipates t

more compensation costs will be recorded in theréuif the use of options and restricted stockauftut employees and director compens:
continues as in the past.
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Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments

In February 2006, FASB issued Statement of Findraiaounting Standard No. 155, "Accounting for GémtHybrid Financial Instruments -
an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133 and 140FASS155"). SFAS 155 resolves issues addressed in Statemeri@#8mentatio
Issue No. D1, “Application of Statement 133 to Bfgial Interests in Securitized Financial AssetSFAS 155 is effective for all financ
instruments acquired or issued after the beginwihthe first fiscal year that begins after Septemb®, 2006. As such, the Compan'
required to adopt these provisions at January @7 20he Company is currently evaluating the impEcSFAS 155, but currently does
anticipate any material impact to its consoliddtedncial statements.

Uncertainty in Income Taxes

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No('48N 48") regarding "Accounting for Uncertaintié@s Income Taxes," which defines
threshold for recognizing the benefits of tax-ratpositions in the financial statements as "mdreli-thannot" to be sustained by the tax
authorities. FIN 48 also requires explicit disclesuequirements about a Company's uncertaintiegectlto their income tax positic
including a detailed rollforward of tax benefit&ém that do not qualify for financial statementagwition. This Interpretation is effective
fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2006. duraulative effect of applying the provisions oNF48 will be reported as an adjustrr
to the opening balance of retained earnings farfikeal year. The Company is evaluating the pdesimpact of FIN 48, but currently dc
not anticipate any material impact to its consdéddinancial statements.

Fair Value Measurements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, “Falue Measurements3SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framkvion
measuring fair value under generally accepted atawy principles, and expands disclosures aboutVi@aiue measurements. SFAS 15
effective for financial statements issued for flsggars beginning after November 15, 2007, andimtgeriods within those fiscal years. ~
Company is currently evaluating the impact the &idopof this statement could have on is financiahdition, results of operations or ¢
flows.

NOTE B - BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying financial statements have begmped assuming the Company will continue as a goamgern At December 31, 200
the Company had unrestricted cash and cash egnisadé $0.2 million, a working capital deficit of $28.6 million, and ancaenulate:
deficit of $317.5 million.The Company incurred a loss from operations of &h@illion and a net loss of $6.0 million during thear ende
December 31, 2006 and a loss from operations of6$1million and a net loss of $12.Million during the year ended December 31, 2
Historically, the Company has incurred significdo$ses and until such time as its product candsdate commercialized, of which
assurance can be given, the Company will continaeriing lossesThese factors, among others, raise substantialtddadut the Compan
ability to continue as a going concern.

The Company estimates that its current cash reseinveluding the net proceeds from the Bridge Légneements described in Note F,»
be sufficient to fund the development of the Avens? Technology and related operating expenses thraatghMarch 2007. To fund furtr
operations and product development activitiesGbmpany must raise additional financing, or emés alliances or collaboration agreem
with third parties resulting in cash payments te tBompany relating to its Aversion® Technology eT®ompany is seeking to sec
working capital providing gross proceeds to the @any in the range of approximately $10 million thb3million through the private offeril
of the Companys securities. The terms of any such securitiegiaffeincluding, without limitation, the type of eitly securities (or securiti
convertible into equity securities) and the pricr ghare, have not been determined and will, igelgvart, be determined based L
negotiations between the Company and prospectiestars in such private offering. No assurance lmamgiven that the Company will
successful in obtaining any such financing or icusieg collaborative agreements with third partesacceptable terms, if at all, or if secu
that such financing or collaborative agreementsprdvide for cash payments to the Company sufficte continue to fund operations. In
absence of such financing or thipdsty collaborative agreements, the Company wiltdmiired to scale back or terminate operationgaa
seek protection under applicable bankruptcy laws.

Even assuming the Company is successful in secuadiditional sources of financing to fund the com¢id development of the Aversién
Technology, or otherwise enters into alliances alaborative agreements relating to the Averstohechnology, there can be no assur:
that the Company's development efforts will resaltcommercially viable products. The Company'sufalto successfully develop
Aversion® Technology in a timely manner and to avoid infrimgthirdparty patents and other intellectual property sghill have a materi
adverse impact on its financial condition and rssof operations.
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In view of the matters described above, recovetghif a major portion of the recorded asset amsghbwn in the Company's accompan
consolidated balance sheets is dependent upomuedtioperations of the Company, which in turn agetident upon the Company's ab
to meet its financing requirements on a contindiagis, to maintain present financing, and to sutaeds future operations. The Compal
financial statements do not include any adjustmelating to the recoverability and classificationrecorded asset amounts or amounts
classification of liabilities that might be neceagsshould the Company be unable to continue intexce.

NOTE C - FINANCING TRANSACTIONS
2004 Debenture Offering

In 2004, the Company consummated private offerioigsonvertible senior secured debentures (the "2D8Bentures”) in the aggreg
principal amount of approximately $14 million (th2004 Debenture Offering"). The 2004 Debenturesiedran interest rate of 1.62%
annum and were secured by a lien on all assetheofCompany and the assets of Acura Pharmaceutaainblogies, Inc. and Axic
Pharmaceutical Corporation, each a wholly-ownedaislidry of the Company.

In accordance with the terms of the documents dgdcin connection with the 2004 Debenture Offeriaffective August 13, 2004, t
business day following the Company's receipt ofelfalder approval to restate the Company's Ceatdiof Incorporation to authorize
Series A Preferred and the Junior Preferred SHarsedescribed below) as provided in the 2004 Pgecigreement, the aggregate princ
amount of the 2004 Debentures converted into ameggie of 21,963,757 shares of the Compau8eries A Preferred shares. In addi
effective August 13, 2004, the Compasg% convertible debentures issued during the gdriom 1998 through 2003 in the aggre:
principal amount of approximately $86.6 million weronverted into the Company’s Series B Preferhedles, Series C-Preferred share
Series C-2 Preferred shares and Series C-3 Préfehazes (the “Junior Preferred Shared3.the result, on August 13, 2004, the Comj
issued an aggregate of approximately 20.2 millienes B Preferred shares, 56.4 million Series Gefdfred shares, 37.4 million Serie2C-
Preferred shares and 81.9 million Serie8 @referred shares. As a result of the converdiom, Company wrote off $41.8 million
unamortized debt discount and deferred private dibting costs.

Conversion of Preferred Shares into Common Stock

Effective November 10, 2005, all of the issued antstanding preferred shares of the Company wemraiically and mandatorily conver
into the Company’s common stock, $.01 par valuespare (the “Common Stock”) in accordance withtdrens of the Companyg’Restate
Certification of Incorporation (the “Preferred Sto€onversion”).In accordance with the conversion provisions cowtdiin the Restat
Certificate of Incorporation, all issued and outsliag shares of the Company’s Series A Preferredk$Series B Preferred Stock, Serieg C-
Preferred Stock, Series C-2 Preferred Stock an$S€&-3 Preferred Stock (collectively, the “PrederiStock™)are converted automatice
into the Company’s Common Stock upon the Compangteipt of the written consent to the PreferretiSConversion from the holders
at least 51% of the shares of the Comparfyéries A Preferred Stock. On November 10, 2085,Gompany received the consent tc
Preferred Stock Conversion from GCE Holdings LL8e(fassignee of all of the CompasyPreferred Stock (prior to its conversion
Common Stock) formerly held by each of Care Capitaéstments Il, LP, Care Capital Offshore Invesitadl, LP, Essex Woodlands Hes
Ventures V, L.P., Galen Partners International LIP., Galen Partners lll, L.P. and Galen Emplofeed IlI, L.P.), collectively, theVC
Investors”, such entity holding in the aggregatexcess of 51% of the issued and outstanding sludirdee Companys Series A Preferrt
Stock. In accordance with the terms of the Compamgstated Certificate of Incorporation, all sharethe Companys Preferred Stock we
automatically converted into an aggregate of agprately 305.4 million shares of the CompasfZommon Stock. After giving effect to
Preferred Stock Conversion, effective November25 the Company had an aggregate of approximag9y0 million shares of Comm
Stock issued and outstanding.
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At December 31, 2006 and 2005, convertible prefesteck consists of the following (in thousands):

Number of Authorized
Common Preferred
Number of Shares Issued Shares
Authorized Preferred _ Upon Preferred  Available for
Preferred Shares Shares Issuance at
Shares at Converted in Conversion in 12/31/05 and
Convertible Preferred Stock 12/31/04 2005 2005 12/31/06
Series A 45,00( 21,96¢ 109,81¢ 23,03¢
Series B Junior 25,00( 20,24¢ 20,24¢ 4,75¢
Series C-1 Junior 70,00( 56,42 56,42: 13,577
Series C-2 Junior 50,00( 37,43 37,43: 12,567
Series C-3 Junior 100,00( 81,907 81,907 18,09:
Total 290,00( 217,97: 305,82¢ 72,02%
At December 31, 2006, no Preferred Shares weredsand outstanding.
NOTE D - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are summarized &sifsl(in thousands):
December 31,
2006 2005
Building and building improvements $ 1,391 1,48t
Land and land improvements 161 161
Machinery and equipment 2,18: 2,32¢
Scientific equipment 481 473
Computer hardware and software 203 19€
Office equipment 42 42
Other personal property 50 50
4,511 4,732
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize
(including $36 in 2006 and $53 in 2005 on capialled assets) (3,200 (3,279
1,311 1,461
Less impairment reserve (16€) (120
Total property, plant and equipment, net $ 1,14 $ 1,341

Equipment with a net book value of $111,000 and6$1@0 is recorded under capitalized leases in oategof scientific equipment a
office equipment at December 31, 2006 and 200pectively.

Depreciation and amortization expense for the yeaded December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was appatedy $118,000, $137,0
and $291,000, respectively.

NOTE E - ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses are summarized as follows (instuis):

December 31,




2006 2005

Bonus, payroll, payroll taxes and benefits $ 62 $ 50
Legal fees 19 74
Audit examination and tax preparation fees 70 65
Franchise taxes 15 20
Property taxes 52 52
Clinical, regulatory, trademarks, and patent cainsylfees 60 78
Directors fees - 2
Other fees and services 50 -

$ 326 $ 341

F-16




NOTE F - NOTES PAYABLE

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, notes payable dedsid the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2006 2005

Senior secured convertible notes payable (a):
Face value $ 7,84t $ 2,55(
Debt discount (849 R
7,00t 2,55(
Conversion feature value 16,75( -
$ 23,75 $ 2,55(
Secured term note payable (b) $ 5000 $ 5,00(
Capital lease obligations $ 32 $ 63

(a) Convertible Notes Payable

Pursuant to a series of loan agreements betwee@dhwany, the VC Investors and certain other studdehs of the Company dati
from June 2005 to January 2008all as amended through November 2006, the Compasybbrrowed $7,848,000 as of Decembe
2006 and an additional $896,000 in January anduaepr 2007 (the “Bridge Loans"The proceeds from the Bridge Loans have bee
continue to be used by the Company to develop visrgion® Technology and fund related operating expenses.Briuge Loans cari
an interest rate of 10%, payable quarterly whialrspant to the November 2006 amendment, is payablae Companyg option, witl
shares of its Common Stock. The Bridge Loans, anded, mature on March 31, 2007.

The Bridge Loans are secured by a lien on all efGompanys assets, senior in right to all other Company libegness and restrict
ability to issue any shares of the Companstrrently authorized Series A, B or C convertiiieferred stock without the prior conser
the bridge lenders, and grants the bridge lendesnpptive rights relating to the issuance of then@any’s Series A, B and C convertil
preferred stock. The Bridge Loans contain crossuefprovisions with the 2004 Note (described béland each of the outstand
Bridge Loans. The Bridge Loans also contain noraral customary affirmative and negative covenantduding restrictions on tl
Company’s ability to incur additional debt or grarty lien on the Company’assets or the assets of its subsidiary, suljecertair
permitted exclusions. Additionally, the Bridge Neteequire immediate prepayment upon a qualifyinqioon stock equity or de
financing or any sale, transfer license or simalaangement pursuant to which the Company sedlsnéies or otherwise grant rights in
material portion of the Comparsyintellectual property to any third party, provddinat the consummation of any such transactionlts
in certain minimum amounts of cash proceeds t@hmpany, net of all costs and expenses.

Through August 2006, the terms of the Bridge Loditsnot include any conversion provisions. An AugR806 amendment adde
conversion feature which allowed, at the lendepgtiam, the Bridge Loans to be converted into thenfanys Common Stock upor
qualifying equity financing at a conversion priagual to the per share price implicit in such eqfiitancing. The Company did not ass
any value to the new conversion feature as it didpnovide the lenders with an opportunity to rgeeralue in a conversion in exces:
the face value of the debt regardless of the patesprice of that equity financing.

In November 2006, the conversion feature of thelgiLoans was further amended to allow the bridge lenders to convert the Bric
Loans into the Company’s common stock upon the detiop of a thirdparty equity financing providing gross proceedsti® Compan
in the aggregate amount of at least $8 millionThifd Party Equity Financing”)a Change of Control Transaction or upon the ma
date of the Bridge Loans (each a “Triggering Eventfpon the occurrence of a Triggering Event, the deidenders may conv
$2,000,000 (as of February 2007) of Bridge Loams the Company common stock at a conversion price equal to i&he case of tt
completion of a Third Party Equity Financing, tlesder of (i) 80% of the average closing bid an@dgkices of the Comparsycommo
stock for the twenty trading days immediately pding the public announcement of the Third Partyebter Financing, (ii) the avere
price of the securities sold by the Company in slicind Party Equity Financing, and (iii) $0.44 drare, and (B) in the case of a Che
of Control Transaction or upon the maturity datehaf Bridge Loans, the lesser of (i) 80% of therage closing bid and asked price
the Registrans common stock for the twenty trading days immedijapreceding the public announcement of the Chafg€ontro



Transaction or the maturity date, as applicablel, @) $0.44 per share. In addition, upon a TrigggrEvent, the bridge lenders n
convert $2.55 million of Bridge Loans into the Campg's common stock at a conversion price of $0620share, $2.3 million of Brid
Loans at a conversion price of $0.225 per sharebartb4 million of Bridge Loans at a conversiorcprof $0.25 per share. Under cur
accounting guidance, certain provisions of the adedrconversion feature required the Company toragpéhe value of the convers
feature from the debt and record such value aparat liability which must be marked-to-markettebalance sheet date.
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The November and December 2006 issuances of Biigdgas for an aggregate face value of $1,104,00Quded this amends
conversion feature which the Company valued atggremate of $1,034,000. This value was recorded Bability with an offsettin
$1,025,000 debt discount (which will be amortizegrothe term of the Bridge Loans) and $9,000 afasge loss. However, as the ¢
was issued to shareholders who control the Comghisyloss was recorded as a non-cash deemed divid¢her than effecting net loss.

The November 2006 amendment of the conversion fieatn all of the then outstanding Bridge Loans,pted with the requirements
separate the value of the conversion feature frardebt, required the Company to record the valtleeoamended conversion feature
that outstanding debt as a liability and a losstlom modification of debt. The Company assigned laevaf $19,951,000 to the
conversion features and reflected the modificakims as a non-cash deemed dividend. While the ggtgenoncash deemed dividend
$19,960,000 did not impact reported net loss, ésdeave an impact on loss per common share.

Upon revaluing the aggregate conversion featureallooutstanding Bridge Loans as of December 3062the Company recorded
resulting decrease in value as a $4,235,000 gaie decrease in the Compasgommon stock trading price from November 200¢c@
end resulted in the decrease in the value of thearsion liability.

To compute the estimated value of the conversiatufes, the Company used the Black-Scholes otitng model with the followin
assumptions:

November
Amendment December
Date 31, 2006
Company stock price $ 0.87 $ 0.7¢
Exercise price (D] (D]
Expected dividend 0.C% 0.C%
Risk -free interest rate 5.C% 5.C%
Expected volatility 85.(% 88.8%
Contracted term 4 month: 3 month:

(1) The exercise price used to estimate fair valas set to equal the fixed conversion price fohaafdhe respective traunches of Bri
Loans. While the conversion terms do provide fdneotthan fixed conversion rates under certain oistances, management
determined that the stated fixed rates (i.e., $080225, $0.25 and $0.44) will most likely be tlwsvest rate under any of t
circumstances and the lender would therefore stiatfixed rate.

(b) Secured Term Note Payable

The Company was a party to a certain loan agreemi#imiVatson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Watson") parguo which Watson made te
loans to the Company (the "Watson Term Loan Agreeihén the aggregate principal amount of $21.4lionl as evidenced by tv
promissory notes (the "Watson Notes"). It was ad@mn to the completion of the 2004 Debenture @ffg that simultaneous with t
closing of the 2004 Purchase Agreement, the Comphaly have paid Watson the sum of approximatel $4illion (which amount we
funded from the proceeds of the 2004 Debentureridffeand conveyed to Watson certain Company agsetsnsideration for Watsol
forgiveness of approximately $16.4 million of indetiness under the Watson Notes, resulting in ad%billion gain for the Company. /
part of such transaction, the Watson Notes werendatbto extend the maturity date of such notes farnch 31, 2006 to June 30, 20
to provide for satisfaction of future interest pants under the Watson Notes in the form of the Gomis Common Stock, to reduce
principal amount of the Watson Notes from $21.4liorilto $5.0 million, and to provide for the forbbeace from the exercise of rig
and remedies upon the occurrence of certain ewefntiefault under the Watson Notes (the Watson Natkeso amended, the "2(
Note"). Simultaneous with the issuance of the 2R0te, each of Care Capital, Essex Woodland HeadthtMes, Galen Partners and
other investors in the 2004 Debentures as of Fepri@, 2004 (collectively, the "Watson Note Puraa¥) purchased the 2004 N
from Watson in consideration for a payment to Wiatsb$1.0 million.

The 2004 Note in the principal amount of $5.0 nilli as purchased by the Watson Note Purchasesscised by a lien on all of t
Company's and its subsidiaries' assets, carriesating rate of interest equal to the prime ratespt.5% and matures on June 30, 2
The carrying interest rate at December 31, 200612a85%.The 2004 Note contains cross default provisionk wéch of the outstandi
Bridge Loans.
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NOTE G - COMMON STOCK WARRANTS

At December 31, 2006, the Company had outstandingnmon stock purchase warrants exercisable for greggte of 16,331,000 sha
of common stock. Of such warrants, 5,194,00@&re issued in connection with the issuance ofgaribans and financing commitme
from 2000 through 2003, 10,701,000 were issued &is®h Pharmaceuticals in connection with their exgient to amend the Wats
Loan at December 20, 2002, and 436,000 (after gieffect to the dilution adjustment described bglaere issued in 2003 as part of
settlement terms with a former executive officettid Company. In March 2006, warrants to purch&&0D0 shares of common st
were exercised at an exercise price of $0.48 paresim a cashless exercise transaction resultinhanissuance of 19,000 share
common stock. In May 2006, warrants to purchasé(lshares of common stock were exercised at acisgerice of $0.47 per shi
in a cashless exercise transaction resulting insguance of 5,000 shares of common stock. In AuB6, the warrant issued in 200:
part of the settlement with a former Company emgéowas increased by 286,000 warrants as resuhitpflidution provision of suc
warrant resulting in a $142,000 stock compensatitarge classified as other expense in the stateafesperations. At December !
2006, outstanding common stock purchase warran?d @000, 154,000 and 15,867,000 will expire ifxareised during the years 20
2008 and years thereafter, respectively, with egisted average remaining term of 5.4 years. Theceseeprices of the warrants rai
from $0.12 to $0.66 per share, with a weighted ayeprice of $0.33.

As a result of the November 2006 amendment to tidgB Loans, a $12,948,000 liability and correspogdeduction in additional paid-
in capital, for the common stock purchase warravas recorded. The mark to market fair value adjestsito the warrant liabili
resulted in a $2,164,000 gain recorded in tiegdarter 2006. Future period fair value adjustmémtthe warrant liability could result
further gains or losses. The Company estimateavreants’ fair value using the Black - Scholes op{pricing model with the followin
significant expected assumptions:

November

Amendment Date December 31, 2006
Company stock price $0.87 $0.74
Exercise price $0.12-$0.66 $0.12-$0.66
Expected dividend 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rate 4.5% - 5.0% 4.7% - 5.0%
Expected volatility 79.8% - 145.9% 48.4% - 143.5%
Weighted -average volatility 127.4% 127.7%
Contractual term 38 days - 5.4 years 38 days - 5.4 years

NOTE H - INCOME TAXES

Reconciliations between the statutory federal inedax rate and the Company's effective incomea#sxwere as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Amount % Amount % Amount %
Federal statutory rate $ (2,029 (34.0 % (4,105 (34.0 % (23,799 (34.0
State taxes, net of Federal effect (535) (9.0) (609) (5.0) 179 (0.3)
Research and experimental tax credit (12¢€) (2.2) (12%) (2.0 (131) (0.2
Other 26 0.5 39 0.3 (82 0.9
Impact of nortaxable items
Non-deductible financing costs 32C 54 - - 24,64 35.2
Conversion feature fair value change (1,440 (24.7) - - - -
Debt discount amortization 62 1.C - - - -
Warrant fair value change (73€) (12.9 - - - -
Debt forgiveness - - - - (4,307%) (6.2)
Federal tax carryback refund - - - - (122) (0.2

Department of Justice settlement - . . s (137) (0.2




(4,460 (74.7) (4,800 (39.9) (4,109 (5.9
Change in valuation allowance 4,46( 74.7 4,80( 39.7 4,10¢ 5.0

Recorded tax benefit $ - - $ = - B - -
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The Company has gross Federal, state, and cityatipgrloss carryforwards aggregating $141.2 milli§d01.0 million, and $46
million, expiring during the years 2009 through 80Zhe tax loss carryforwards of the Company aadiithsidiaries may be subjec
limitation by Section 382 of the Internal Revenued€ with respect to the amount utilizable each .y&his limitation reduces tl
Company's ability to utilize net operating lossrgirwards included above each year. The amountheflimitation has not be
quantified by the Company.

The temporary differences that give rise to defetex assets and liabilities as of December 3haiffellows (in thousands):

December 31,

2006 2005
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss - federal $ 48,02¢ $ 46,12¢
Net operating loss - state/city 7,831 7,59¢
Research and experimental tax credit 382 25€
Charitable contributions 2 62
Stock compensation 5,497 3,32¢
Warrant compensation 56 -
Accrued expenses 15 15
Accrued shutdown costs 38 47
Debt issue costs 7 11
Asset reserves 28 -
Gross deferred tax assets 61,88¢ 57,43¢
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation (25) (36)
Net deferred tax assets before valuation allow: 61,86: 57,40:
Valuation allowance (61,867 (57,407
Net deferred tax asse $ - 9 -

NOTE | - EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

1. 401(k) and Profit-sharing Plan

Effective October 1, 1998, the Company establishetD1(k) and Profit-Sharing Plan (the “Plarfi¢y all employees other than thi
covered under collective bargaining agreementgjitiiéi employees may elect to make a basic contabudf up to 15% of their annt
earnings. The Plan provides that the Company cdce rdescretionary matching contributions equal t8626f the first 6% of employt
contributions for an aggregate employee contributdd 1.5%, along with a discretionary proditaring contribution. The Compe
incurred neither matching nor profit -sharing cdmition expense under the Plan in 2006, 2005 04200

2. Stock Option Plans

1995 Stock Option Plan

In September 1995, the stockholders of the Compgpyoved the adoption of a stock option and rdsttistock purchase plan for
employees and noemployee directors (the "1995 Option Plan"). In M2B05, the 1995 Stock Option Plan expired and ¢meaining
unissued shares allocated to the plan were teradnatt December 31, 2006, incentive stock optiangurchase 262,510 shares and non:
qualified options to purchase 116,390 shares, pusly granted under the 1995 Stock Option Plananmerautstanding. The average
share exercise price for these 378,900 outstarafitigns under the 1995 Stock Option Plan at Dece®bge2006 is $1.57.
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1998 Stock Option Plan

In June 1998, the stockholders of the Company agprthe adoption of a stock option plan for its éayees and noemployee directo
(as amended to date, the "1998 Option Plan"). ®88 Dption Plan provides for the granting of (ingaalified options to purchase
Company's common stock at a price determined byCtrapanys Stock Option Committee (effective second quat6fr4, the duties
the Company’s Stock Option Committee was assigoettié Company Compensation Committee), and (ii) incentive stopkons t
purchase the Company's common stock at not leasthieafair market value on the date of the optiamg In June 2002, the sharehols
of the Company approved a resolution to increasetdtal number of shares which may be sold pursteanptions and rights grant
under the 1998 Option Plan to 8,100,000. In Au@@§4, the shareholders of the Company approvedaiutéon to increase this amo
to 20,000,000. No option can be granted under 888 Dption Plan after April 2008 and no option t@noutstanding for more than
years after its grant. At December 31, 2006, ingenstock options to purchase 869,826 shares anehjualified options to purcha
17,746,269 shares remain outstanding and 926,666nspwere available for grant under the 1998 Qp#tan. The average per st
exercise price for these 18,616,095 outstandingeptunder the 1998 Stock Option Plan at DecemteRB06 is $0.23, with vesti
requirements generally of 4 years.

A summary of the Company's stock option plans d3esfember 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, and for thesytkan ended consisted of the

following:
Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Number of Average Number of Average Number of Average
Shares (000’s) Exercise Price  Shares (000's)  Exercise Price  Shares (000’s)  Exercise Price
Outstanding, beginning 19,755 $ 0.27 17,49¢ $ 0.44 3,52t $ 1.8¢
Granted - - 4,00( 0.1z 14,47 0.1z
Exercised (400) 0.2t (35) 0.1z - -
Forfeited or expired (360) 1.04 (1,709 1.68 (501) 1.8%
Outstanding, ending 18,99 $ 0.2€ 19,758 $ 0.27 17,49¢ $ 0.44
Options exercisable, end of year 18,37 $ 0.2€ 15,69¢ $ 0.31 9,55¢ $ 0.6€

The following table summarizes information abowicktoptions outstanding at December 31, 2006:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Remaining Weighted Weighted
Number of Contractual Average Number of Average
Range of Exercise Prices Shares (000’s) Life (Years) Exercise Price  Shares (000's)  Exercise Price
$0.12 to $1.00 17,69 76z $ 0.14 17,072 $ 0.14
$1.01 to $2.00 71C 3.0€ 141 71C 141
$2.01 to $2.50 591 1.84 2.3¢€ 591 2.3¢
Total 18,99t 727 $ 0.2€ 18,37 $ 0.2€

The following table summarizes information aboutwested stock options outstanding:

Year Ended December 31

2006
Weighted
Number of Average
Shares Not Fair
Exercisable (000’s) Value

Outstanding, beginning 4,057 $ 0.31



Granted - -

Vested (3,43 0.31
Forfeited or expired

Outstanding, ending 622 $ 0.31
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The Company estimated the option’s fair value endate of grant using the Black - Scholes optidaipy model. BlackScholes utilize
assumptions related to volatility, the rike interest rate, the dividend yield (which iswrsed to be zero, as the Company has no
any cash dividends) and employee exercise behdvimected volatilities utilized in the Blackeholes model are based on the histc
volatility of the Company’s common stock price. Tiigk-free interest rate is derived from the U.S. Treastield curve in effect at t
time of grant. The expected life of the grantsasivkd from historical factors. The fair value b&t2004 and 2005 option grants are b
amortized using a graded vesting method. This ntetieats the award as if the grant was a seriasvafds rather than a single award
attributes a higher percentage of the reportedviine to the earlier years than to the later yeathe service period because the ¢
years of service are part of the vesting perioddtar awards in the series.

2005 2004
Expected dividend 0.C% 0.C%
Risk-free interest rate 4.5% 2.4% -4.€%
Expected volatility 12C(% 73% -87%
Weighted -average volatility 12C(% 87%
Expected term 4 year 2 -5year
Weighted -average grant date fair value $ 0.4t $ 0.2t

As of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the agtgeguinsic value of the option awards outstanding exercisable was $10,253,(
$1,971,000 and $1,330,000, respectively. In additthbe aggregate intrinsic value of option awarder@sed during the years eni
December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $178,000 and $13@88ectively. The total remaining unrecognizeshpensation cost related to
unvested option awards amounted to $42,000 at Deeefi, 2006 and is expected to be recognized theesixteen month weight
average remaining requisite service period of thvested option awards. The total fair value ofdp&on awards that vested during
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 \2¢3805000, $1,067,000 and $578,000, respectivélg. Gompany recognized stock-
based compensation from the option awards of $862$2,198,000 and $2,007,000, during the yearsdfecember 31, 2006, 2(
and 2004, respectively. As discussed in Note H)@A valuation reserve has been recorded againsdhepanys deferred tax asse
which includes the related gross tax benefits of8000 and $13,000 recorded in calendar years 06 20id 2005, respectively,
allowable deductions arising from the exercisemf qualified stock options.

3. Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan

On December 22, 2005, the Board of Directors apmdihe Company’s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit AwaehRthe “2005 RSU Plaj”
for its employees and non-employee directors. Atiiésd Stock Unit (“RSU”)represents the contingent obligation of the Compa
deliver a share of its common stock to the holdéhe RSU on a distribution date. RSUs for up tandlion shares of common stock .
authorized for issuance under the 2005 RSU Plaa.dmpany believed that the 2005 RSU Plan did equaire shareholder approy
Nevertheless, the Company’s shareholders ratified005 RSU Plan at its December, 2006 Annual 8b#ters’ Meeting.

The RSU Plan is administered by the ComparBtard of Directors or a Committee appointed lgyBloard of Directors. RSUs gran
under the 2005 RSU Plan vest on a schedule detednfiy the Board of Directors or such Committeeeddasth in a restricted stock u
award agreement. Unless otherwise set forth in swedrd agreement, the RSUs fully vest upon a chamgentrol (as defined in tl
2005 RSU Plan) of the Company or upon terminatibaroemployees employment with the Company without cause or tdugeath ¢
disability, and in the case of a non-employee dinesuch persos’death or disability or if such person is not reinated as a direct
(other than for “cause” or refusal to stand foreteetion) or is not elected by the Compangtockholders, if nominated. Vesting of
RSU entitles the holder thereof to receive a sbammmon stock of the Company on a distributiotedafter payment of the $0.01
value per share).

Absent a change of control, of@irth of vested shares of common stock underlgndRSU award will be distributed (after paymer
$0.01 par value per share) on January 1 of ea@®df, 2012, 2013 and 2014. If a change in conttous (whether prior to or af
2011), the vested shares underlying the RSU awdtdevdistributed at or about the time of the aparin control. No dividends acct
on the shares underlying the RSUs prior to issubgdbe Company. The recipients of RSU awards me¢de employees or directors
the Company on a distribution date. RSUs may gdlgemat be transferred, except recipients of RSUsyrdesignate beneficiaries
inherit their RSU’s upon their death.
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In December 2005, 27,500,000 RSUs were granteaet@€bmpanys employees. In February 2006, an aggregate 0000 RSUs we!
granted to the Compars/two independent directors. Of the RSUs grantethte, approximately one third vested upon gradtthe othe
two thirds will vest on a straighine monthly basis through December 2007. Durin@&0,500,000 RSU's became vested. As sui
the RSU awards granted, 19,667,000 and 9,167,008 wested as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, résplgcand 9,833,000 al
18,333,000 were nonvested as of December 31, 20D@@05, respectively. The weighted average fdirevaf both RSU grants is $0.
per share.

The stock-based compensation cost to be incurréeleoRSUs is the RSU'’s fair value, the market patthe Companys common stoc
on the date of grant, less its exercise cost. @ltevhlue of the RSU grants in 2006 and 2005 wa&0#®0 and $9,724,000, respectiv
The fair value of the 2006 RSU grant was entirelgemsed on the grant date as the grant was mageffarmance of past service. -
fair value of the 2005 RSU grant is being amortizsthg a graded vesting method. This method tteatsaward as if the grant wa
series of awards rather than a single award andwts a higher percentage of the reported fdirevtn the earlier years than to the |
years of the service period because the early yafaservice are part of the vesting period for da®ards in the series. The t
remaining unrecognized compensation cost relatethéounvested RSU awards amounted to $879,000 e¢riteer 31, 2006 and
expected to be recognized over the next 12 mottiesyeighted average remaining requisite servicogef the unvested RSU awe
The Company recognized compensation cost from 8l RBwards of $5,264,000 and $4,261,000, during/éfzes ended December
2006 and 2005, respectively. No related tax benefdre recorded in calendar year 2006 and 200%f Ascember 31, 2006 and 20
the aggregate intrinsic value of the RSU awardstaatling and vested was $14,357,000 and $2,610r88pectively. As discuss
above, the RSU awards are distributable only uperotcurrence of certain events or beginning Jgnlja2011.

NOTE J - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Employment Contracts

Andrew D. Reddick is employed pursuant to an Emmient Agreement effective as of August 26, 2003raended, which provides tl
Mr. Reddick will serve as the Company's Chief EximeuOfficer and President for a term expiring Daber 31, 2007. The term of
Employment Agreement provides for automatic oney€Br renewals in the absence of written notiddeéocontrary from the Company
Mr. Reddick at least ninety (90) days prior to #wpiration of the initial term or any subsequenmewal period. The Employme
Agreement provides for an annual base salary 0® $80 plus the payment of annual bonus of up tolmmalred percent (100%) of I
Reddick's base salary based on the achievementbftargets, conditions, or parameters as may theose time to time by the Board
Directors or the Compensation Committee of the BazrDirectors. For the Comparsy2006 fiscal year, the Employment Agreer
provides for a cash bonus equal to 100% of Mr. Redklthen current base salary (the “2006 Cash BYnupon the Compang’receip
of aggregate proceeds of at least $15.0 millioroobefore March 31, 2007 from an offering of then@pany’s equity securities and,
from license fees or milestone payments from tpiadty licensing or similar transactions (subjecttte payment of a proata portion ¢
the 2006 Cash Bonus provided the Company receiggeegate gross proceeds from such transactions lebst $11.0 million on |
before March 31, 2007). The Employment Agreemesd grovides for the Comparsygrant of stock options and restricted stock uo
Mr. Reddick. The Employment Agreement contains ddad termination provisions, including upon dedikability, for Cause, for Got
Reason and without Cause, which in certain casesgidas for severance payments equal to one yesafary and other terminat
benefits

Ron J. Spivey, Ph.D., is employed pursuant to apl&pment Agreement effective as of April 5, 2004,aanended, which provides t
Dr. Spivey will serve as the Company's Senior Mresident and Chief Scientific Officer for term &y December 31, 2007 at
annual base salary of $260,000 plus the paymeant ahnual bonus of up to one hundred percent (1@®®3). Spivey's base salary.
Peter A. Clemens is employed pursuant to an EmptoyrAgreement effective as of March 10, 1998, asrated, which provides tt
Mr. Clemens will serve as the Company's Senior Hoesident and Chief Financial Officer for a tempieng December 31, 2007 at
annual base salary of $180,000 plus the paymesm ahnual bonus of up to one hundred percent (1@0%dy. Clemens base salary.
The terms of the Employment Agreements with Drv8piand Mr. Clemens are similar to those of Mr. ekl

The term of the Employment Agreements with eachMes$srs. Reddick, Spivey and Clemens provides ftoraatic one (1) year renew

in the absence of written notice to the contraoyrfithe Company or such executive at least nindly ys prior to the expiration.
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NOTE K - QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Selected quarterly consolidated financial datda@as below (in thousands, except per share data):

Three Month Period Ended

Mar. 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31
Calendar Year 2006:
Net product revenues $ - % - $ - $ =
Loss from operations (3,929 (2,34)) (2,667) (1,897
Net (loss) income (4,15%) (2,61%) (3,09%) 3,90(
Loss per common share (after deemed dividend) -
basic and diluted (Note A. 14) $ (0.00) $ (0.00) $ (0.00) $ (0.04)
Mar. 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31
Calendar Year 2005:
Net product revenues $ - % - $ - $ =
Loss from operations (1,90¢) (1,26€) (1,479 (6,919
Net loss (1,94¢) (1,382 (1,635 (7,110
Loss per common share - basic and diluted $ (0.09 $ (0.06) $ (0.07) $ (0.04)

Effective November 10, 2005, all of the issued antstanding preferred shares of the Company wemraiically and mandatorily conver
into an aggregate of approximately 305.4 milliomrgls of the Company’Common Stock, $.01 par value per share in acnoedwith thi
terms of the Companyg’ Restated Certification of Incorporation (see NB8)e After giving effect to the conversion, the Gmany had a
aggregate of approximately 329.0 million share<Cofnmon Stock issued and outstanding. TH& @uarter 2005 loss per common sl
amount of ($.04) reflects the increased weightegtaye common shares outstanding due to the preéfetogk conversion during the™
Quarter 2005. The impact of the conversion cause005 quarterly loss per share amounts not taupdd and equal the 2005 annual
per share amount.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

The following exhibits are included as a part a6 thnnual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated hetsy reference.

E xhibit
N
umber Exhibit Description
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporabgdreference to Appendix C to the Registrant'sxPi®tatement filed on July

2004).

3.2 Restated By-Laws (incorporated by reference to lBkl8.3 to the Registrant's Annual Report FormKl@er the year ende
December 31, 1998 (the "1998 Form 10-K")).

10.1 Registrants 1995 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Purchéeme (thcorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 te Registrant
Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 339833

Registrant’s 1998 Stock Option Plan, as amendeambijiorated by reference to Appendix C to the Remists Proxy Stateme

10.2 filed on November 16, 2006).

10.3  Registrant’'s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plas,amended (incorporated by reference to Appebdig the Registrang’



10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

Proxy Statement filed on November 16, 2006).

Loan Agreement dated March 29, 2000 between thesRagt and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“WPIifc¢rporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.57 to the Registrant's F8fkdated March 29, 2000 (the "March 2000 8-K")).+

Amendment to Loan Agreement dated March 31, 200@den the Registrant and WPI (incorporated by ezfee to Exhibit 10.£
to the March 2000 8-K).

Secured Promissory Note in the principal amoun$bf,500,000 issued by the Registrant, as the makdavor of WPI date
March 31, 2000 (incorporated by reference to ExHibi59 to the March 2000 8-K).

Watson Security Agreement dated March 29, 2000 detvthe Registrant and WPI (incorporated by referea Exhibit 10.60 f
the March 2000 8-K).

Stock Pledge Agreement dated March 29, 2000 bettveeRegistrant and WPI (incorporated by referdndeéxhibit 10.61 to th
March 2000 8-K).

Watson Guarantee dated March 29, 2000 between KHénubaand Halsey Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as theagbars, in favor of WF
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.62 toMmerch 2000 8-K).

Watson's Guarantors Security Agreement dated MaB;h2000 between Halsey Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Blotix. and WF
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.63 toMmerch 2000 8-K).

Subordination Agreement dated March 29, 2000 antbagRegistrant, WPI and the holders of the Regisgautstanding 5
convertible debentures due March 10, 2003. (inaaed by reference to Exhibit 10.64 to the MarcB@8-K).+

Real Estate Mortgage dated March 29, 2000 betweetb#l Inc. and WPI (incorporated by reference thiliik10.65 to the Marc
2000 8-K).

Subordination Agreement among Houba, Inc., GalerinBes, 1ll, L.P. (“GPIII"), Oracle Strategic Partners, L.P. and
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.66 to Merch 2000 8-K).

Second Amendment to Loan Agreement dated DecemBgerr@02, between the Registrant and WPI, amendigg Lioar
Agreement dated March 29, 2000 (incorporated bgregfce to Exhibit 10.11 to the FormK8filed December 27, 2002 (t
December 2002 Form 8-K"))

Amended and Restated Secured Promissory Note dxedmber 20, 2002, issued by the Registrant inrfafoVPI in the
principal amount $17,500,000 (incorporated by ifee to Exhibit 10.12 to the December 2002 Form).8-K

Watson Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated Dece?@he&002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibitl4to the Decemb
2002 Form 8-K).

Registration Rights Agreement dated December 202 Zihcorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15He December 2002 Fo
8-K).

Warrant Recapitalization Agreement dated DecemBe2@02 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1ad $he December 20
Form 8-K).

Debenture Conversion Agreement dated as of Febfa?p04 among the Registrant, Care Capital Investmll, L.P. (“Care),
Essex Woodlands Health Venture V, L.P. (“EssexliGand others (incorporated by reference to ExHib.2 of the Form &
filed February 10, 2004 (the “February 2004 Fortd"®-




E xhibit

N
umber Exhibit Description

10.20 Amended and Restated Voting Agreement dated assbfuBry 6, 2004 among the Registrant, Care, ESSEXll and other
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of tlediiary 2004 Form 8-K).

10.21 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreedrert as of February 6, 2004 among the RegistWat, Care, Essex, GP
and others (incorporated by reference to Exhibié 9 the February 2004 Form 8-K).

10.22 Umbrella Agreement dated as of February 6, 2004nantloe Registrant, WPI, Care, Essex, GPIIl andother signatories there
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of Bedruary 2004 Form 8-K).

10.23 Third Amendment to Loan Agreement dated as of Fatyré, 2004 among the Registrant and WPI (incotpdray reference
Exhibit 10.13 of the February 2004 Form 8-K).

10.24 Amended and Restated Promissory Note in the p@ha@mount of $5,000,000 issued by the Registranfayor of Watso
Pharmaceuticals (incorporated by reference to Hxhib14 of the February 2004 Form 8-K).

10.25 Noteholders Agreement dated as of February 6, 208dng the Registrant, Care, Essex, GPIll and otliacerporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.16 of the February 20048¢K).

10.26 Executive Employment Agreement dated as of Aug@st2D03 between the Registrant and Andrew D. Ré&d(fiReddick”)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to tleenr 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004 ({hee¢ 2004 10-Q")).

10.27 Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement betwtbenRegistrant and Reddick, dated May 27, 200dofporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the June 2004 10-Q).

10.28 Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreerbetween the Registrant and Reddick, dated May @35 .2

10.29 Third Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemestwieen the Registrant and Reddick, dated DecemBer2@0:
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tleenfr 8-K filed December 23, 2005 (the “December 2B868m 8-K")).

10.30 Executive Employment Agreement dated as of Apr2@)4 between the Registrant and Ron J. Spiveyijiacated by referen
to Exhibit 10.3 to the June 2004 10-Q).

10.31 Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement datedenber 22, 2005 between Registrant and Ron Jeysfincorporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the December 200&8-K).

10.32 Employment Agreement dated as of March 10, 1998/t the Registrant and Peter Clemens (“Clememstpiporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the 1997 Form 10-K).

10.33 First Amendment to Employment Agreement made akiné 28, 2000 between the Registrant and Clemens

10.34 Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreenimitveen Registrant and Clemens, dated as of JariyaB00!
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thegRtrant's Form 8-K dated January 28, 2005).

10.35 Third Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemeaated December 22, 2005 between Registrant and @Gkegirecorporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the December 200&18-K).

10.36 Loan Agreement dated June 22, 2005 (the “June 20@5 Agreement’petween the Registrant, Essex, Care, GPIIl, andrs
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tleen 8-K dated June 22, 2005 (the “June 2005 Foifi)R-

10.37 Subordination Agreement dated June 22, 2005 betwieenRegistrant, Essex, Care, GPIIl and the otlgmatories there
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of thee)2005 Form 8-K).

10.38 Form of Company General Security Agreement withpees to the June 2005 Loan Agreement, the Septe/?®@5 Loal



10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

10.43

Agreement, the November 2005 Loan Agreement andahaary 2006 Loan Agreement (the “Loan Agreemgiitstorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the June 2005 Form)3-K

Form of Guaranty of Axiom Pharmaceutical CorpomatftAxiom”) related to the Loan Agreements (other than the algr200¢
Loan Agreement) (incorporated by reference to BxAi.5 of the June 2005 Form 8-K).

Form of Guaranty of Acura Pharmaceutical Technasginc. (“APT")related to the Loan Agreements (incorporated bgresfc
to Exhibit 10.6 of the June 2005 Form 8-K).

Form of Guarantors Security Agreement among Axitira, Registrant, and GPIIl, as Agent, with respedht Loan Agreemer
(other than the January 2006 Loan Agreement) (paaited by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the Jun@s2Porm 8-K).

Form of Stock Pledge Agreement by and between Regisand GPIll, as Agent, with respect to the Lodgreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of thee)2005 Form 8-K).

Loan Agreement dated September 16, 2005 (the “Bdyae2005 Loan Agreementbetween the Registrant, Essex, Care, C
and others (incorporated by reference to Exhibill 16 the Form 8-K dated September 16, 2005 (thept&Snber 2005 Form 8-

K").




E xhibit

N
umber Exhibit Description

10.44 Subordination Agreement dated September 16, 2088eke the Registrant, Essex Health Venture V, LCRre, GPIIl, and t
other signatories thereto (incorporated by refezdndExhibit 10.3 of the September 2005 Form 8-K).

10.45 Joinderand Amendment to Amended and Restated Voting Ageeérdated November 9, 2005 between the RegistG@E
Holdings, Essex, Care, GPIIl and others (the “Noven2005 Loan Agreement”incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
Registrant's Form 8-K dated November 9, 2005 (Mte@/ember 2005 Form 8-K")).

10.46 Loan Agreement dated November 9, 2005 between #ugsRant, Essex, Care, GPIIl, Galen Partners nat@nal Ill, L.P., an
others (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1G.the November 2005 Form 8-K).

10.47 Subordination Agreement dated November 9, 2005 dmtvthe Registrant, Essex, Care, GPIIl, and ther atiynatories there
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of thevBimber 2005 Form 8-K).

10.48 Loan Agreement among the Registrant Essex, Carl &t others dated January 31, 2006 (the “JanR@66 Loan Agreement”
(incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filedJamuary 31, 2006).

10.49 Form of Secured Promissory Note of the Registralating to January 31, 2006 Loan Agreement

10.50 Subordination Agreement among Essex, Care, GRidl,adhers dated January 31, 2006 (incorporate@fieyence to the Form 8-
filed on January 31, 2006)..

10.51 Guarantor Security Agreement among APT and GP$llAgent, dated January 31, 2006 (incorporated t&yerce to the Form 8-
K filed on January 31, 2006).

10.52 Omnibus Amendment effective as of May 24, 2006 agnthre Registrant and APT and certain lenders amgntlie Loa
Agreements (incorporated by reference to the Foiffiled on May 24, 2006)

10.53 Omnibus Amendment effective as of August 16, 200®rg the Registrant, APT and certain lenders, amgnamong othe
things, the Loan Agreements (incorporated by refezeao the Form 8-K filed on August 16, 2006).

10.54 Omnibus Amendment effective as of September 226 200ong the Registrant, APT and certain lendergnaiing among oth
things, the Loan Agreements (incorporated by refezeo the Form 8-K filed on September 25, 2006).

10.55 Omnibus Amendment effective as of October 20, 2a0®ng the Registrant, APT and certain lenders, dingramong othe
things, the Loan Agreements (incorporated by refezeo the Form 8-K filed on October 20, 2006).

10.56 Omnibus Amendment effective as of November 30, 28@®ng the Registrant and APT and certain lendemgnding amor
other things, the Loan Agreements (incorporatedelfigrence to the Form 8-K filed on December 4, 2006

10.57 Voting Agreement by and between Registrant and GIGHings, LLC dated as of December 22, 2005

10.58 Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to ExHidiof the Registrant’'s Form 10-K filed April 22004).

*21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

*23.1  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriting

*31.1  Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Executi@dficer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 1B8of the Securities Exchange Ac
1934,

*31.2 Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Financfafficer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 1B#l-of the Securities Exchange Ac



1934,

*32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and ChiEfnancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 0,38s adopted pursuant
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Filed or furnished herewith.







EXHIBIT 21
List of Subsidiaries

State or Country of
Company Name Incorporation or Organization Voting % owned by Registrant

Acura Pharmaceutical

[ 0,
Technologies, Inc. Indiana 100%




EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Palatine, lllinois

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referéndbe Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N88-B33172, 333-123615, 3%3288
and 3398356) of our report dated March 13, 2007 relatsthe consolidated financial statements of Acurarfaceuticals, Inc. appearing

the Company’s Annual Report on Form K{er the year ended December 31, 2006. Our regmitains an explanatory paragraph regai
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concer

Chicago, lllinois /s BDO Seidman, LLP

March 13, 200°




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Andrew D. Reddick, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10fidcura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doescaptain any untrue statement of a material facbroit to state a material fe
necessary to make the statements made, in ligthieotircumstances under which such statements meade, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,cther financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1&id internal control over financial reporting floe registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurés wesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slalisire controls and procedures and presentedisnréport our conclusiol
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contrnls procedures, as of the end of the period coveydtis report based on st
evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsanternal control over financial reporting theeticurred during the registrai
most recent fiscal quarter that has materiallycaéf@, or is reasonably likely to materially affette registrant's internal cont
over financial reporting ; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiantefnal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataxammittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equival
functions):

(@ All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal controgiofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize a&port financial information; ar

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registran
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2007

/s/ Andrew D. Reddick

Andrew D. Reddicl
President and Chief Executive Offic




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Peter A. Clemens, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10fidcura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doescaptain any untrue statement of a material facbroit to state a material fe
necessary to make the statements made, in ligthieotircumstances under which such statements meade, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,cther financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1&id internal control over financial reporting floe registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurés wesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slalisire controls and procedures and presentedisnréport our conclusiol
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contrnls procedures, as of the end of the period coveydtis report based on st
evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsanternal control over financial reporting theeticurred during the registrai
most recent fiscal quarter that has materiallycaéf@, or is reasonably likely to materially affette registrant's internal cont
over financial reporting ; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiantefnal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataxammittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equival
functions):

(@ All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal controgiofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize a&port financial information; ar

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registran
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2007

/sl Peter A. Clemer

Peter A. Clemen
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32
CERTIFICATION OF

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Andrew D. Reddick, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of dnbaBegxley Act of 2002, that tt
Annual Report on Form 1K-of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the fiscaliyeaded December 31, 2006 fully complies with gaguirement
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934 and that information contained intsdmnual Report of Form 10K fair
presents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of Acura Phammtéicals, Inc.

March 14, 2007 By: /s/ Andrew D. Reddicl

Andrew D. Reddicl
President anChief Executive Office

I, Peter A. Clemens, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S1850, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of thkeaBasOxley Act of 2002, that tt
Annual Report on Form 1B-of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the fiscaliyeaded December 31, 2006 fully complies with #guirement
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934 and that information contained intsémnual Report of Form 10K fair
presents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of Acura Phameméicals, Inc.

March 14, 2007 By: /s/ Peter A. Clemer

Peter A. Clemen
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




